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sUCCesFUll YeAR 
ON ThE WhOLE
• Global economic growth was slow and in Europe, in particular, the growth was at a standstill.

• Performance of Teleste’s customer business sectors was reasonable.

• On the whole, the year was a success – our business picked up following a quiet start. 

• Fourth-quarter net sales reached record high.

• Full-year net sales remained at the previous year’s level.

• Profi tability improved slightly, while earnings per share improved clearly.

• Video Broadband Solutions’ net sales remained at the previous year’s level, while profi tability

improved signifi cantly. Deliveries of video surveillance systems increased in particular.

• Net sales and profi tability of Network Services declined slightly in the fi rst half of the year due to 

weak demand. Development was positive towards the end of the year. 

• At the beginning of 2014 demand has been weak, but in the long-term this business off ers good 

conditions for profi table growth.

yEAR IN BRIEF
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TelesTe IN BRIeF

Teleste is an international technology com-
pany that develops and off ers video and 
broadband technologies and related servi-
ces. Our supply of technology contributes 
to the convenience and safety of daily 
living. Our core business is video - image 
and data processing, transfer and manage-
ment. Our customer base consists of cable 
and telecom operators, as well as public 
sector.

Our business is divided into two divi-
sions, which are Video and Broadband 
Solutions and Network Services. In both 
areas, we rank among the world’s leading 
companies and technological forerunner.    

Video and Broadband Solutions fo-
cuses on access networks and product 
solutions in video surveillance applications. 
Network Services off ers comprehensive 
services for network design, construction 
and maintenance.

In 2013, Teleste’s net sales totaled 
EUR 193 million, and the company em-
ployed about 1,300 people. Teleste runs 
a worldwide network of offi  ces and more 
than 90% of its sales are generated out-
side Finland.

Th e company is listed on the NASDAQ 
OMX helsinki Ltd. For more information see 
www.teleste.com

Our customer base 

includes

 All 

the major cable operators

sTRONG 

market for 

Video Surveillance
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TELESTE IN BRIEF

GlOBAl COMPANY 
WITh lOCAl PReseNCe

Wide,

MORe 
ThAN 20 
offi  ces’ network, enables 

 close customer relations 

Asia and China 

provide a potential 

GROWTh 
AReA

TELESTE 
CELEBRATES  
60 YeARs

Teleste turned 60 on 22 January 2014. Th e 
company was founded in Turku in 1954 by 
Olavi Ahonen, and on its early stages the 
focus was to obtain solid expertize involv-
ing aerial and audio technology. having 
fi rst secured its position in Finland, Teleste 
started its internationalization in the Nordic 
countries expanding later to Europe break-
ing, fi nally, into the global market. 

Over the years, our customer base has 
expanded and changed, and together with 
its clients Teleste has advanced into new 
business areas. Today, our company is one 

of the world’s leading suppliers of access 
networks, product solutions in video sur-
veillance applications and the related com-
prehensive services.

Regardless of our strong globaliza-
tion, we are still deeply rooted in Finland. 
Teleste’s head offi  ce is located in the Turku 
area, where most of the company’s product 
development and production take place. 

Today, Teleste employs about 1,300 
people and runs a network of offi  ces cover-
ing more than 20 countries. 

Teleste’s strength lies in the wealth of 
know-how gathered over the decades. Th is 
accumulated expertise allows us to provide 
our customers with cutting edge techno-
logical solutions in the business. 

We like to work close to our customers 
and want to understand their overall needs 
while maintaining confi dentiality and eff ec-
tiveness in all our operations.

Our main market is Europe, where we have 
our densest network of offi  ces.

Besides the head offi  ce our biggest of-
fi ces by number of personnel are located 
in Germany, the UK, Poland, Belgium and 
China.
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Our year ended in good spirits. Deliveries 
by both of our business areas succeeded 
excellently and this led to a clear increase 
in net sales during the fourth quarter. The 
fourth quarter ended showing all time high 
net sales. Net sales and operating profit 
for the full year ended up on the level of 
the previous year: net sales equaled EUR 
193 million and operating profit EUR 11 
million. Profit for the financial period, how-
ever, increased to EUR 8 million. This was 
mainly due to tax effects brought about 
by changes carried out in the corporate 
structure in Germany and a shift in busi-
ness priorities between the two countries. 
Earnings per share increased by 22 percent 
to EUR 0.47. Development of profitability 
was particularly positive in video surveil-
lance and on a good level in TV distribution 
business, whereas in network services prof-
itability fell due to the overcapacity early in 
the year. 

Progress in Many sectors
Teleste’s year was filled with different activ-
ities. In April, we acquired the entire share 
capital of the UK based Asheridge and set 
up a joint venture with our Chinese part-
ners.  Asheridge’s expertise in BarrIER tech-
nology improves networks reliability and 
the cost-effectiveness of network services. 
In addition, this acquisition complements 
our existing portfolio in passive products 
and strengthens our position as the leading 
supplier of access networks to European 
cable operators, in particular to those oper-
ating in the UK, Spain and Poland. 

The cooperation agreement signed with 
the Chinese governmental cable operator 
Gansu and the Shanghai OTEC Information 
Technology aims at expanding the sales 
of Teleste’s solutions in China. The joint 
venture, thus created, will also become a 
contract manufacturer of Teleste’s volume 
products.

In September, we received the LEAN 
Act of 2013 Award in recognition of the 
streamlining of our production chain. This 
credit is due to our entire production per-
sonnel, who have been actively involved 
in the long-term development effort. Our 
highly competitive production machinery is 
still being developed according to the prin-
ciples of continuous improvement.

As to development of technology, we 
focused on decentralized network technol-
ogy, and prepared for the introduction of the 
Docsis 3.1 standard in our access network 
products published by the network opera-
tors. This new standard will keep our product 
development busy even in the current year. 

successful Customer Field
Cable operators, being our largest group 
of customers, continued to do well in their 
business. Investments in network con-
struction, modernization and maintenance 
remained at a good level, although the 
abovementioned new standard may have 
delayed these a bit. The market, however, 
was in constant change. Alongside their 
existing services the operators developed 
new products designed to expand their 
customer base. New technologies and solu-

tions, as well as cost-effective maintenance 
of networks were introduced to gain com-
petitive advantage. 

Consolidation among the customer 
base continued in June as Vodafone made 
an offer on Kabel Deutschland. In addition, 
Liberty Global continued their expansion 
through the acquisition of Virgin Media in 
the UK. For the suppliers of products and 
services this emergence in the market of 
ever larger operators requires continuous 
development of competitiveness.

In video surveillance, most of our cus-
tomers operate in the public sector, as the 
sites requiring monitoring are mostly urban 
areas, roads, airports or train and under-
ground stations. Video surveillance allows 
for increasing the safety of such areas in a 
cost-effective manner. In recent years, our 
business has been supported especially by 
the growth in rail traffic. 

Markets Around the World
Our business is global and we seek to grow 
in all markets. For many years, global eco-
nomic growth has been sluggish, and the 
trend has leveled off even in the emerging 
markets. Although the current year sug-
gests a continuation of this slow growth in 
the world economy, in the longer-term we 
see the future of our own field positive and 
the business environment very interesting. 

The digital evolution continues strong, 
and its impact is visible in the market. The 
requirement for cable network capacity is 
expected to double in 18 months. Similarly, 
the increasing requirements for network 
quality keep up our customers’ invest-
ments. Particularly the fast-growing trans-
fer and use of video require higher network 
performance. Meanwhile, the demand for 
services is pushed up by the pressures the 
operators face in terms of costs related to 
the maintenance of their networks. 

enabling Digital evolution
As a partner to its customers, Teleste is 
strongly involved in the promotion of the 
digital evolution. Our goal is to continue to 
grow profitably. Our strong market posi-

sUCCess  
IN MANy FIELDS
For Teleste, 2013 was an eventful and in many ways also a successful year, al-

though the made progress was characterized by seasonal fluctuations in both of 

our business units. Early in the year, sluggishness of the market was a cause for 

concern, but towards end of the year the demand increased and the final quarter 

met our expectations. While our access network product business went accord-

ing to plan, we had anticipated the demand for our services for the early year 

to be clearly greater than the realized. In video surveillance, however, the high 

performance sustained now for a couple of years continued. 
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tion, customer-oriented working method 
and comprehensive offering of products 
and services provide an excellent platform 
to achieve this objective, but a lot of work 
remains to be done.

As for access networks, we focus on 
smarter network solutions that enable 
the improvement of network capacity 
and quality characteristics at a reasonable 
cost. In services we continue to expand 
our offering while enhancing the productiv-
ity. Regarding video surveillance, we see 
the potential for growth particularly in the 
emerging markets and through the expan-
sion of our customer base. 

As to this year, we have already gath-
ered a good momentum and I think that, 
given our good team, we will achieve our 
goal even for the current year. I wish to 
express my thanks to all the people at 
Teleste for your good work. It’s been great 
to experience the enthusiasm and commit-
ment, with which we have moved towards 
our common goals regardless of the mar-
ket volatility. I want to give special thanks 
to our former CFO Erja Saarikoski for her 
long career, now drawn to a close, here 
at Teleste. I wish to thank our customers 
for the interesting joint projects and our 
shareholders for their trust in our work. I 
hope that our successful cooperation will 
continue long into the future.

Jukka Rinnevaara
CEO

The DIGITAl  
eVOlUTION  
CONTINUES STRONG, 
AND ITS IMPACT IS  
VISIBLE IN ThE MARKET

CEO’S REVIEW
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MeGATReNDs
BEhIND STRATEGy

Increasing Use of Video and Data
The amount of content available in the 
form of video or data is huge. People 
consume the content of their choice 
anytime and anywhere. The number of 
different devices used for this is also 
increasing. Computers, tablets and 
smartphones have come to existence 
alongside traditional TV. People’s needs 
and quality requirements are increasing, 
and especially the use of videos on the 
network requires a lot of capacity and 
high quality. Responding to the wishes 
of Internet and TV users requires invest-

Teleste’s most important megatrends are recognizable in everyday life. Video 

and electronic data transfer are increasing and breaking over to new areas as 

people are using more and more video both at work and during leisure time. 

The need for ensuring people’s safety is also growing. The third factor driving 

the market is the new technologies and concepts.

MeGATReND 
Increasing volume of video
and data traffic

TRENDS 
The capacity and quality of
networks are improved 

There will be new players in 
the market and the offering to 
consumers will expand 

MeGATReND
Technology development is fast

TRENDS 
The development of new video and
data transmission technologies  
continues

Consumer devices develop and  
become more diversified

Digital systems are replacing analogue

New business and earning models
will be generated 

MeGATReND 
Growing need to ensure the safety  
of people

TRENDS 
There is a growing demand for reliable,
intelligent and cost-effective surveillance 
solutions 

ments in the network, i.e. more capacity. 
The need for network capacity increases 
two-fold in 18 months already now. By 
2017, video services are anticipated to 
have more users than Facebook or Twitter.

Rapid Development of Technology
Image and data transfer technologies con-
tinue to develop rapidly. New technologies 
enable a better user experience, but they 
are also creating new ways to deploy net-
works. The amount of smart technology in 
the networks is increasing. This is the way 
to enhance the capacity and improve the 

quality experienced by the end customer. 
In the network, smart features are coming 
closer to the user. 

Development of devices continues 
apace. These devices talk to each other 
and with users. Interactivity generates new 
kinds of commercial activity and earning 
models.

ensuring safety by Video surveillance
More than ever, video technology is needed 
to provide a safety net. As the number of 
various threats increases, they are con-
trolled more cost-effectively by means of 
video surveillance. 

Globalization and urbanization are in-
creasing the need for control, yet at the 
same time the focus of such control has 
shifted from the borders of countries to 
the cities.

Fibre-To-The-home 
(FTTh)
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MARKET ENVIRONMENT

  Fibre       Coax

  headend       headend Optics

  Node      Amplifier      Inhouse Equipment

Fibre-To-The-Curb 
(FTTC)

Conventional one-way cable TV network 
has undergone quite a change over the last 
15 years. Operators have increased their 
service offerings by introducing Video-on-
Demand services and high-speed Internet 
connections alongside the traditional linear 
television. These new services require a 
two-way communication network, which is 
furthermore divided into smaller segments 
by means of fibre optic cable connections. 

Such network is split into different ar-
eas in line with the example below. The 

core network connects the operator’s indi-
vidual service areas to each other, and typi-
cally these are different cities. The regional 
network connects all access networks of 
one service area into a single manageable 
entity. The regional network is segmented 
by means of fibre-optic connections into ac-
cess networks so that a single optical node 
serves about 100 to 1,000 households. 

The more versatile a product portfolio 
the operator wants to offer the custom-
ers, the smaller the number of connected 

subscribers per node must be. From 
the viewpoint of the services, the best 
option would be a Fibre-To-The-home 
network (FTTh), but at least for the 
foreseeable future, deployment of a 
comprehensive fibre network is not eco-
nomically feasible. 

For this reason, new innovations are 
expected to arise especially for the ever-
more efficient utilization of the legacy 
house network cabling. 

Fibre-To-The-Building 
(FTTB)

STRUCTURE OF  
A MUlTI seRVICe NeTWORk
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TelesTe’s sTRATeGY  
UP TO 2016
As a leader in its field, Teleste is build-
ing a modern networked society by 
means of its new broadband and video 
solutions. Teleste develops and pro-
vides video and broadband technolo-
gies and services for cable operators 
and telecom companies and the public 
sector. Our core business is video - ima-
ge and data processing, transfer and 
management. 

Teleste’s goal is to be a respected 
partner by its customers and a pre-
ferred employer, and to grow profit-
ably. To achieve these goals, we have 
drawn up a five-point strategy:

strengthening of Our Market  
Position 
Teleste is a well-known player in all of 
its business areas, and it has a particu-
larly strong market position in Europe. 
The company’s area of operation cov-
ers the entire world, and we are looking 
for growth increasingly in the emerging 
markets such as China, India, the Mid-
dle East and South America. Teleste’s 
supply also allows the expansion of its 
customer base from the cable opera-
tors to telecom operators. Teleste will 
build up its market position by intensi-
fying its sales and marketing efforts, 
as well as strengthen its international 
network of partners.

Development of Competitive Offering 
in Access Networks
Building up of network capacity and bring-
ing about qualitative improvements in it 
continue to increase the demand for tech-
nology, and in this business technologies 
are developing fast. Teleste is a pioneer 
as a developer of technology used for ac-
cess networks, and it continues to invest in 
products and services needed by the cus-
tomer field. 

Functionality of networks combining 
conventional coaxial cable and optical fibre 
can be improved by adding intelligent fea-
tures in them. Similarly, we press on with 
the development of new technologies, 
such as Data over Coax, which enables 
high-speed data services through coaxial 
network. 

Innovative headend solutions
As for headends, Teleste focuses com-
pletely on digital solutions.  The most ap-
propriate solutions are developed for each 
market. 

One significant priority is the develop-
ment of the efficient and compact Lumi-
nato product range and the utilization in 
Teleste’s products of BarrIER technology, 
which became possible by the acquisition 
of Asheridge.

Wider Customer Base for Video  
surveillance 
Teleste has a strong position in large cus-
tom-designed multi-site video surveillance 
systems encompassing up to thousands of 
cameras. In the future, Teleste will also in-
vest in multi-site systems, which comprise 
hundreds, but not necessarily thousands 
of cameras. This segment provides good 
growth opportunities, to which Teleste’s 
offering can be adapted by modest invest-
ments. 

Success also requires development 
of video monitoring systems with a more 
wide-ranging field of application. Therefore, 
along with mobile applications our product 
development focuses on the creation of 
software connecting various systems. 

Value-Added services
In addition to our comprehensive offering, 
Teleste’s competitive advantage in services 
is based on our technological know-how, 
installed base, and local presence. The de-
mand for online services is increased by 
the proliferation of outsourcing in the cli-
ent sectors, which in turn is stimulated by 
the tight cost control and the introduction 
of new technology. In its offering, Teleste 
aims to increase the degree of high value-
added services, and especially to develop 
the profitability of operations in Germany. 
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Strategy

goalS

miSSion

sTRATeGY

ValUeS

sTRATeGY

 We continue our strong
investments into the  
development of access  
network products and  
services.

 We focus on developing
ultra high-end video
surveillance solutions
and expand our offering
to high-end solutions.  

 We are close to customer.

 We improve
our performance
and cost efficiency.

 We develop solutions
enabling innovative tV services. 

Be a valued partner for our customers  
and a preferred employer.  

Profitable growth.

 
As the leading
provider in our 
field, we build  
a modern net-
worked society 
with new broad-
band and video 
solutions.

Customer Centricity
respect
reliability
result orientation

We develop and offer video and 
broadband products, services and 
solutions for cable operators and the 
public sector. We make everyday life 
easier, safer and more efficient.

VIsION
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PRODUCT DeVelOPMeNT  
IN NETWORK AND BROADBAND 
TEChNOLOGy

For Teleste’s entire history, technical prod-
uct and system innovations have provided 
the foundation of the company’s prod-
uct business. The company has made a 
long-term investment of at least 10% of 
the product business annual net sales on 
R&D, which has enabled the development 
of Teleste’s wide-ranging and competitive 
product portfolio. 

Teleste’s R&D activities focus mainly on 
the so-called applied product development, 
the aim of which is to sell a new product or 
product feature. A prerequisite for applied 
R&D is the development of basic technol-
ogy and research, for which Teleste relies 
on partners concentrating on these areas. 
The partners concerned include Universities 
and Polytechnics, among others. 

For Teleste, the key success factors 
include experienced and skilled R&D per-
sonnel, and its continued development. 
Since technology develops at an increasing 
speed and Teleste operates in a number of 
different areas of technology, it is almost 
impossible to cover all the required needs 
for technological R&D on our own. For this 
reason, it is important to identify those 
technologies and key areas of expertise, 
the management of which by ourselves is 
essential for our success today as well as 
in years to come. Other required elements 
are, then, covered by means of a network 
consisting of Finnish and foreign partners. 

Our R&D works in close interaction 
with Teleste’s key customers. In this type 
of activity, Teleste’s own extensive sales 
network plays a crucial role. Regular “work-
shops” set up with the key customers fo-
cusing on future technologies allow for 
testing of new ideas before investments 
are made, and thus limit the risk always in-
volved in any development activities. This 
ensures that there is a real market need 
for the development project taken onboard 
and that the timing in relation to compe-
tition and market conditions is optimal. It 

does not seem exaggerated to say that 
the speed of commercialization with re-
gard to technological innovations and the 
customer-oriented way of operation pro-
vide Teleste with a strategic competitive 
advantage.

R&D Priorities
Teleste’s product development efforts 
target the following three main areas: 
operators’ access networks, video pro-
cessing solutions, and video surveillance 
solutions. From the viewpoint of product 
development, these areas differ from each 
other significantly. The essence of access 
networks business is the ability to design 
product solutions suitable for large produc-
tion volumes cost-efficiently. Video pro-
cessing solutions of the operators require 
development of high-quality comprehen-
sive solutions optimized for their respec-
tive business environment and the existing 
standards applied in the given market. This 
is in contrast to the video surveillance so-
lutions, where the capabilities of tailoring 
the management software to meet the 
customer-specific needs are increasingly 
emphasized. For the development of profit-
able business, taking these differing priori-
ties into account in the operational models 
of product development is a key require-
ment.

The most significant development proj-
ects in 2013 were steered by the consum-
ers’ ever-growing requirements for speed 
in their broadband connections. Teleste’s 
R&D has focused on the development of 
the DOCSIS technology (Data-Over-Cable 
Service Interface Specifications, a broad-
band technology developed for cable net-
works) widely used by the operators. This 
technology allows for very high-speed 
broadband access to consumers through 
the cabling already present on the prop-
erty. This makes it possible to avoid the 
costly optical fibre installation in the build-

Correct technological choices and 
their timing are vital for Teleste’s 
success.

 As far as innovative and de-
manding technological solutions 
are concerned, to make techni-
cally complex solutions customer-
friendly and functionally easy to 
use takes a lot of know-how and 
expertise on the part of the R&D 
personnel.   

Moreover, the R&D personnel 
need to have expertise in tender 
calculation and management of 
large projects. 
  

ThE MAJORITy OF OUR 

R&D PERSONNEL WORK 

ON ThE PREMISES OF 

ThE COMPANy’S hEAD 

OFFICE, BUT ON TOP OF 

ThAT, ThERE IS A UNIT 

IN POLAND, WhICh IS 

SIGNIFICANT IN TERMS 

OF BOTh FUNCTION  

AND SIzE.
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optical
node

DOCSIS
Access
Hub

distribution
amplifier

DOCSIS
Access
Hub

distribution
amplifier

Distributed DOCSIS
access network

Traditional
access network

Both traditional and distributed access network architectures
utilise the same infrastructure close to customers.

TEChNOLOGy AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT

ing. Teleste’s solution is based on the so-
called decentralized architecture where, 
instead of the traditional centralized solu-
tion, adaptation of the broadband signal to 
accommodate the cable and the broadband 
capacity management system has been 
taken closer to the consumers. In 2014, 
this project qualifi es Teleste to compete for 
the growing investments that the opera-
tors allocate to the development of their 
broadband services.

Second strategically important area for 
development launched in 2013 was the 
wide-ranging further development of ac-
cess network equipment to meet the stan-
dard requirements in line with the latest 
version of the DOCSIS broadband techno-
logy. Th e new standard specifi es updated 
key parameters (frequency ranges) for the 
physical level of the access network, which, 
in turn, allow for signifi cantly higher capa-
city broadband services.

Th e above projects provide excellent 
examples of Teleste’s ability quickly to 
commercialize a demanding technical con-
cept that also takes advantage of the prog-
ress made by the standardization working 
groups, developments in the supply of 
components and changes in the market. 
Th is exceptional capability requires a high 
level of expertise across Teleste’s entire or-
ganization combined with a sound business 
strategy.
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VIDeO AND BROADBAND 
sOlUTIONs

Customer base includes all largest 
European cable operators. Through 
resellers we address also mid-size 
and small operators, particularly in 
Central and Eastern Europe.

We are seeking growth particu-
larly from European fixed-line telecom 
operators.

We offer to our customers all the 
products needed for cable operator 
access network from the digital IP 
headend all the way to subscriber 
wall outlet. The most important 
product groups are access network 
active equipment and passives, 
digital headends as well as solutions 
for on-demand TV services.

We complement our product of-
fering with professional integration 
and maintenance services.

CUsTOMeRs PRODUCTs

Our customers include european 
operators proving cable TV, Broadband 
and Telecommunication services. 
They make available services such as 
high-definition broadcasts on cable 
networks, video-on-demand and 
pay-TV services as well as Data and 
Telephony services that traverse both 
fixed and mobile networks.

As to geography, the current 
priority areas of Network Services 
include Belgium, Finland, Germany, 
Switzerland and the UK.

Users of Teleste video surveillance 
systems are mainly in the public sec-
tor, such as authorities in charge of 
traffic, transport and public security.

Through its own offices, Teleste 
Video Networks is present in all the 
major geographical markets: Europe, 
North America and Southeast Asia.

We offer comprehensive video 
surveillance solutions based on own 
and third party products and our 
own products cover video transmis-
sion, storage and management.

Teleste’s video surveillance 
system is often connected to other 
systems, like those involving traffic 
control, emergency, and crisis man-
agement.

VIDEO NETWORKS

TV AND BROADBAND SERVICES

NeTWORk seRVICes We offer our customers high-
quality services in planning, design, 
engineering, documentation and 
construction of networks, as well 
as installation and maintenance. We 
also provide project management 
capabilities for larger programmes. 

Our growing portfolio encom-
passes component supply, bespoke 
assembly, integration, testing and 
network management via advanced 
Network Operations Centre (NOC) 
facilities.

The range of delivered products 
is wide, starting from the delivery 
of a single installation all the way to 
large-scale turn-key and managed-
service projects.
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The Teleste product innovations en-
able operators to guarantee better 
subscriber service availability as well 
as build and run their networks more 
efficiently.

Additionally, our strength is a 
product portfolio which is optimized 
for varying needs of European mar-
kets. We are present on all the main 
markets and hence provide compre-
hensive local support services for our 
customers.

Teleste product quality is widely 
appreciated and customers respect 
our way of working.

We are the market leader in Europe 
for cable access products. We are the 
only vendor present in all main cable 
markets in Europe with comprehen-
sive product offering.

Digital IP headends we deliver 
globally through our partner network.

Delivery of TV content over public In-
ternet may increase significantly the 
need for access network capacity and 
hence speed up the operator invest-
ments to increase their network ca-
pacity. This disruption also opens new 
opportunities for Teleste to provide 
integrated service management solu-
tions enabling on-demand video ser-
vices for consumers.

Telecom operators’ stronger pres-
ence in TV distribution services may 
open significant growth opportunities 
for Teleste. Russian and Eastern Eu-
ropean markets provide major growth 
potential for existing product offering.

sTReNGThs MARkeT POsITION GROWTh OPPORTUNITIes

Our angle of approach to the market 
differs from that of most of our com-
petitors with contractor background. 
Our strength lies in our strong tech-
nological expertise, professional man-
agement and excellent reputation.

This technology know-how is 
expressed in our ability to provide 
innovative and novel solutions to the 
network as such and also to items as 
network maintenance. 

Our long history as a European 
equipment supplier provides us with 
the necessary sector experience, 
market credibility and deep technol-
ogy insights.

Teleste’s special area of competence 
is in demanding video surveillance 
applications, where cameras, storage 
devices and workstations from  
several sites are networked into  
a single video surveillance system.

Teleste’s references in its target 
segments are of world-class.

Teleste has a strong foothold in very 
large and demanding projects in the 
public sector.

We are now expanding our offer-
ing also to smaller multi-site projects.

There is a growing need for video 
surveillance. Analog systems will be 
replaced by fully digital systems. The 
need for intelligent solutions will con-
tinue to grow and network manage-
ment and storage solutions form the 
core of these networks. 

Teleste’s reliable and scalable 
comprehensive offering combined 
with the company’s world-class refer-
ences provide a solid foundation for 
rapid growth.

Our market position varies from 
country to country. E.g. in the UK, 
we rank among the most important 
special actors in the provision of 
professional services as consulting, 
project delivery and outsourcing to  
a selected segment. 

here we are further expanding 
our knowledge-based service portfo-
lio to cover a wide range of tangible 
engineering services as well, including 
warehousing, integration, materials 
supply, and I&C.

In Germany, we are among the 
market’s leading contractors provid-
ing services to all major operators.

Our clientele has recognized the 
growing position in the market for  
a specialized, trusted providers of 
network services as they continue  
to optimise their overheads. 

With increasing market consolida-
tion of networks and the inevitable 
developments toward deeper optical 
and data-centric infrastructures, 
there are many Next Generation 
initiatives to support.

Moreover, we believe that our  
investments in the exploitation of 
sales opportunities between the dif-
ferent business units will bear fruit, 
for example, in terms of monitoring 
solutions, NOC and professional 
services.

BUSINESS AREAS
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TELESTE IS A PIONEER 

AS A DEVELOPER OF 

TEChNOLOGy USED 

FOR ThE ACCESS  

NETWORKS OF OPERA-

TORS AND PROVIDER 

OF DEMANDING VIDEO 

SURVEILLANCE  

SOLUTIONS
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Video and Broadband Solutions (VBS) provide the TV distribution indus-

try and the video surveillance sector with products and services. Video 

and Broadband Solutions offers access network products, headends, and  

video-on-demand solutions for cable and telecom operators, as well as 

video surveillance applications mainly for the public sector organizations.

Net sales of Video and Broadband Solutions remained at the previous 

year’s level equaling EUR 101.7 (101.2) million. Increase in net sales was 

positive for video surveillance. Operating profit grew by 11.3% standing 

at EUR 9.5 (8.5) million. Profitability was improved by successful project 

deliveries and the measures taken to streamline our production. Also the 

access network products were successful in the market. The business area 

employed 559 people.

Teleste’s business operations are 
characterized by the company’s 
expertise in video processing and 
transfer technology accumulated in 
the past 60 years. A shared tech-
nology platform enables us to de-
liver increasingly innovative system 
solutions to our customers cost-
effectively. 

Annually, Teleste invests about 
10% of the product business net 
sales into R&D. Thanks to this, we 
are in the position to come up with 
more and more new, technologically 
advanced solutions tailored to the 
needs of our customers.

CURReNT TReNDs

Consumers want to watch
varied and high-quality
video anytime, anywhere
and on any device. From
the cable operators this
requires continous invest-
ments in the construction
and development of access
networks.  

Ensuring public safety
requires more and better
security control. Video
surveillance solutions enable 
reliable monitoring in a
cost-effective manner.

shARe OF PeRsONNel

Network services 57%

Video and Broadband 
solutions 43%

VIDEO AND BROADBAND SOLUTIONS
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TV DIsTRIBUTION BUsINess

TV distribution business 
delivers access networks, 
headends, and video-on-de-
mand solutions with related 
services to cable operators.

Concerning access net-
works, our product range 
includes all the compo-
nents from the optical fi ber 
solutions to amplifi ers and 
passive components, such 
as aerial sockets. As for 
headends, the focus is set 
on fully digital solutions.      

Services in our product-
related business include 
system design and quality 
assurance consultation, 
maintenance services for 
the delivered systems and 
training. 

stable Year
In 2013, the market continued to develop 
steadily and the cable operators’ invest-
ments in access networks remained at a 
good level. In contrast, a number of chang-
es took place in the competitor and cus-
tomer fi eld. New competitors appeared on 
the market, as some of those having previ-
ously operated in diff erent product catego-
ries expanded their off erings. On the client 
side, business mergers continued, which 
increased the centralization of purchasing 
and hardened the price competition even 
further.

Teleste managed to strengthen its mar-
ket position to a degree and even make 
a new geographical market breakthrough 
after having received an order on cable 
technology deliveries to Kenya. Th e larg-
est order for the year came from France, 
however, where SIEA, regional authority for 
energy and telecommunications is building,  
on the European scale, the most compre-
hensive Fibre-to-the-home solution based 
on the RFoG technology. Teleste won the 
fi rst and second phase of the public tender 
for the delivery and installation of the rel-
evant optical access network equipment. 

Th e fast-growing market in China off ers 
considerable opportunities. In this market 
Teleste strengthened its presence by set-
ting up a joint venture with the Gansu prov-
ince cable operator and Shanghai OTEC 
Information Technology. In this company, 
Teleste is a minority shareholder. Th is coop-
eration allows Teleste to take advantage of 
its product development and quality know-
how in the growing Chinese cable operator 
market. We also seek to increase the deliv-
eries of our headend solutions.

Off ering Complemented by Asheridge
In early April, Teleste acquired the entire 
share capital of the UK based Asheridge 
Communications. An access network equip-
ment supplier to cable operators, Asheridge 
has net sales in excess of EUR 6 million. 
Asheridge has strong expertise especially 
in the use of BarrIER technology, the pur-
pose of which is to improve the network 
reliability and reduce operational costs. Th is 
acquisition expanded Teleste’s off ering and 
strengthened its position, especially in the 
UK, Ireland, the Netherlands and southern 
Europe. In addition to growth in volume, 
the merger will create synergies between 
development of technologies and products, 
and sales. 

New standard keeps R&D Busy
Th e strongly growing broadband traffi  c 
maintains modernization of the existing 
and construction of new capacity. Simi-
larly, given the increasing use and quality 
requirements, continuous development of 
network technology solutions and prod-
ucts will improve the operational reliability 
of networks. During 2013, Teleste started 
to upgrade products of the subscriber de-
vice based on the new standard released 
by the cable operators. Th e fi rst upgraded 
product was launched in the summer, but 
because Teleste’s product off ering is so 
wide-ranging, this upgrading of products 
will continue even in 2014. New product 
launches included the ACE8 fi bre node and 
the MoCA home networking solution that 
takes advantage of coaxial cable in the 
transmission of the broadband service and 
enables preservation of full-speed within 
one building.

Partners for Product sales
Th e continued increase in signifi cance of 
the Internet and, in particular, the growth 
in consumption and transfer of video sus-
tain the need for network technologies. On 
the other hand, tough competition brings 
down the prices. Teleste aims at benefi ting 
from high-volume production while keeping 
the production costs down and the quality 
high. 

For Teleste as the European leader in 
access networks, many extra-European 
territories provide excellent potential for 
growth. In the future, Teleste will give a 
greater role to its partners in support of 
its own sales network in the selling of its 
spearhead products. 

TAkING “lAsT MIle” ACCess 
IN A NeW DIReCTION 

Th e DAh (DOCsIs Access hub)  
is a new innovative approach 
that provides a cost-effi  cient 
solution to bring high-speed IP 
network connections to cus-
tomers by using existing coax-
ial cabling, and for under one-
fi fth of the price compared to 
FTTh.

Th e solution has been 
introduced in all the major 
cable events, like at speaker’s 
Corner of Cable Congress in 
london by sVP hanno Narjus.
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VIDeO sURVeIllANCe
VIDEO AND BROADBAND SOLUTIONS

Teleste offers comprehensive 
video surveillance applica-
tions for customers primarily 
in the public sector.

Our emphasis is set on 
demanding video surveillance 
applications, where cameras, 
recorders and workstations 
from a number of sites will 
be networked into a single 
system.

Comprehensive solutions 
consist of Teleste and third-
party products, system de-
sign, project implementation 
as well as services related 
to system maintenance and 
training. 

In the system, the compre-
hensive solution delivered by 
Teleste is placed between 
the cameras and monitors to 
take care of video transmis-
sion, storage and manage-
ment. 

successes in Many Areas
year 2013 brought a wide range of busi-
ness successes. Market remained positive 
and prices stayed reasonable in spite of 
tough competition. The ongoing projects 
and deliveries proceeded according to plan. 
Similarly, our goal of widening the scope of 
our offerings to slightly smaller systems 
so as to tap into broader markets also ad-
vanced. 

Significant new orders included deliver-
ies of rail traffic control solutions for the 
Finnish West Metro, which will be built 
between helsinki and Espoo, and to the 
Chicago Transit Authority (CTA). Important 
orders were also received from SNCF, the 
French National Railroad Company, and 
Préfecture de police de Paris, the police 
force for the city of Paris and the surround-
ing areas. The order placed from Chicago 
was an extension of many years’ coopera-
tion. The onboard video management and 
storage solution now ordered by the CTA 
complements the previously delivered vid-
eo management systems for stations into 
one unified system. This concept can be 
replicated and transferred to a number of 
other sites. 

Information from several sources
The trend towards more comprehensive 
security solutions to improve the accuracy 
and coverage of monitoring in a cost-effec-
tive manner is clearly visible in the video 
surveillance market. Customers have an 
even greater need for systems that gather 
information from several different sources, 
and also communicate with other systems, 
such as alarm and security installations. Im-
plementation of such centralized systems 

requires utilization of a number of products 
and services by different providers and, 
moreover, creation of software that will 
connect the various subsystems into an 
integral entity. This is why Teleste has pri-
oritized the development and provision of 
such centralized systems in co-operation 
with its partners.  

Technology and References Provide 
Competitive edge
Teleste’s offering consists of highly de-
manding video surveillance solutions tai-
lored to the customer’s needs, and slightly 
smaller systems that allow for partial utili-
zation of standard products. The common 
denominators for all our solutions include 
customer orientation, reliability and scalabil-
ity. Teleste’s continuous R&D constitutes a 
key factor in our offering of video surveil-
lance solutions, since proven technology, 
project management and references make 
competitive advantages more significant 
than only price. 

From Borders to Cities
While the need for security expands the 
video surveillance market even further, the 
monitoring is shifting from borders of coun-
tries increasingly over to applications within 
the given country. here, video surveillance 
is used for monitoring of urban areas, en-
ergy distribution networks and traffic. 
    As the utilization rates of trains and sub-
ways continue to climb, rail transport is an 
increasingly important application. Teleste 
can provide modern technologies for every 
application and, in addition, comprehensive 
references to go with them for demanding 
deliveries.

In course of history, video surveil-
lance business has grown in scope 
so that today it is perceived as  
a solution safeguarding people’s 
lives and promoting businesses. 

In today’s technologically ad-
vanced and demanding solutions, 
video surveillance software has 
gained in significance.

These solutions can manage  
ever larger systems, they provide 
a wider range of applications, and 
they are increasingly easy to use.

In their respective segments, 
Teleste’s reference projects are 
world leaders.
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NETWORK SERVICES

SERVICES  
PROVIDE  
CUSTOMERS 
WITh ADDeD 
VAlUe

Our services markets developed well with the exception of 

German demand, which was significantly lower than expected in 

the beginning of the year. We responded to the situation by re-

organizing operations and adjusting human resources. Our other 

countries developed positively, and even in Germany we got back 

to the path of profitable growth in the second half of the year. 

Network Services (NS) provides 
network design, high-quality 
installation, maintenance services 
and professional services for 
cable and telecom operators 
across Europe. 

Our customers are often lead-
ers in their countries, with the 
aim of providing their subscribers 
with new services, such as high-
speed Internet access, pay-TV, 
Video-on-Demand and telephony 
services. 

Our European network of ser-
vices covers the entire continent 
with Germany and the United 
Kingdom as our foremost operat-
ing countries. 
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Motivated and competent employ-
ees make an essential part of Net-
work services’ success.

 In the picture, Ns personnel 
in Finland at a kick-off meeting 
held in the autumn. The topics 
discussed included new services 
featured by network monitoring. 
Furthermore, courses of action for 
the unit, current state of projects 
and the prospects ahead were on 
the agenda.

Ns ORDeRs ReCeIVeD
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All in all, net sales generated by Network 
Services amounted to EUR 91.1 (92.6) mil-
lion. The early year challenges in Germany 
caused a decline in operating profit to EUR 
1.6 (2.4) million. however, the second half 
of the year was significantly better than the 
year-on-year comparative period. Orders 
received remained level with the previous 
year at EUR 91.1 (91.9) million. 

Wider Range of services
The profitability trend of our services busi-
ness is improving, but did not reach the de-
sired level yet. We have made an effort to 
bring in more flexibility with regard to costs 
and resources so as to better adapt to 
transient changes in demand. With regard 
to our development of operations, the main 
emphasis was now put on higher value-
added professional services involving areas 
such as planning, engineering, programme 
management and network operation cen-
ters. The fast-growing data transfer market 
will significantly increase the need for pro-
fessional services, and extending our sup-
ply will allow us to provide our customers 
with an end-to-end service from the project 
design all the way to the hand-over and 
network operation. This expansion of our 

NETWORK SERVICES

services offering was most nicely achieved 
in the United Kingdom.

Our newly established Network Opera-
tions Centre Service provides the customer 
with the opportunity of outsourcing net-
work monitoring and maintenance to be 
taken care of by professionals. The first 
Network Operations Centre was opened in 
Finland during Autumn 2013.  

Changes in Customer Base
Consolidation among our clientele contin-
ued briskly. In the early year, Liberty Global 
bought Virgin Media, and in summer, Voda-
fone made a bid for Europe’s largest cable 
TV operator Kabel Deutschland. Mergers 
slightly slowed down the start-up of major 
projects during 2013, but in the long run, 
they will create new opportunities and sales 
channels for Teleste’s offering of services. 
Operators with a large and wide scope are 
actively developing their businesses and 
concentrating their purchases of products 
and services. Teleste’s comprehensive of-
fering, reputation of a reliable supplier, and 
continuous development of products and 
services, provide a good starting point for 
the strengthening of our cooperation with 
such major operators.
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Our collaboration with customers pro-
ceeded smoothly and, as a result, Cable & 
Wireless, City Fibre holdings and Naxoo, 
the cable operator of the City of Geneva, 
are examples for our widening customer 
base. Extension agreements were signed 
with Arqiva, among others.

Ahead with Positive expectations
The business environment allows us to an-
ticipate positive developments in the com-
ing year. The objective with our services 
business is to continue to develop our of-
ferings, expand our customer base and in-
crease profitability. While measures already 
taken will improve our productivity, new 
ways and tools will also be used. 

Unprofitable operations will be cut and 
the new resource management software 
will increase our efficiency accompanied by 
further process improvements. The use of 
automation will be increased, where possi-
ble, and at the same time the streamlining 
of services processes will be continued. Our 
clear priorities include strengthening of our 
provision in high value-added services and 
creating new service packages.
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Established in 1950, the Syndicat Intercom-

munal Energy and e-communication Ain 

(SIEA), is a public institute comprised of 419 

municipalities in the province of Ain in the 

eastern France. The SIEA is responsible for 

the energy and telecommunications manage-

ment in the region.

Numericable is the major French cable 

operator with leading market share of 65%. 

This leading position has been acquired 

thanks to the large investments in fibre op-

tics worth of one billion euros over the past 

five years.  

In partnership with Numericable, the 

SIEA announced the deployment of the “Box 

Fibre” throughout the department of Ain cov-

ering a potential of 250,000 homes. The de-

ployment will bring to the people of Ain the 

very high speed Internet (up to 200 megabits 

per second), hD TV and Connected TV ser-

vices like youTube in hD on TV, and Facebook 

Twitter on TV, multi- screens, etc.

Teleste was chosen to supply and install 

optical access network equipment to SIEA by 

providing products and installation. Teleste 

won the first two phases in the public tender 

by SIEA. The aim is to build a public broad-

band network that covers more than 90% of 

homes and businesses in the region by 2015.

Teleste’s advanced solution is one of 

first significant implementations in Europe, 

in which RFoG (Radio Frequency over Glass) 

technology will be used to provide DOCSIS 

based data services for customers in classical 

Fibre-to-the-home (FTTh) networks. Replac-

ing the coax portion of the hybrid fibre coax 

(hFC) network by a passive optical network 

(PON), the RFoG technology opens up new 

business opportunities for operators espe-

cially in areas where coax network is not 

available. With the RFoG technology, opera-

tors are able to increase network capacity in 

a cost-efficient way, utilizing their existing of-

A sIGNIFICANT RFOG DePlOYMeNT 
BRINGS FIBRE-TO-ThE-hOME FOR  
ThE REGION OF ThE AIN IN FRANCE

fering and billing systems, as well as the tradi-

tional hFC network service platform.

Equipment supplied is optical transmit-

ters and amplifiers from hDO family with 

RFoG end user receiver RM1160 combined 

with high quality filters. TV and Video ser-

vices are managed in the hubs by Luminato 

platforms. Teleste is also responsible of the 

installations, trainings and maintenance ser-

vices.

“This operation covering over 400 mu-

nicipalities that will now benefit from the Box  

Fibre, reveals the potential in the deployment 

of FTTh optics in France. We estimate there 

are more than one million homes that could 

benefit from very high speed connections 

through this type of partnership. Numericable 

is now ready to discuss with local authorities 

who have already invested in fibre deploy-

ment in France and wish to provide quality 

service to their subscribers, “says Jerome yo-

mtov, Deputy CEO of Numericable.

The partnership agreement signed with 

Numericable is a significant milestone for 

the future. Implementation of this project is 

significant because it is the first cooperation 

agreement that provides Numericable’s 

national TV and broadband services to the 

FTTh subscribers on a provincial network.  We 

are indeed delighted to note the undisputed 

leadership the department of Ain, being the 

initiator, has reached by providing its entire 

population with high-speed broadband”, says 

Jean-François Pelletier, President of the SIEA. 
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CUSTOMER PROJECTS 

TelesTe MONITORs ELISA’S CABLE TV 
AND CABLE MODEM NETWORK
Elisa is a telecommunications and ICT ser-

vice company with a clientele of 2.3 million 

consumers, businesses and government or-

ganizations. In Finland, they are the leader 

in the mobile subscriptions and fi xed broad-

band access market.

In October 2013, Elisa and Teleste 

signed an agreement on monitoring, remote 

maintenance and capacity management of 

cable television and cable broadband net-

works. Teleste’s Network Operation Centre  

(NOC) monitors Elisa’s entire CATV and ca-

ble modem network analyzing any potential 

problems and malfunctions. Th e key factor 

in this process is the EMS network element 

management system provided by Teleste as 

a service. Th is system allows for a quick lo-

cation of malfunctions and guides the fi eld 

technician to the right address. In addition, 

the system can limit the aff ected area, and 

thereby minimize any disadvantages caused 

to the subscribers.

As for capacity management, Teleste 

monitors the utilization rate of network 

components and suggests areas for im-

provement, thus preventing the emergence 

of potential bottlenecks in the network. 

Th is is a new approach to Elisa, and its 

aim is to ensure reliable and high-quality ac-

cess to network for more than 300 000 ca-

ble television subscribers in a cost-eff ective 

manner.

KARAWANKS – IMPROVeD sAFeTY 
ThROUGh VIDeO sURVeIllANCe

Th e Road Authority of Slovenia (DARS), 

planned to replace the existing surveillance 

and safety systems in the Karawanks road 

tunnel in 2013. Th e  almost 8 km long tun-

nel connects highways between Slovenia 

and Austria. Th e single line, two-way tunnel, 

is located in the Karawanks mountain range.  

     Its construction began in 1986 in commu-

nistic Jugoslavia and it was fi nished in 1991 

in the independent Republic of Slovenia. At 

that time the tunnel was equipped with the 

best surveillance and safety systems includ-

ing fi re detection and carbon monoxide sen-

sors. 

Today, the rapid growth of Slovenian 

port in Koper and the popularity of the beau-

tiful islands on the Croatian coast, make this 

tunnel a strategic object for traffi  c manage-

ment. hence, it was decided to modernize 

the safety of the tunnel with a new system 

for video surveillance, accident and fi re de-

tection, license plate recognition, traffi  c con-

trol and other critical systems. Th e priority is 

to make the tunnel safer and easier to man-

age, especially during the extreme weather 

conditions facing this mountain location in 

winters. 

Teleste, together with its Slovenian in-

tegration partner, Tenzor, were chosen as 

the supplier of the video system for this 

project encompassing several hundred cam-

eras. Th e project was handed over to DARS 

in December 2013. 

Teleste’s experience and reliability in 

road and transportation applications al-

lowed quick and eff ective implementation 

of the video part of the project. Flexibility 

of Teleste’s video management system al-

lowed easy integration with other critical 

systems including SCADA. Scalability makes 

the system future proof for further exten-

sions and connections with larger umbrella 

systems.

With the constantly increase in traffi  c, 

the road authorities of Slovenia and Austria 

are now considering the construction of a 

second tunnel in this area in the near future. 
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FLOMATIK NETWORK SERVICES GOES 
FROM sTReNGTh TO sTReNGTh

Virgin Media 
Flomatik have been working in collaboration 

with Virgin Media’s (VM) Networks and Field 

Engineering divisions on re-segmenting their 

Broadband network to give customers high-

er Internet access speeds of up to 150MB.  

Flomatik have played a pivotal role in 

many of the programme’s workstreams in-

cluding: headend building surveys; producing 

detailed hFC/IP design plans; installation & 

commissioning support work at the head-

end’s; to provision of a Managed Service 

Programme where Flomatik has responsi-

bility for management of logical engineers 

workload and business process reengineer-

ing using standard based methodologies. 

These broad range of Project Manage-

ment activities utilising approximately 40 

people are set to continue into 2014, and 

will see Flomatik continue its longstanding 

position at Virgin Media, helping them stay 

at the fore of the UK’s broadband explosion, 

where they have seen a 55% increase in high 

speed internet traffic in the last 12 months 

and are set to launch internet speeds in 

2014 which will be twice as fast as any 

other widely available service.

Arqiva Core Dark Fibre Rings
Arqiva, the UK leading communications in-

frastructure and media services company,  

are taking the opportunity to build a number 

of robust and resilient core optical fibre net-

works through 2013 & 2014 at their broad-

cast transmission sites across the UK. Due 

to the exposed hilltop locations all inter-

building connectivity will be provisioned on 

optic fibre cables. 

As part of the Local hDTV and BBC Ra-

dio programmes of work, funding has been 

made available to Arqiva to build and oper-

ate this shared infrastructure.

Flomatik supported Arqiva through the 

initial architecture review and vendor selec-

tion process and as an existing key partner 

were successful in being awarded this sub-

stantial turnkey programme after working 

through a stringent tender process.

Flomatik’s current responsibilities are 

for the design, supply, installation and com-

missioning of all fibre equipment and infra-

structure. 

The Flomatik design team survey and 

document all proposals, site risk assess-

ments and method statements ready for 

submission to Arqiva for approval. Based 

on this proposal, Flomatik’s Programme 

Management Office and Operations teams 

work collaboratively with their Arqiva coun-

terparts in managing and scheduling the 

sourcing and delivery of all equipment to site 

as well as managing the deployment of Flo-

matik’s engineering teams. The experienced 

site engineering teams assemble, install and 

commission all infrastructure, ready for com-

missioning, testing and final hand-over to 

Arqiva.

Due to the current success of a number 

of sites, Arqiva has extended Flomatik’s re-

sponsibilities to include the installation and 

commissioning of the optical/electrical con-

version units and the distribution of telecom-

munication circuits throughout the broad-

cast transmission sites.

With the Telecoms market maturing 

and consolidating, both Operators and large 

Equipment Suppliers are looking to work 

with Service partners that can provide com-

plete end-to end solutions that include:

•	 Project Management

•	 Network Design

•	 Warehousing, staging, testing

•	 Installation and commissioning

•	 Training

•	 Pan European capabilities

In the UK, Flomatik Network Services 

finished the year announcing the launch of 

a large Engineering Services capability based 

in Birmingham to directly address the above 

requirements and build on the already prov-

en capabilities of Flomatik. 

We are looking forward to 2014 with 

the increased capability to provide a Total 

end to end service portfolio for our existing 

customers and also some major new ones!

Teleste’s subsidiary Flomatik Network Services has focused its efforts in 2013 
into the development and growth of key transferable skills, particularly with 
respect to Data/IP expertise, Optical networks and Operational Support System 
(OSS) management systems. These reflect key expertise and knowledge that is 
ubiquitous to all Next Generation Network Operators.
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CUSTOMER PROJECTS 

FOCUs ON TUNNel sAFeTY 
IN STOCKhOLM ByPASS
The Swedish Transport Administration (STA) 

has today almost 100 000 km of govern-

ment owned road to monitor. They have 

standardized their video system for road and 

tunnels to Teleste´s Video Management Sys-

tem (VMX).

The cooperation between STA and 

Teleste started with the first major tunnel 

project back in 2001 deploying the South 

Link tunnel in Stockholm with a comprehen-

sive, scalable, redundant and fault tolerant 

system. Ever since, Teleste has deployed 

STA´s road and tunnel projects with video 

technology. 

In 2014 Teleste´s goal is to continue its 

long lasting relationship with STA. The next 

major infrastructure project coming out for 

tendering is the Stockholm bypass project, 

a motorway system of 21 km out of which 

18 km are under ground and with 3 lanes in 

each direction.

The Stockholm bypass is going through 

environmentally sensitive areas and there-

fore it’s necessary to keep the majority of 

it below ground. The increasing need for di-

recting traffic into tunnels also put focus on 

safety; tunnel safety is of absolute essence 

affecting everything from design to deploy-

ment. 

Tunnel projects typically include monitor-

ing the entire tunnel with cameras, automatic 

systems for detection of stopped vehicles 

and smoke and fire activation through the 

video system. In case of an accident the sys-

tems proposes the operator to activate pre-

defined action plans, including among others, 

video streams from best located cameras, 

closing the barriers to stop more drivers to 

enter the tunnel, etc. The Teleste VMX sys-

tem is working as an umbrella system sup-

porting the operators’ workflow in these 

types of needs. 

Why sTA has selected Teleste as 
its Video surveillance Partner
The necessity of a reliable, scalable video sur-

veillance system was of highest importance 

when STA selected Teleste for its video sys-

tem. A tunnel is a very complex system. It 

has at least 20 different systems, including 

everything from access control for service 

personnel, video surveillance, fire alarm, 

sprinkler system, emergency phones, Public 

Audio, radio and phone systems, ventilation, 

barrier system etc. 

A video system is part of the core in this 

complex environment and must be able to 

interact with all of these systems. 

In April 2013 Teleste acquired Asheridge 

Communications Ltd, the British supplier of 

access network equipment to cable opera-

tors. Asheridge has sales offices in the UK, 

Spain and Poland. 

Asheridge’s particular strength lies in 

the passives of hFC networks, as well as in 

the indoor network solutions of buildings.

In recent times Asheridge has invested 

especially in technology innovations that 

can significantly improve the fault tolerance 

of cable networks and the cost-effective-

ness of operating such networks (the Bar-

rIER technology). Asheridge has also been 

at the forefront of introducing new technol-

ogies, such as the MoCA home networking 

solution, that contribute to the distribution 

of new consumer services (such as the ultra-

high-definition TV, video games as cloud ser-

vices) inside the home.

The product offering of Asheridge 

complements Teleste’s current portfolio of 

passive products and, thus, strengthens 

its position as the leading supplier of ac-

cess networks to European cable opera-

tors. Asheridge’s customerships in Spain 

and Portugal complement Teleste’s cable 

operator customer base to cover the whole 

of Europe.

Indeed, in the coming years, Teleste 

will be pursuing growth in sales by market-

ing Asheridge’s products and innovations 

through its international sales organization.

OFFeRING sTReNGTheNeD By AShERIDGE
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Well-BeING  
AT WORK  
Teleste’s expertise and competitive edge are based, to a large extent, on the 

motivated and professional personnel. The aim of our human Resources is to 

strengthen the organizational model in support of the business strategy. 

At the end of 2013 Teleste employed 
1,261 people. The number of employees 
decreased from the previous year, in par-
ticular due to the reorganization made 
in the German services business. As a re-
sult of the codetermination negotiations 
conducted at the end of 2012, personnel 
working in Finland were laid off temporar-
ily in 2013, for an average of three weeks. 
These temporary layoffs were implemented 
by the end of March 2013. 

Functionality and smooth Operation 
through Good Workplace skills
Teleste’s objectives include satisfied, com-
mitted and skilled personnel, good leader-
ship, open and inclusive work culture and 
active hR processes. In 2013, our hR proj-
ects were focused on the harmonization of 
processes, prevention of knowledge-based 
risks, development of leadership and skills 
as well as well-being at the work.

Supervisors were supported in their 
daily leadership by their participation in the 
training path “Working as a Supervisor at 
Teleste”. Workplace skills were honed in 
joint workshops attended by supervisors 
and employees alike, and this resulted in 
the laying down of joint rules set to guide 
the working community. To promote well-
being at work and work ability, a work 
ability management model was drawn up 
in collaboration between the employee 
representatives, the occupational safety 
and health organization, and the employee 
health service, with the purpose of detect-
ing early any problems posing a threat to 
the work ability and to tackle any related 
threats in a positive way. The aim is to sup-
port the employees to cope at work while 
ensuring a smooth flow of work and the 
functionality of the working community.   

Management of Well-Being at Work Is 
a Team effort
Job satisfaction and personnel productivity 
are closely linked and together they affect 
the Company’s productivity and competi-
tiveness. A healthy working community sig-
nals a positive image of the employer and, 
by so doing, ensures permanence of skilled 
workers. Therefore, it is necessary to un-
derstand the meaning of well-being at work 
and personnel productivity and how these 
can be affected. 

At Teleste, we have seen that well-
being at work can and should be lead. At 
best, leading well-being at work provides 
one of the Company’s management tools, 
and constitutes a significant part of the 
supervisor’s daily management. Indica-
tors set for the leadership of well-being at 
work ensure the systematic follow-up of 
the state and level of well-being at work. 
In this case, leadership of well-being at 
work takes shape in a structured activity 
with defined objectives, responsibilities, 
resources, and which will be monitored by 
regular measurements on the corporate 
and individual level. A well-being assess-
ment to be conducted on the Group level in 
2014 will provide a good starting point for 
such systematic leadership of well-being at 
work. Based on the obtained results, risks 
related to well-being and coping at work 
will be identified, and measures to address 
any unsatisfactory state of affairs will be 
planned. Although leadership of well-being 
at work provides the supervisors with a 
special tool of daily management, good 
results in support of well-being at work 
cannot be obtained by simple managerial 
work alone. Commitment to the leadership 
of well-being at work and its development 
requires also participation and commitment 

COMPETENCE  

ANALySES OF OUR 

ORGANIzATION WERE 

FINALIzED IN 2013

hR CORNeRsTONes  
 
Vision: Organization in sup-
port of Teleste’s strategy.

Mission: Personnel structure 
and expertise support the 
corporate strategy and 
objectives.

Objectives: Good governance, 
open and inclusive work cul-
ture, working hR processes 
and satisfied, committed and 
skilled personnel.
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PERSONNEL

PeRsONNel BY AGe RANGePeRsONNel BY GeNDeR

Female 26%

Male 74%

Finland 29%

Others 71%

PeRsONNel BY lOCATION

Network services 57%

Video and Broadband 
solutions 43%

PeRsONNel  
BY BUsINess AReA

To ensure overall risk management and business contingency Teleste pre-
pares for a variety of emergency situations by setting up personnel train-
ing each year. 

In 2013, a training day, where the rescue teams focused on early fire-
fighting skills was carried out together with the local Volunteer Fire ser-
vice. The participants were familiarized with various factors that may give 
rise to a fire and with the use of fire-fighting equipment in hands-on train-
ing situations. 

In November 2013, Teleste electronics (sIP) Co. lTD, a subsidiary located 
in suzhou, in the Chinese province of Jiangsu, celebrated its 10th an-
niversary. Over the years, TsIP has produced some 300,000 amplifiers, 
70,000 optical nodes and more than one million smaller node units.

In addition to its manufacturing scope, the unit runs sourcing opera-
tions of its own handling the supply of RF passives, mechanics and opti-
cal products. The unit is headed by Jarmo Alppi.

from the other members of the work com-
munity, employee representatives and the 
occupational safety and health organiza-
tion.  

The Organization’s knowledge-Based 
Risks Need To Be Managed
Measures designed to develop the organi-
zation are, in the end, based on the busi-
ness strategy. In order to ensure compe-
tence, appropriate and strategic areas of 
competence must be identified and skills of 
the personnel must be developed accord-
ingly. Competence analyses of our organi-
zation were finalized in 2013, and based 
on these, competence profiles were cre-
ated in the hR system. These competence 
profiles will constitute an important part of 
appraisal  discussions to guide professional 
skills and competences and their develop-
ment of teams and individuals. Information 
obtained from the competence profiles will 
allow us better to identify and anticipate 

potential risks to the organization’s com-
petence. 

Natural Interaction
Continuous interaction and communication 
between the personnel and the employer 
is ensured by means of monthly meetings 
and regular gatherings between the em-
ployer and the employee representatives. 
This has helped to create a flexible co-op-
eration, which allows for a quick adaptation 
to the changing market environment. The 
dialogue between the Company’s manage-
ment and personnel representatives will 
take on a new dimension when Teleste’s 
European Works Council – EWC for short – 
is launched during 2014.  

A Wide Range of Incentives
At Teleste, systems related to payment and 
incentive schemes are based on profitabil-
ity both at the company and personal level. 
The incentives in place include systems of 

bonuses and payment by results as well as 
those involving share bonus schemes and 
options. Bonus and performance-based 
schemes are closely tied to our business 
strategy, which is, thus, linked to the work 
of teams and individuals in a natural way. 

Cooperation with educational  
Institutions
Construction of a positive employer image  
for future professionals was continued 
through cooperation with universities and 
other educational institutions. This process 
has taken forms such as research collabo-
ration, patronage, and Teleste’s represen-
tation in various bodies of universities 
and educational institutes. Teleste is also 
represented in the Turku Chamber of Com-
merce Law Committee. In recognition of 
our long-term cooperation with educational 
establishments, Turku University of Applied 
Sciences awarded Teleste the title of “Com-
pany of the year”.
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CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITy 
As PART OF The BUsINess

At Teleste, Corporate Responsibility is 
part of the management of the Group. 
Along with our Code of Conduct, our so-
cial responsibility is defined and guided by 
the Group’s values, vision and strategy. 
In course of 2014, Teleste will adopt the 
principles specified in the Global Reporting 
Initiative (GRI).

Teleste offers innovative solutions that 
operate cost-efficiently throughout their 
entire life-cycle. One indication of this re-
sponsibility is the durability, upgradeability 
and serviceability of our products. Basically, 
the environmental impact of our products is 
brought about by their consumption of en-
ergy when used, as well as the space and 
cooling they require. 

The challenging situation in the mar-
ket and the world sets its demands to the 
management of the whole order to supply 
chain. Teleste wants to offer its customers 
products the materials of which come from 
ethically and environmentally responsible 
sources. This way, and together with our 
partners, we are building the future on a 
sustainable basis.

Environmental protection is part of 
Teleste’s strategy and risk management. 
Teleste has been awarded ISO 14001:2004 
Environmental Management System Certif-
icate, which provides the basis for our op-
erational development in accordance with 
the principles of continuous improvement. 
Continuous improvement also supports the 
achievement of financial and qualitative ob-
jectives.

Research and Development Move On
When it comes to reducing the environ-
mental impact, product design provides the 

key role. For example, compared with the 
previous generation of technology, the new 
Direct Quadrature Amplitude Modulation 
(DQAM) technique allows the achievement 
of four times the number of channels at 
the same power consumption and amount 
of components. On the system level, this 
translates into reduced number of power 
supplies and equipment cabinets/racks re-
quired. For the customer, this new DQAM 
technology means reduced life-cycle costs 
and improved service level in the form of 
both increased capacity and reliability. 

ReDUCING 
The eNVIRONMeNTAl 
IMPACT IN 2013

As for its operations, Teleste 
has defined long-term environ-
mental objectives, which are 
specified annually by environ-
mental goals.

Teleste’s Long-Term Environ-
mental Goals

 • Promotion of product-driven 
environmental thinking

 • Reducing the amount of 
waste

 • Reduction in energy  
consumption

 • Continuous environmental 
improvement in logistics and 
transport

 • Promotion of environmentally 
conscious thinking in supply 
chain

 • Increasing environmental 
awareness among 
the personnel.

Attention to Raw Materials in  
Procurement
Teleste wants to make sure that the mate-
rials used come from ethically and environ-
mentally responsible sources. To determine 
the origin of the materials requires a better 
understanding of the legitimate trade of 
natural resources and the sustainable sup-
ply chain. Therefore, Teleste has joined a 
service for monitoring of the origins of raw 

Current
New 

DQAM

Power  
consumption, W

15 16

Number of channels 4 16

Components same number

Example of a 48-ch system

Racks 2 1

Power supplies 2 1

QAM modules 12 3

Total output, W 220 < 70

R&D PRODUCTION
DIsTRIBUTION  
AND seRVICe
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

AChIeVeMeNTs IN 2013 

 • The Lean Association of Finland 
awarded Teleste’s production 
in Littoinen by the 2013 LEAN 
Achievement Award in recogni-
tion of our overall development 
of long-term production and 
manufacturing technologies.

 • Environmental aspects have 
been specified to support our 
capability areas in terms of 
environmental, quality and risk 
management systems.

 • Teleste joined a third-party 
service, which monitors the ori-
gins of raw materials used for 
standard components (Conflict 
Minerals/3TG: tantalum, tin, 
tungsten, gold).

 • QR codes have been taken up 
to intensify our customer com-
munications and to reduce the 
amount of printed customer 
material.

 • The CO2 emission limit in the 
leasing contracts of new car 
has been brought down to 
10g/km.

materials used for standard components 
(Conflict Minerals/3TG/RohS). For example, 
the use of conflict minerals can be prevent-
ed by sharing information and by working 
closely together with the suppliers.

Award-Winning european Production
Environmental impacts caused by Teleste’s 
operation come from the used energy, 
generation of waste, logistics, and busi-
ness travel. Environmental impact brought 
about by the development of software 
products and equipments is relatively low. 
Our manufacturing consists mainly of the 
assembly of printed circuit boards and 
electronic equipment, and no significant 
emissions are created during the relevant 
process. Items consuming energy include 
heating, cooling, and the power for the pro-
duction facilities, testing equipment and of-
fice equipment.

In 2013, the Lean Association of Fin-
land awarded Teleste’s production in Lit-
toinen by the LEAN Achievement of the 
year Award in recognition of our long-term 
overall development of production and 
manufacturing technologies. having our 
production located in the same building 
with the product development allows for a 
close cooperation and continuous improve-
ment.

Carbon footprint of our logistics is gen-
erated by the transportation of materials 
and finished products alike. Along with self-
standardization, this footprint is reduced 
by our selection of suppliers and modes 
of transportation. In services business, the 
main source of the environmental load con-
sists of CO2 emissions from the installation 

and maintenance runs that are reduced by 
introducing more stringent emission limits 
for new cars. Our installation and packaging 
materials are recycled in cooperation with 
the local operators.

Durable equipment
The greatest environmental impact brought 
about by Teleste’s products comes from 
the energy consumption during their use-
ful lives, as well as the space and cooling 
they require. Cable network equipment and 
video surveillance systems are relatively 
durable, serviceable and upgradeable, so 
their lifespan can be further extended.

high Recycling Rate
Teleste aims to reduce its generation of 
waste and improve its rate of recycling. 
Our products mainly consist of recyclable 
metals, and waste from our production is 
sorted while most of it is recycled or used 
for energy. The amount of produced landfill 
and hazardous waste is limited. 

Code of Conduct
Teleste’s Code of Conduct defines the work-
ing methods required to be adopted by all 
our stakeholders. Among other things, our 
Code discusses adherence to laws and reg-
ulations, as well as issues related to human 
rights, working environment along with en-
vironment and sustainable development. 
This Code and our responsibility in business 
are developed at the same time by engag-
ing in a dialogue with all the stakeholders. 
Teleste’s Code of Conduct is available on 
Teleste website at http://www.teleste.
com/vision-sustainable-future 

PRODUCT IN Use ReCYClING

INNOVATIVe sOlU-
TIONs ThAT OPeRATe 
COsT-eFFICIeNTlY 
ThROUGhOUT TheIR 
eNTIRe lIFe-CYCle 
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esA HArjU 
M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1967 
Member of the Board since 2012 –
Independent of Teleste and its 
significant shareholders

Principal occupation:
Ixonos Plc, CEO 2013 –

Primary working experience:
Nokia Siemens Networks, Head of Nordia 
& Baltic Region 2010–2012
Employment by Nokia and Nokia Siemens 
Networks since 1991

No other elected positions of trust

MArjO MIeTTINeN 
M.Sc. (Ed.), born in 1957
Chairman of the Board since 2009 –
EM Group Oy is a significant shareholder 
of Teleste

Principal occupation:
EM Group Oy, CEO 2006 –

Primary working experience:
Ensto Oy, Chairman of the Board  
2002–2006
Ensto Oy, managerial positions  
1989–2001

Other elected positions of trust:
Componenta Corporation, Member of the 
Board 2004 –
Efore Plc, Member of the Board 2013 –
EM Group Oy, Member of the Board  
2005 –
Ensto Oy, Member of the Board 2002–

PerTTI erVI 
B.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1957 
Member of the Board since 2009 –
Independent of Teleste and its 
significant shareholders

Principal occupation:
Independent Consultant

Primary working experience:
Computer 2000, Co-President until 2000
Computer 2000 Finland Oy, MD until 
1995

Other elected positions of trust:
Comptel Corporation, Chairman of the 
Board 2012 –
Efecte Oy, Member of the Board 2009 –, 
Chairman of the Board 2011 –
F-Secure Corporation, Member of the 
Board 2003 –, Chairman of the Audit 
Committee 2006 –
Ixonos Plc, Chairman of the Board 2011 –
Nevtor Oy, Chairman of the Board 2008 –

jANNIcA FAGerHOlM
M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1961 
Member of the Board since 2013 –
Independent of Teleste and its  
significant shareholders

Principal occupation:
Signe and Ane Gyllenberg Foundation, 
Managing Director 2010 –

Primary working experience:
SEB Gyllenberg Private Bank,  
Managing Director 1999–2010
Handelsbanken Liv, Country Manager, Life 
Insurance business in Finland 1998–1999
Sampo Group, Investment Director Life 
Insurance 1996–1998
Sampo Group, various posts in Asset  
Management 1990–1996

Other elected positions of trust:
Hanken School of Economics,  
Member of the Board,  
Chair of Investment Committee 2010 –
Eira Hospital, Member of the Board  
2010 –
Sampo plc, Member of the Board 2013 –
Veritas Pension Insurance Company,  
Member of the Board of Supervisors  
2010 –

KAI TelANNe 
M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1964 
Member of the Board since 2008 –
Independent of Teleste and its  
significant shareholders

Principal occupation:
Alma Media Corporation, CEO 2005 –

Primary working experience:
Kustannus Oy Aamulehti, Managing  
Director 2001–2005
Kustannus Oy Aamulehti, Deputy MD 
2000–2001

Other elected positions of trust:
Talentum Oyj, Chairman of the Board 
2011 –
Varma Mutual Pension Insurance  
Company, Member of the Board 2009 –

PeTTerI WAllDéN 
M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1948 
Member of the Board since 2009 –
Independent of Teleste and its  
significant shareholders

Principal occupation:
M.Sc. (Eng.)

Primary working experience:
Alteams Oy, CEO 2007–2010
Onninen Oy, CEO 2001–2005
Ensto Oy, CEO 1996–2001
Nokia Kaapeli Oy, CEO 1990–1996
Sako Oy, CEO 1987–1990

Other elected positions of trust:
Comptel Corporation, Member of the 
Board 2009 –
Kuusakoski Group Oy, Member of the 
Board 2007 –
Mesera Yhtiöt Inc., Member of the Board 
2010 –
Nokia Tyres plc, Chairman of the Board 
2006 –
Tikkurila Oyj, Member of the Board 2008 –

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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HANNO NArjUs 
Video and Broadband Solutions,  
Senior Vice President
M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1962
Joined Teleste in 2006 

Member of the Management Group since 
2007 –

Primary working experience:
Teleste Corporation, Director,  
Sales/Continental Europe 1989–1996
Nokia Corporation, Various managerial 
positions 1996–2006

ANDree KANG 
Network Services, Senior Vice President
Ph.D. (Eng.), born in 1964
Joined Teleste in 2012

Member of the Management Group since 
2012 –

Primary working experience:
Emerson Network Power Germany,  
General Manager Power Products &  
Services  2010–2011
Chloride Poland, President 2009–2011
Masterguard GmbH, Managing Director 
2007–2011

PAsI järVeNPää
Research and Development,  
Senior Vice President
M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1967
Joined Teleste in 1994

Member of the Management Group since 
2013–

MArKUs MATTIlA 
Operations, Senior Vice President
M.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1968
Joined Teleste in 2008

Member of the Management Group since 
2008 –

Primary working experience:
Nokia Mobile Phones/Nokia Corporation, 
Manager and Director positions in Opera-
tions, Logistics and Sourcing 1993–2008

esKO Myllylä 
Strategic Projects, Senior Vice President
B.Sc. (Eng.), born in 1966
Joined Teleste in 1994

Member of the Management Group since 
2006 –

jUKKA rINNeVAArA
President and CEO
M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1961
Joined Teleste in 2002

Primary working experience:
ABB Installaatiot Oy, President 1999–
2001
ABB Building Systems,  
Group Senior Vice President 2001–2002

Other elected positions of trust:
Turku Chamber of Commerce,  
Chairman of the Board 2012 –
Finland Chamber of Commerce,  
Member of the Board 2012 –
Ventilation Holding Finland Oy,  
Member of the Board 2008 –

jOHAN slOTTe 
Deputy CEO
LL.M, EMBA, born in 1959
Joined Teleste in 1999

Member of the Management Group since 
1999 –

Primary working experience:
Uponor Group, various directorial posi-
tions including MD of Uponor Poland 
1989–1999
 

erjA sAArIKOsKI 
CFO
Business school graduate, born in 1953

Member of the Management Group 
2002–2013

Primary working experience:
Teleste 1984–2013

jUHA HyyTIäINeN
CFO as of 1.1.2014
M.Sc. (Econ.), born in 1967 
Joined Teleste in November 2013

Member of the Management Group since 
2013 –

Primary working experience:
OMG Kokkola Chemicals Oy, Financial 
Manager 1994–1998
Ensto Saloplast Oy, Financial Manager 
1998–2000
Nokia Corporation, Business Controller 
and Director positions in Finance and 
Control 2000–2013

MANAGEMENT GROUP
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INFOrMATION 
FOR SHAREHOLDERS

Teleste share
Teleste Corporation is listed on the    
NADAQ OMX Helsinki Oy in the Technology
sector. 

Th e company shares are included in the 
book-entry securities system. Th e company 
has one series of shares. In Annual General 
Meeting each share carries one vote and 
confers an equal right to a dividend.

On 31 December 2013, Teleste’s 
registered share capital stood at EUR 
6,966,932.80 divided in 18,816,691 
shares.

As to the company share price in 2013,
the low was EUR 3.78 (3.04) and the high
EUR 4.47 (4.44). Closing price on 31 De-
cember 2013 stood at EUR 4.25 (4.17).

Trading code  TLT1V
Listed on  30.3.1999
Listing price  8.20 EUR
ISIN code  FI0009007728
Reuter’s ticker symbol  TLT1V.HE
Bloomberg ticker symbol  TLT1VFH

Financial Information 2014:
Th ese publications including the stock
exchange releases are available in Finnish
and English at the company website.

Financial releases in 2014:
Interim Reports
January–March  24.4.2014
January–June  7.8.2014
January–September  30.10.2014
Financial Statement Release  5.2.2015

Publications can be ordered on Teleste’s 
website under Investors’ News service.

changes in shareholders’ contact 
Information
Th e shareholder register is maintained by
Euroclear Finland Oy. Shareholders are 
kindly requested to inform the custodian of 
their book-entry account of any changes in
contact details.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
Teleste Corporation’s Annual General Meet-
ing will be held on Tuesday, 1 April 2014,
commencing at 3 p.m., in Helsinki Hall at
Finlandia Hall in Helsinki, Mannerheimintie 
13. Registration and distribution of voting 
tickets begins at 2 p.m.

Shareholders registered on the list of
shareholders with Euroclear Finland Oy on
Th ursday, 20 March 2014 are entitled to 
participate in the Annual General Meeting.

A shareholder, who wants to partici-
pate in the meeting, shall register no later 
than Tuesday 25 March 2014 at 4 p.m.

sign up to the AGM:
investor.relations@teleste.com,
phone +358 2 2605 611
Monday–Friday between 09:00–16:00 EET
fax +358 2 2605 812,
regular mail:
Teleste Corporation, Tiina Vuorinen,
P.O. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland.

Proposal for Distribution of Dividend
Th e Board of Directors proposes to the 
AGM that, based on the adopted balance
sheet, a dividend of EUR 0.19 per share be
paid for the fi scal year that ended on 31 
December 2013.
Dividend ex date  2.4.2014
Dividend record date  4.4.2014
Payment of dividend  11.4.2014

More information: www.teleste.com/AGM

INFORMATION FOR SHAREHOLDERS

“We at Teleste would like to thank the town of 
Kaarina for receiving this recognition and for their 
business friendly attitude. We are delighted that 
Teleste is perceived in Kaarina as an important and 
attention worthy partner. 

Th e street named after Teleste highlights the lo-
cal importance of our company and also raises our 
profi le abroad,” says johan slotte who proposed 
the change of street name. 

Teleste’s street address changed on 1 July 
2013. Our old familiar address at Seponka-
tu will no longer be used and our new ad-
dress is Telestenkatu 1, 20660 Littoinen. 

Teleste’s business premises and head 
offi  ce have been located in Littoinen since 
1984, and now the town of Kaarina decid-
ed to name a street in recognition of the 
company. It is hoped that the name change 
communicates a sense of Teleste’s tradi-
tional locality and a commitment to the lo-
cal region and its development. 

NeW sTreeT IN HONOUR OF TELESTE 



 

eNABLING DIGItAL

eVoLUtioN

FINANCIAL
StAteMeNtS

2013



RepoRt of the boaRd of diRectoRs 1

coRpoRate fiNaNciaL stateMeNt  4

Statement of comprehensive income  4

Statement of financial position  5

Consolidated cash flow statement  6

Consolidated statement of changes in equity  7

Accounting principles  8

Segment reporting  15

Business combinations acquired  

during 2013 and 2012 17

Notes to the consolidated  

income statement and balance sheet  18

fiNaNciaL stateMeNt of paReNt coMpaNY  37

Income statement  37

Balance sheet  38

Cash flow statement  39

Accounting principles  40

Notes to the parent company’s  

income statement and balance sheet  41

Proposal for the distribution of earnings  46

Auditor’s report  47

Corporate governance statement  48

Key figures  52

Calculation of key figures  53

Shares and shareholders  54

CoNteNt

fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   1 



Founded in 1954, teleste is an international technology company 
that develops and offers video and broadband technologies and 
related services. our core business is video – image and data 
processing, transfer and management. our business is divided 
into two divisions, which are Video and Broadband Solutions and 
Network Services.

Net saLes aNd pRofitabiLitY  
Net sales decreased by 0.6% to eUR 192.8 (193.9) million. This 
decline in net sales over the previous year was caused by the 
lower level of the services business in the first half of the year. 
operating profit equaled eUR 11.0 (10.9) million. operating profit 
of the comparative period includes a sale of a real estate and a 
reserve reversal of an additional purchase price related to a busi-
ness acquisition totaling eUR 1.2 million. taxes amounted to eUR 
2.5 (3.4) million and the tax rate was 23.6% (33.7%). This decrease 
in tax rate was contributed by changes in the Group structure that 
enabled establishing a tax group for German subsidiaries and 
shifts in business priorities between the two countries. Undiluted 
earning per share increased by 21.9% to eUR 0.47 (0.38). orders 
received totaled eUR 188.9 (189.7) million. At the year-end, the 
order backlog stood at eUR 13.1 (17.0) million. 

bUsiNess aReas  

Video aNd bRoadbaNd soLUtioNs  
This business area focuses on broadband access networks, video 
services platforms and CCtV applications. The core clientele of 
the business area consists of cable operators but includes also 
resellers and public sector organizations. The main market of the 
business area is europe. 

The business area has 27 offices of its own and a number of 
retail and integration partners. outside europe, Video and Broad-
band Solutions has subsidiaries and offices in the United States, 
Australia, China, India, and in the United Arab emirates. 

orders received totaled eUR 97.8 (97.7) million. Net sales 
amounted to eUR 101.7 (101.2) million. operating profit increased 
by 11.3% to eUR 9.5 (8.5) million, representing 9.3% (8.4%) of net 
sales. This profit performance was affected particularly by increased 
deliveries of video surveillance solutions and improved profitability 
of the IP headend business. Product development expenses 
equaled eUR 10.0 (11.2) million, in other words 9.8% (11.2%) of 
net sales. The most significant R&D investments focused on the 
next generation innovative broadband solution Data Access HUB, 
the future access network solutions Docsis 3.1, and the video sur-
veillance software development S-VMX. Capitalized R&D expenses 
stood at eUR 1.4 (0.8) million while depreciation on product devel-
opment capitalizations equaled eUR 1.8 (2.0) million.

NetwoRk seRVices  
The clientele of teleste’s Network Services business area mainly 
consists of large european cable operators. The services provided 
by this business area include planning, new construction, upgrad-

ing and maintenance of cable networks. Implementation and 
scope of the relevant services vary by client ranging from stan-
dalone applications to integrated turnkey deliveries. Most deliver-
ies are based on frame agreements. The services also include 
teleste’s own product solutions. our know-how in services cov-
ers all the sectors related to the cable network technology from 
the installation and maintenance of headends to upgrading of 
house networks. Services are also provided through a network of 
subcontractors. 

orders received totaled eUR 91.1 (91.9) million. Net sales 
decreased by 1.7% to eUR 91.1 (92.6) million. This decline in 
sales over the previous year was due to a decrease in invoicing in 
the German fiber-optic projects. operating profit stood at eUR 
1.6 (2.4) million making 1.7% (2.6%) of net sales. This year-on-
year weakening of operating result was due to low sales and high 
human resources in relation to demand in the first half of the year. 
Adjustment of the resources was successfully completed by the 
beginning of the second half of the year, with the result that in 
the last quarter the business profitability rose to a good level. 

iNVestMeNts
Investments by the Group for the period under review totaled 
eUR 6.3 (3.3) million accounting for 3.3% (1.7%) of net sales. 
eUR 3.5 million of these investments involved the acquisition of 
Asheridge. Investments in product development equaled eUR 
1.4 (0.8) million. other investments involved information systems 
and machines as well as equipment. Investments of eUR 0.1 
(0.8) million were made under financial lease arrangements.

fiNaNciNg aNd capitaL stRUctURe  
operating cash flow stood at eUR 10.0 (15.3) million. This reduc-
tion in cash flows from operating activities was caused by a 
decrease in trade and other payables. At the end of the period 
under review, the amount of unused binding stand-by credits 
amounted to eUR 17.0 (19.0) million. The credit limits are valid 
until August 2015.

The Group’s equity ratio equaled 52.7% (50.5%) and net gear-
ing 13.8% (13.7%). Interest bearing debt on 31 December 2013 
stood at eUR 24.3 (22.1) million. 

peRsoNNeL aNd oRgaNizatioN
In the period under review, the average number of people employed 
by the Group was 1,306 people (1,326/2012, 1,297/2011); of these 
559 (567) were employed by Video and Broadband Solutions, and 
747 (759) by Network Services. At the end of the review period, the 
Group employed 1,261 people (1,325/2012, 1,319/2011) of whom 
71% (73%/2012, 72%/2011) were stationed abroad. Approximately 
3% of the Group’s employees were working outside europe. 

Wages, salaries and social expenses decreased by 2.7% over 
the previous year and amounted to eUR 56.9 (58.5/2012, 
54.6/2011) million. This reduction in personnel costs was primar-
ily due to a decrease in incentive expenses and a decline in head-
count. This decrease in costs was also contributed by the partial 
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temporary lay-off of the personnel in Finnish operations in the 
first quarter. In the first quarter, the number of German services 
operations personnel was reduced in line with customer´s service 
demand. This reduction was 85 people. 

In January 2014, temporary lay-offs were initiated involving 
operations unit personnel. Average length of these lay-offs is 
three weeks, and they will be implemented before the end of the 
first quarter. These temporary lay-offs were launched within the 
framework agreed earlier in the co-determination negotiations.

eNViRoNMeNtaL factoRs
We at teleste understand environmental protection as a choice 
supporting our strategy and risk management, which is in line with 
our economic and qualitative objectives. teleste has been awarded 
ISo 14001:2004 environmental Management System Certificate, 
which provides the basis for our operational development in 
accordance with the principles of continuous improvement.

The greatest environmental impact is brought about by their 
consumption of energy when used, as well as their space and 
cooling requirements. teleste’s products consist mainly of recy-
clable materials. Cable network equipment and video surveillance 
systems are relatively long-lasting, serviceable and upgradeable, 
so their useful lives can be further extended.

environmental effects as a result of teleste’s operation arise 
from generation of waste, energy consumption, material logistics 
and business travel. environmental load during development and 
manufacturing of software products and equipment is relatively 
low. our production is based on the assembly of printed circuit 
boards and electronic equipment giving no rise to significant dis-
charges. In 2013, teleste’s operations unit received the Lean 
Achievement of the Year Award from the Lean Association of 
Finland in recognition for the unit’s long-term comprehensive 
development of production and manufacturing techniques.

As to teleste’s services business, the main source of environ-
mental pollution is the Co2 emissions produced by installation 
and maintenance runs. to reduce its carbon footprint, when it 
comes to the selection of new maintenance vehicles, teleste 
pays attention to their C02 emissions, as well as to the route 
optimization enabled by the fault location feature of the new 
intelligent network solutions. Moreover, installation and packag-
ing materials are recycled in cooperation with local operators.

teleste wants to make sure that the used materials come 
from ethically and environmentally responsible sources. to 
improve our understanding of the legal trade in natural resources 
and sustainable supply chains, we have joined a 3rd party service, 
which monitors the origins of raw materials used in standard 
components (Conflict minerals, 3tG).

gRoUp stRUctURe
Parent company teleste has branch offices in Australia, the Neth-
erlands, and Denmark with subsidiaries in 14 countries outside 
Finland. In April 2013, teleste Management oy became a Group 
company through exchange of shares. teleste Management II oy, 
founded in December 2011, has been consolidated in the teleste 
Group figures on account of financial arrangements. Suomen tur-
vakamera oy has been merged with teleste Corporation on 30 
April 2013. In Germany, the group structure has been stream-
lined. In Sweden, PromaCom AB has been merged with teleste 
Sweden AB. Asheridge Group has been consolidated with the 
Group figures as of 7 April 2013.

keY Risks faced bY the bUsiNess aReas  
Founded in 1954, teleste is a technology and services company 
consisting of two business areas: Video and Broadband Solutions 
and Network Services. 

With europe as the main market area, our clients include euro-
pean cable operators and specified organizations in the public sector. 

As to Video and Broadband Solutions, client-specific and inte-
grated deliveries of solutions create favorable conditions for 
growth, even if the involved resource allocation and technical 
implementation pose a challenge involving, therefore, also rea-
sonable risks. our customers’ network investments vary based 
on the relevant need for upgrading and their financial structure. 
Significant part of teleste’s competition comes from the USA so 
the exchange rate of euro up against the US dollar affects our 
competitiveness. The exchange rate development of the Chinese 
renminbi to euro affects our material costs. 

The company hedges against short-term currency exposure by 
means of forward contracts. The situation in the european finan-
cial markets may slow down our customers’ investment plans. 
Furthermore, a weakening in the consumer purchasing power in 
europe could slow down the network investments by the cable 
operators. Competition increased by the new service providers 
(ott) may undermine the cable operators’ ability to invest. 

Availability of components is subject to natural phenomena, 
such as floods and earthquakes. Severe weather conditions have 
an impact on the business areas’ ability to deliver their products 
and services. Correct technological choices and their timing are 
vital for our success.

Net sales of Network Services comes, for the most part, from 
a small number of large european customers, so a significant 
change in the demand for our services by any one of them is 
reflected in the actual deliveries and profitability. to ensure quality 
of services and cost-efficiency along with efficient service process 
management, customer satisfaction and improvements in produc-
tivity require innovative solutions in terms of processes, products 
and logistics. Smooth operation of cable networks requires effec-
tive technical management and functional hardware solutions in 
accordance with contractual obligations. This, in turn, demands 
continuous and determined development of skills and competen-
cies in teleste’s own personnel as well as those of our subcontrac-
tors. In addition, our ability to deliver and compete may be con-
strained by the adequacy of our sub-contractor network capacity. 
tender calculation and management of larger projects with overall 
responsibility are complex and include risks. 

It is important for our business areas to take into account any 
market developments such as consolidations taking place among 
the clientele and competition. The threats to information systems 
must be minimized to ensure business continuity. The Board of 
Directors annually reviews any essential risks related to the com-
pany operation and their management. Risk management is an 
integral part of the strategic and operational activities of the busi-
ness areas. Risks are reported to the Board on a regular basis. 

The company has covered any major risks of loss involving the 
business areas through insurance policies. Insurance will also 
cover credit loss risks related to sales receivables. In the period 
under review, no such legal proceedings or judicial procedures 
were pending that would have had any essential significance for 
the Group operation.

decisioNs bY the aNNUaL geNeRaL MeetiNg 
on 12 April 2013, the Annual General Meeting (AGM) of teleste 
Corporation confirmed the financial statements for 2012 and dis-
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charged the Board of Directors and the Ceo from liability for the 
financial period. The AGM confirmed the dividend of eUR 0.17 per 
share proposed by the Board. The dividend was paid out on 24 
April 2013.

Ms. Marjo Miettinen, Mr. Pertti ervi, Mr. esa Harju, Mr. Kai  
telanne and Mr. Petteri Walldén continue in teleste’s Board of Direc-
tors. Ms. Jannica Fagerholm was elected new member of the Board 
of Directors. Mr. Pertti Raatikainen’s membership of the Board of 
Directors ended. Ms. Marjo Miettinen was elected Chair of the Board 
in the organizational meeting held immediately after the AGM. 

Authorized Public Accountants KPMG oy Ab continues as the 
auditor until the next AGM. Mr. esa Kailiala, accountant author-
ized by the Central Chamber of Commerce of Finland, was chosen 
auditor-in-charge.

Valid authorizations granted by the AGM:
•	 Authorization to purchase treasury shares: 1,400,000 
•	 Disposal of own shares: 1,779,985, valid until the 2014 

Annual General Meeting
•	 Issue of new shares: 5,000,000, valid until the 2014 Annual 

General Meeting
•	 Pursuant to the special rights granted by the company, the 

maximum number of shares is 2,500,000; these special 
rights are included in the authorization to issue 5,000,000 
new shares.

shaRes aNd chaNges iN shaRe capitaL
on 31 December 2013, eM Group oy was the largest single 
shareholder with a holding of 23.44%.

In the period under review, the lowest company share price 
was eUR 3.78 (3.04) and the highest was eUR 4.47 (4.44). Clos-
ing price on 31 December 2013 stood at eUR 4.25 (4.17). Accord-
ing to euroclear Finland Ltd the number of shareholders at the 
end of the period under review was 5,087 (5,182). Foreign owner-
ship accounted for 5.1% (5.8%). From 1 January to 31 December 
2013, trading with teleste share at NASDAQ oMX Helsinki 
amounted to eUR 9.2 (10.8) million. In the period under review, 
2.2 (2.7) million teleste shares were traded on the stock exchange.

on 31 December 2013, the registered share capital of tel-
este stood at eUR 6,966,932.80 divided in 18,816,691 shares.

on 31 December 2013, the Group held 1,189,654 (1,302,985) 
of its own shares, of which the parent company teleste Corpora-
tion had 266,654 shares while the Group and controlled compa-
nies had 923,000 shares, respectively. At the end of the period, 
the Group’s holding of the total amount of shares amounted to 
6.32% (6.96%). 

In the period under review, 113,331 treasury shares were 
conveyed. This conveyance was related to the acquisition of the 
share capital of the top management holding company teleste 
Management oy, which was carried out through a share exchange. 
Value of the consideration was eUR 4.08 per share. At the time 
this exchange of shares was realized, teleste Management oy 
held 381,000 teleste Corporation shares, accounting for 2.02% 
of the number of shares at end of the period. 

The period for subscription of teleste 2007B options expired 
on 30 April 2013. No teleste Corporation shares were subscribed 
by the specified options in the subscription period. During the 
financial year, 88,101 shares were subscribed with teleste 2007C 
options. Up until 30 April 2014, 2007C options allow for sub-
scription of maximum 280,000 teleste Corporation shares. tel-
este 2007C options have been listed on NASDAQ oMX Helsinki 
oy since 2 April 2012.  

owNeRship bY MaNageMeNt aNd MeMbeRs of the 
goVeRNiNg bodies oN 31 deceMbeR 2013  
on the balance sheet date, Ceo and the Members of the Board 
owned 111,079 (71,637) teleste Corporation shares equaling to 
0.59% (0.38%) of all shares and votes. The President and Ceo 
and the members of the Board had no subscription rights based 
on stock options. on the balance sheet date, Ceo together with 
other members of the Management Group owned 23,242 tel-
este Corporation shares equaling to 0.12% (0.00%) of all shares 
and votes. 

on 31 December 2013, teleste Management II oy (a com-
pany incorporated for the management incentive scheme) was in 
the possession of 542,000 (542,000) teleste Corporation shares. 
of the teleste Management II oy shares the Ceo owns 31.25% 
while the others have a holding of 68.75%, respectively. 

teleste Corporation complies with the Corporate Governance 
Code, effective as of 1 october 2010 and issued by the Securities 
Market Association for the Finnish listed companies. The Corpo-
rate Governance Statement will be issued separately from the 
Company’s Annual Report, and it will be available on teleste’s 
website under Investors. Since 1 March 2000, teleste complies 
with the insider guidelines issued by the Board of Directors of the 
NASDAQ oMX Helsinki oy in their valid form at any given time. 

oUtLook foR 2014
Video and Broadband Solutions aim at maintaining a strong mar-
ket position in europe and expand into selected new markets. 
Network capacity will continue to increase driven by the new 
broadband and video services provided by the operators. Limited 
product offering of the new Docsis 3.1 communications standard 
may delay the network investments in the beginning of the year. 
Price erosion in the market continues. The positive trend in the 
video surveillance market will continue, but the public sector deci-
sions to start projects may be delayed in the current economic 
climate. We estimate the market for Video and Broadband Solu-
tions to fluctuate greatly during the year and the demand to be 
emphasized on the second half of the year. 

The business objective of Network Services is to develop the 
operational efficiency and give up any unprofitable services activi-
ties during the year. These measures will be taken to create condi-
tions for better business profitability over the reference year, but 
these will have a slight reducing effect on net sales. We estimate 
the demand for comprehensive network services in our key target 
markets to continue at par with the comparative year.

We estimate net sales and operating profit for the first half of 
2014 to fall clearly from the comparative period. Due to this, we 
estimate that net sales and operating profit for the full year of 
2014 will not reach the 2013 level.

pRoposaL foR the distRibUtioN of eaRNiNgs  
The parent company’s distributable equity as of 31 December 
2013 stood at eUR 46,410,554.44. 

As to the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 1 April 2014, 
the Board proposes that a dividend of eUR 0.19 (0.17) per share 
be paid for the outstanding shares for the year 2013. 

Signatories to the Annual Report and Financial Statements
5 February 2014

teleste Corporation Jukka Rinnevaara
Board of Directors  Ceo
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stateMeNt of coMpReheNsiVe iNcoMe

1,000 € Note 1.1. - 31.12.2013 1.1. - 31.12.2012 Change %

Net sales 1 192,775 193,875 -0.6

other operating income 2 840 1,150 -27.0

Material and services -94,456 -94,747 -0.3

employee benefits expense 3 -56,949 -58,511 -2.7

Depreciation and amortisation 4 -4,628 -5,078 -8.9

other operating expenses 5 -26,536 -25,753 3.0

operating profit 11,047 10,936 1.0

Financial income 6 162 328 -50.8

Financial expenses 7 -548 -1,150 -52.3

profit before taxes 10,660 10,115 5.4

Income tax expense 8 -2,513 -3,412 -26.3

pRofit foR the fiNaNciaL peRiod 8,147 6 703 21.6

Attributable to: 9

equity holders of the parent 8,147 6 703 21.6

earnings per share for profit of the year attributable

 to the equity holders of the parent (expressed in € per share):

laimentamaton osakekohtainen tulos, euroa 0.47 0.38 21.9

laimennusvaikutuksella oikaistu osakekohtainen tulos, euroa 0.46 0.38 21.8

total comprehensive income for the period (teUR)

Net profit 8,147 6 703 21.6

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

translation differences -559 631 n/a

Fair value reserve 16 144 -88.9

total comprehensive income for the period 7,604 7 478 1.7

Attributable to:

equity holders of the parent 7,604 7 478 1.7
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gRoUp fiNaNciaL stateMeNts, ifRs

stateMeNt of fiNaNciaL positioN 

1,000 € Note 31.12.2013 31.12.2012 Change %

assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 10,499 10,127 3.7

Goodwill 11 33,252 31,350 6.1

other intangible assets 11 4,448 4,174 6.6

Available-for-sale investments 12 294 294 0.0

Deferred tax assets 13 2,002 2,086 -4.0

50,494 48,031 5.1

current assets

Inventories 14 19,762 19,495 1.4

trade and other receivables 15 38,537 38,524 0.0

tax receivables 15 307 287 7.0

Cash and cash equivalents 16 15,229 13,880 9.7

73,835 72,186 2.3

total assets 124,329 120,217 3.4

eQUitY aNd LiabiLities

equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

Share capital 17 6,967 6,967 0.0

Share premium 17 1,504 1,504 0.0

translation differences 126 685 -81.6

Fair value reserve and other reserves 3,451 2,715 27.1

Retained earnings 53,079 48,008 10.6

equity holders of the parent company 65,127 59,879 8.8

Share of non controlling interest 425 678 -37.3

total equity 65,552 60,557 8.2

Non-current liabilities   

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 470 788 -40.3

other liabilities 2,414 22 10 870.5

Deferred tax liabilities 13 1,293 1,297 -0.3

Provisions 19 634 503 26.1

4,810 2,610 84.3

current liabilities

trade and other payables 20 28,130 32,612 -13.7

Current tax payable 21 1,206 2,075 -41.9

Provisions 19 832 1,004 -17.1

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 23,799 21,360 11.4

53,967 57,050 -5.4

total liabilities 58,777 59,660 -1.5

total equity and liabilities 124,329 120,217 3.4

 4   teLeste, eNabLiNg digitaL eVoLUtioN fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   5 



coNsoLidated cash fLow stateMeNt   

1,000 € Note 1.1. - 31.12.2013 1.1. - 31.12.2012

cash flows from operating activities

Profit for the period 8,147 6,703

Adjustments for:

Non-cash transactions 23 4,711 4,877

Interest and other financial expenses 548 1,150

Interest income -162 -326

Dividend income -2 -2

Income tax expense 2,513 3,412

Changes in working capital and provisions  

Increase in trade and other receivables 1,113 5,802

Increase in inventories 600 4,580

Increase in trade and other payables -3,660 -5,901

Decrease in provisions -41 -309

Paid interests and dividends -565 -726

Received interests and dividends 162 328

Paid taxes -3,402 -4,290

Net cash from operating activities   9,961 15,297

cash flows from investing activities   

Supplementary contract price for earlier acquisition -2,585 -828

Purchases of property, plant and equipment (PPe) -1,180 -1,609

Proceeds from sales of PPe 0 499

Purchases of intangible assets -1,442 -844

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired -965 0

Net cash used in investing activities   -6,172 -2,782

cash flows from financing activities   

Proceeds from borrowings 5,000 0

Repayments of borrowings -3,809 -11,500

Payment of finance lease liabilities -369 -321

Dividends paid -2,962 -2,440

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares 270 0

Net cash used in financing activities   -1,870 -14,261

change in cash   

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 13,880 15,404

effect of currency changes -571 221

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 15,229 13,880
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gRoUp fiNaNciaL stateMeNts, ifRs

coNsoLidated stateMeNt of chaNges iN eQUitY

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

1,000 €
Share 

capital
Share 

premium

transla-
tion 

differ-
ences

Retained 
earnings

Invested 
non-

restricted 
equity

other 
reserves total

Non control-
ling interest

total 
equity

at 1 January 2012 6,967 1,504 54 43,559 2,737 -166 54,655 623 55,278

total comprehensive income for the period 631 6,703 144 7,478 0 7,478

total recognised income and expense for the 
year 0 0 631 6,703 0 144 7,478 0 7,478

Dividends -2,569 -2,569 129 -2,440

Changes in non controlling interest 74 0 74 -74 0

equity-settled share-based payments 240 0 240 240

0 0 0 -2,255 0 0 -2,255 55 -2,200

at 31 december 2012  6,967 1,504 685 48,007 2,737 -22 59,878 678 60,557

total comprehensive income for the period -559 8,147 16 7,604 0 7,604

total recognised income and expense for the 
year 0 0 -559 8,147 16 7,604 0 7,604

Dividends -3,119 -3,119 157 -2,962

Changes in non controlling interest 43 43 -43 0

excercised share options 270 270 270

equity-settled share-based payments 0 450 450 -367 83

0 0 0 -3,076 720 0 -2,356 -253 -2,609

at 31 december 2013 6,967 1,504 126 53,079 3,457 -6 65,127 425 65,552
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ACCoUNtING PRINCIPLeS 

coMpaNY pRofiLe
teleste Corporation (the”Company”) is a Finnish public limited lia-
bility company organised under the laws of Finland and domiciled 
in turku in Finland. Its registered address is telestenkatu 1, 
20660 Littoinen.

Founded in 1954 teleste is a technology company running its 
two business units Video and Broadband Solutions and  Network 
Services; in both fields, we are among the global leaders. Video is 
at  the core of our business activities, with a focus on the pro-
cessing, transmission and management of video and data for 
operators and public authorities who provide multiple video-
related information, entertainment and security services to end-
users. Video and Broadband Solutions business segment  has the 
emphasis on product solutions for broadband access networks, 
video service platforms and video surveillance applications. Net-
work Services segment deliver comprehensive network service 
solutions including new construction, rebuilding, upgrading, plan-
ning and maintenance services of cable networks. The parent 
company of teleste Group, teleste Corporation, has operations in 
Australia, China, Denmark,  the Netherlands and a subsidiary in 
fourteen countries outside Finland. teleste Corporation has been 
listed on the Helsinki Stock exchange since 1999.

A copy of the consolidated financial statements can be 
obtained either from teleste’s website www.teleste.com or from 
the parent company’s head office, the address of which is men-
tioned above.

stateMeNt of coMpLiaNce
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in force 
as at 31 December 2013. International financial reporting stand-
ards, referred to in the Finnish Accounting Act and in ordinances 
issued based on the provisions of this Act, refer to the standards 
and their interpretations adopted in accordance with the proce-
dure laid down in regulation (eC) No 1606/2002 of the eU. The 
notes to the consolidated financial statements also include addi-
tional information in accordance with the Finnish accounting and 
company legislation.

teleste adopted IFRSs as from 1 January 2005. Prior to 
IFRSs teleste’s financial statements were based on Finnish 
accounting standards (FAS) applicable to listed companies in Fin-
land. IFRS 1 First-time adoption of IFRS was applied in the transi-
tion. teleste’s date of transition to IFRSs was 1 January 2004. 

The Group has applied as from 1 January 2013 the following 
new and amended standards that have come into effect. These 
had no significant impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments for the financial year 2013.
•	 Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: 

The major change is the requirement to group items of other 
comprehensive income as to whether or not they will be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss when specific 
conditions are met. The amendments have only had an 
impact on the presentation of teleste’s other comprehensive 
income.

•	 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement: IFRS 13 establishes a 
single source for all fair value measurements and disclosure 
requirements for use across IFRSs. The new standard also 
provides a precise definition of fair value. IFRS 13 does not 
extend the use of fair value accounting, but it provides guid-
ance on how to measure fair value under IFRSs when fair 
value is required or permitted. IFRS 13 has expanded some 
notes to teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2009–2011 (May 2012): The 
annual improvements process provides a mechanism for 
minor and non-urgent amendments to IFRSs to be grouped 
together and issued in one package annually. The amend-
ments cover in total five standards. Their impact has not 
been significant.

•	 Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: 
The amendments clarify disclosure requirements for financial 
assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of 
financial position or subject to master netting arrangements 
or similar agreements. 

The amended standard has not had a significant impact on 
teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

basis of pRepaRatioN
The consolidated financial statements are presented in thou-
sands of euro (teUR) and have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, unless otherwise stated in the accounting princi-
ples.

Use of estiMates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the contents of the financial statements as well as use 
judgement when applying accounting principles. The estimates 
and assumptions are based on the management’s current best 
knowledge reflecting historical experience and other reasonable 
assumptions. Actual results may differ from these estimates. 
Accounting estimates mainly relate to goodwill, obsolete invento-
ries, credit losses and warranty provisions. The chapter “Account-
ing policies requiring management’s judgement and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty” discusses judgements made by man-
agement and those financial statement items on which judge-
ments have a significant effect.

sUbsidiaRies
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the 
parent company teleste Corporation and all those subsidiaries in 
which it holds, directly or indirectly, over 50 per cent of the voting 
rights or in which it otherwise has control (together referred to as 
“Group” or “teleste”). Control exists when the Group has the 
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 
so as to obtain benefits from its activities. The companies 
acquired during the financial periods presented have been con-
solidated from the date of acquisition, when control commenced. 
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The companies disposed during a financial period are included in 
the consolidated financial statements up to the date of disposal.

associates
Associates included in the consolidated financial statements are 
those entities in which teleste Group holds voting rights over 20 
per cent or in which it otherwise has significant influence, but not 
control, over the financial and operating policies. Holdings in asso-
ciates are accounted for using the equity method from the date 
that significant influence commences until the date that signifi-
cant influence ceases. The Group’s proportionate share of associ-
ates’ net income for the financial year is presented as a separate 
line item in the consolidated income statement. The unrealised 
profits between the Group and associates are eliminated in pro-
portion to share ownership. The carrying amount of an invest-
ment in an associate includes the carrying amount of goodwill 
resulted from its acquisition. When teleste’s share in an associ-
ate’s losses exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group’s car-
rying amount is reduced to nil and recognition of further losses is 
discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred 
obligations in respect of the associate or made payments on 
behalf of the associate. At the end of the reporting period the 
Group had no investments in associates.

JoiNt VeNtURes
Joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group 
has joint control, established by contractual agreement. The con-
solidated financial statements include the Group’s proportionate 
share of the joint ventures’ assets, liabilities, revenue and 
expenses on a line by line basis, from the date that joint control 
commences until the date that joint control ceases. At the end of 
the reporting period the Group had no interests in joint ventures.

pRiNcipLes of coNsoLidatioN
Acquisitions of companies are accounted for by using the pur-
chase method. All intercompany income and expenses, receiva-
bles, liabilities and unrealised profits arising from intercompany 
transactions, as well as distribution of profits within the Group 
are eliminated as part of the consolidation process. The allocation 
of the profit for the period attributable to equity holders of the 
parent company and  non-controlling interest is presented on the 
face of the income statement and the non-controlling interest is 
also  disclosed in the statement of comprehensive income. Non-
controlling interests are disclosed separately under consolidated 
total equity. 

fiNaNciaL stateMeNts of foReigN sUbsidiaRies
The functional currency of the parent company is euro and the 
consolidated financial statements are presented in euro. The 
functional currency is the currency that best reflects the economic 
substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant 
to that entity. In preparing the consolidated financial statements 
income statements and cash flows of those foreign subsidiaries 
whose functional and presentation currency are not the euro, are 
translated into euro at the average exchange rate during the 
financial period. Their balance sheets are translated at the closing 
rate at the balance sheet date. 

All translation differences arising from consolidation of for-
eign shareholdings are recognised as a separate item in the com-
prehensive income. If an interest in a foreign entity is disposed of 
all, or part of, that entity, related cumulative translation differ-

ences deferred in equity are recognised in the income statement 
as part of the gain or loss on sale.

foReigN cURReNcY tRaNsactioNs
transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end 
of the accounting period, foreign currency monetary balances are 
translated at the closing rate at the balance sheet date. Non-
monetary items stated at fair value in a foreign currency are 
translated at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair 
value was determined. other non-monetary items are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Gains and 
losses resulting from transactions in foreign currencies and trans-
lation of monetary items are recognised in the income statement. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses on trade receivables and paya-
bles are adjusted to revenues and operating expenses, respec-
tively. other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented as 
financial income and expenses.

pRopeRtY, pLaNt aNd eQUipMeNt
Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical 
cost less cumulative depreciation and any impairment losses. 
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have 
different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items of 
property, plant and equipment. Interest costs which are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or manufacturing of 
an asset that meets the determined criteria, in which case they 
are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. ordinary mainte-
nance, repairs and renewals are expensed during the financial 
period in which they are incurred. In teleste there are no such 
significant inspection or maintenance costs that should be capi-
talised. The Group recognises in the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment the subsequent costs when that 
cost is incurred if it is probable that future economic benefits in 
excess of the originally assessed standard of performance of the 
existing asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. Such renewals and repairs are depreciated 
on a systematic basis over the remaining useful life of the related 
asset. Gains and losses on sales and disposals are calculated as 
a difference between the received proceeds and the carrying 
amount and are included in other operating income and expenses, 
respectively.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of 
an item of property, plant and equipment. expected useful lives 
and residual values of non-current assets are reassessed at each 
balance sheet date and where they differ from previous esti-
mates, depreciation periods are changed accordingly. The esti-
mated useful lives are as follows:
•	 Buildings   25–33 years
•	 Machinery and equipment 3–5 years
•	 Computers   0–3 years
•	 Software   3 years
•	 Land is not depreciated

Leases
group as lessee
Leases of property, plant and equipment where substantially all 
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership have been trans-
ferred to the Group are classified as finance leases. These assets 
are capitalised and are stated at an amount equal to the lower of 
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their fair value and the present value of the minimum lease pay-
ments at inception of the lease less cumulative depreciation and 
any impairment losses. The associated lease liabilities are included 
in interest-bearing liabilities in accordance with their maturity.

These assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated 
as comparable owned assets over the shorter of the useful lives 
disclosed above for property, plant and equipment or lease period 
and are adjusted for impairment charges, if any. Lease payments 
are apportioned between the reduction of the outstanding lease 
liability and finance charge. In respect of finance leases, the 
depreciation on the leased assets and the financial charge on the 
lease liability are shown in the income statement. The financial 
charge is allocated to the income statement so as to achieve a 
constant interest rate on the outstanding liability during the lease 
term.

An operating lease is a lease of property, plant and equipment 
where the lessor retains significant risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership. Payments made thereunder are charged to the 
income statement as rental expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.

group as lessor
Those leases under which teleste is a lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Leased assets are presented in the lessor’s bal-
ance sheet under property, plant and equipment according to the 
nature of the asset. They are depreciated over their estimated 
useful lives in accordance with the depreciation policy used for 
comparable assets in own use. Lease income is recognised in the 
income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

iNtaNgibLe assets
An intangible asset is recognised only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will 
flow to the Group and if the cost of the asset can be measured 
reliably. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

goodwill
Goodwill represents the Group’s share of difference between the 
cost of the acquisition and the fair value measured at the acquisi-
tion date of the net identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities acquired. The difference is first allocated, where applica-
ble, to the underlying assets. The rest of the excess is presented 
as goodwill as a separate item in the consolidated balance sheet. 
Goodwill has been allocated to segments and in respect of asso-
ciates, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment in the associate. Goodwill is stated at 
cost less any cumulative impairment losses. Goodwill (together 
with other intangible assets with indefinite lives) is not amortised 
but is tested annually for impairment. Consequently goodwill was 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the expected useful life 
until 31 December 2003, after which the amortisation was dis-
continued.

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are expensed as they are 
incurred, except for certain development costs, which are capital-
ised when certain criteria are met. Significant future product plat-
forms for which the potential demand and future cash flows can 
be estimated with sufficient degree of accuracy have been capi-
talised as intangible assets. Amortisation of such capitalised 
development projects is commenced after the completion of the 

subprojects related to the product platform concerned. They are 
amortised on a systematic basis over their expected useful life, 
which is three years.

other intangible assets
other intangible assets of the Group mainly consist of connection 
fees and these are not amortised.

Those intangible assets which have estimated useful lives are 
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their known or estimated 
useful lives.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:
•	 Customer relationships 2–4 years
•	 trademarks 5–10 years
•	 technology 3–5 years

NoN-cURReNt assets heLd foR saLe aNd 
discoNtiNUed opeRatioNs
A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held for 
sale when its carrying amount will be recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. It is meas-
ured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Such assets and associated liabilities are presented sepa-
rately in the balance sheet. Assets held for sale are not depreci-
ated (or amortised) after the classification as held for sale.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s busi-
ness that represents a separate major line of business or a geo-
graphical area of operations or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively 
with a view to resale. The result of discontinued operations is 
presented separately on the face of the consolidated income 
statement.

iMpaiRMeNt
The carrying amounts of assets are assessed for potential impair-
ment at each balance sheet date and whenever there is any indi-
cation that an asset may be impaired. For the purposes of assess-
ing impairment, assets are grouped at the cash generating unit 
level, which is the lowest level for which there are separately iden-
tifiable, mainly independent, cash inflows and outflows. Goodwill, 
unfinished intangible assets and intangible assets with indefinite 
useful lives, if any, are in all cases tested annually. All goodwill 
items of the Group have been allocated to segments. If there is 
an indication of an impairment, the Group estimates the recover-
able amount of the asset or cash generating unit. When the 
recoverable amount of the asset or cash generating unit is lower 
than the carrying amount, the difference is immediately recog-
nised as an impairment loss in the income statement. If the 
impairment loss is to be allocated for a cash-generating unit, it is 
allocated first by writing down any goodwill and then on pro rata 
basis to other assets of the unit.

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash 
generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell or value in use. tel-
este has applied value in use in its calculations in which case the 
estimated future net cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset or cash generating unit are discounted to their present 
value. expenditures to improve assets’ performance, investments 
or future restructurings are excluded from the cash flow esti-
mates.

An impairment loss relating to property, plant and equipment 
and other intangible assets excluding goodwill is reversed if there 
is an indication that the impairment loss may no longer exist and 
there has been a positive change in the estimates used to deter-
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mine the recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit. 
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
However, an impairment loss in respect of goodwill is never 
reversed.

iNVeNtoRies
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Cost is assigned by using the first-in, first-out (FIFo) method. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. The cost of 
inventories comprises all direct costs incurred in acquiring the 
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condi-
tion. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in pro-
gress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on 
normal operating capacity.

fiNaNciaL assets aNd LiabiLities
In teleste  hedge accounting as defined under IAS 39 is  applied 
only for interest swap contracts for specific loans

Financial assets are classified into categories as follows: 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-matu-
rity assets, loans or receivables (assets) and available-for-sale 
assets. Financial assets are classified when initially acquired 
based on their purpose of use. In the case of a financial asset not 
measured at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
are included in the acquisition cost. Fair value is the amount for 
which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. All 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised or derecog-
nised using trade date accounting.

A financial asset is derecognised when the Group has lost its 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset or 
when it has transferred substantially all the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial asset to an external party.

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss                           
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are either 
classified as held for trading, or they are designated by the 
Group as at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 
recognition. A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it 
is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of short-term 
profittaking from changes in market prices or it is a derivative 
that does not qualify for hedge accounting.  Financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised on 
the balance sheet using trade date accounting. They are 
measured at their fair values, which is the bid price at the 
balance sheet date based on published price quotations in an 
active market. Both financial assets held for trading and other 
financial assets maturing in 12 months after the balance sheet 
date are included in the current assets. A gain or loss arising 
from a change in the fair value, realised or unrealised, is 
recognised in the income statement as incurred.

derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivatives, including embedded derivatives, are included in the 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. They are recog-
nised on the balance sheet at cost, equivalent to the fair value, 

and are subsequently fair valued at each balance sheet date. The 
Group uses forward exchange agreements and the Group’s hedg-
ing policy is to cover all material currency risks at least six months 
ahead. Hedge accounting is applied for interest swap contracts 
hedging the interest risk for specific loans. Changes in fair value of 
instruments designated as hedging instruments are recognised in 
profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value 
are included in operating profit unless the hedged item relates to 
financing when fair value changes are recognised in financial 
income or expenses. Fair values are determined utilising public 
price quotations and rates as well as generally used valuation 
models. The data and assumptions used in the valuation model 
are based on verifiable market prices. Derivatives that mature 
within 12 months after the balance sheet date are included in 
current assets or liabilities. Derivatives are not used for specula-
tive purposes. Changes in the fair values of derivative instru-
ments, for which hedge accounting is applied and which are effec-
tive hedging instruments, are recognised in profit or loss in con-
gruence with the hedged items.  

on initial designation of the hedge, the Group documents the 
relationship between the hedged item and hedging instrument, 
and the risk management objectives and strategy in undertaking 
the hedge transaction. The Group documents and assesses both 
at the inception of the hedge relationship and at least at each 
reporting date, the effectiveness of the hedging relationship by 
monitoring the ability of the hedging instrument to offset the 
changes in the fair value or cash flows of the respective hedged 
item. The interest element of interest rate swaps used to hedge 
variable rate loans is recognised in profit or loss within financial 
items and the change in the fair value of the hedging instrument 
is recognised in equity.

available-for-sale assets
This category comprises those non-derivative financial assets 
that are designated as available for sale or are not classified into 
other categories. In teleste available-for-sale investments consist 
of holdings in listed and unlisted companies and they are normally 
measured at their fair value. Investments in listed companies are 
measured at the bid price at the balance sheet date based on 
published price quotations in an active market. Such unlisted 
shares whose fair value cannot be reliably determined, are meas-
ured at cost. Unrealised changes in value of available-for-sale 
investments, net of tax, are recognised in the comprehensive 
income and in equity in fair value reserve. Cumulative fair value 
changes are released to the income statement when the invest-
ment is sold or disposed of. Such significant impairment losses 
for which there is objective evidence, are recognised in the income 
statement immediately. Normally available-for-sale investments 
are included in non-current assets unless the Group has the inten-
tion to hold them for less than 12 months after the balance sheet 
date.

Loans and receivables
Financial assets that belong to this category meet the following 
criteria: they are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
The Group does not hold them for trading purposes either. Loans 
and receivables arise when money, goods or services are deliv-
ered to a debtor. They are included in current or non-current 
assets in accordance with their maturity. Loans granted by the 
Group are measured at cost. An impairment loss is recognised on 
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loan receivables if their carrying amount exceeds their recovera-
ble amount.

held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity that the 
Group has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity. They 
are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses and pre-
sented within non-current assets. At the end of the reporting 
period the Group had no assets classified as held-to-maturity 
investments.

financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified either as financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss or as other liabilities. teleste only has 
liabilities classified to the latter category. on initial recognition a 
loan is measured at its fair value that is based on the considera-
tion received. Subsequent to initial recognition, these liabilities 
are stated at amortised cost calculated using the effective inter-
est method. Interest expenses are recognised in the income 
statement over the term of the loan using the effective interest 
method.

trade receivables
trade receivables are recognised at the original invoice amount to 
customers and stated at their cost less impairment losses, if any. 
The amount of doubtful receivables and assessment of a poten-
tial impairment is based on risk of individual receivables. trade 
receivables are measured at their probable value at the highest. 
An impairment loss is recorded when there is objective evidence 
that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due accord-
ing to the original terms of the receivables. Bad debts recognised 
in the income statement are included in other operating expenses.

cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash balances, call deposits 
and other short-term highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 
Bank overdrafts, if any, are included within current liabilities.

tReasURY shaRes
teleste Corporation’s own shares acquired by the Group, includ-
ing directly attributable costs, are presented as a deduction from 
total equity in the consolidated financial statements. Purchases 
or subsequent sales of treasury shares are presented as changes 
in equity.

diVideNds
The dividend proposed by the Board of Directors is not recog-
nised until approved by a general meeting of shareholders.

pRoVisioNs
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group 
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obli-
gation and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will 
be required to settle the obligation. The amount recognised as a 
provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to set-
tle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. If the effect 
of the time value of money on the amount of a provision is mate-

rial, a provision is discounted. Provisions can arise from warran-
ties, onerous contracts and restructurings. A warranty provision 
is recognised when the underlying products are sold. The provi-
sion is based on historical warranty data and an estimate. A provi-
sion for non-cancellable purchase commitments of the Group is 
recognised, if these commitments result in inventory in excess of 
forecasted requirements. A provision for onerous contracts is rec-
ognised when the expected benefits to be derived by the Group 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting 
its obligations under the contract. A reimbursement from a third 
party related to a provision is recognised as a receivable only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Group 
has a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring 
has either commenced or has been announced publicly to those it 
concerns. The plan identifies at least the following: the business 
concerned, the principal locations affected, the location, function, 
and approximate number of employees who will be compensated 
for terminating their services, the expenditures that will be under-
taken and when the plan will be implemented. Future operating 
costs are not provided for.

ReVeNUe RecogNitioN aNd Net saLes
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income 
statement when all significant risks and rewards of ownership 
have been transferred to the buyer, which normally takes place 
when a commodity is delivered. Revenue from services is recog-
nised when the service has been performed.

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised either on 
a percentage-of-completion basis, using units of delivery (based 
on predetermined milestones) or by applying the cost-to-cost 
method of accounting as the measurement basis. estimated con-
tract profits are recognised in earnings in proportion to recorded 
sales, when a certain predetermined milestone has been achieved. 
In the cost-to-cost method, revenue and profits are recognised 
after considering the ratio of cumulative costs incurred to esti-
mated total costs to complete each contract (the stage of com-
pletion). Recognition of profit requires the outcome of a construc-
tion contract be estimated reliably. If this is not the case, revenue 
is recognised only to the extent of contract costs incurred that it 
is probable will be recoverable; and contract costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred. In the event that the 
Group can be held as the main contractor of a construction con-
tract, various product expenses including raw materials and 
labour costs will be accounted for in the calculation of the stage 
of completion. Possible changes in the expected total expenses 
of a construction contract are expensed as incurred. The expected 
loss is charged to the income statement immediately.

Costs related to a construction contract for which revenue is 
not yet recognised are included in inventories under unfinished 
construction contracts. If costs incurred together with recognised 
profits exceed the amount billed, the difference is included in the 
balance sheet item “trade and other receivables”. When costs 
incurred together with recognised profits are lower than the 
amount billed, the difference is shown under “trade and other 
payables”.

Net sales include revenue from services rendered and goods 
sold, adjusted for discounts granted, sales-related taxes and 
effects of the translation differences.
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otheR opeRatiNg iNcoMe
other operating income comprises income not generated from 
primary activities, such as rental income and gains from disposal 
of assets.

goVeRNMeNt gRaNts
Government grants that compensate the Group for expenses 
incurred are recognised as revenue in the income statement on a 
systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are 
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an 
asset are recognised by deducting the grant from the carrying 
amount of the asset.

eMpLoYee beNefits
pension arrangements
Pension plans are classified as either defined contribution plans 
or defined benefit plans. The plans the Group has currently are 
classified as defined contribution plans. Contributions to defined 
contribution pension plans are recognised as an expense in the 
income statement in the year to which they relate. The statutory 
pension plans of Finnish subsidiaries in the Group are funded 
through pension insurance. Subsidiaries outside Finland have 
various pension schemes in accordance with local requirements 
and practices. 

share-based payments
The granted share options are measured at their fair values using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model at the grant date and are 
recognised as an employee expense during the vesting period 
with a corresponding increase in equity. When the options are 
exercised, the proceeds received, net of any transactions costs, 
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and the share pre-
mium reserve.

opeRatiNg pRofit
operating profit is not defined under IAS 1 Presentation of Finan-
cial Statements. In teleste it is defined as a net amount that is 
comprised of the following items:

Net sales
+ other operating income
- raw material and consumables used adjusted for changes in 
inventories of finished goods and work in progress
- employee benefits expense
- depreciation and amortisation expense and impairment losses
- other operating expense     
= operating profit / loss

All other items not mentioned above are presented under the 
operating profit. translation differences relating to sales and pur-
chases are treated as adjustments to these items. All other trans-
lation differences are included in financial income and expenses.

boRRowiNg costs
Borrowing costs are generally expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred, except if they are directly attributable to the 
construction of an asset that meets the determined criteria, in 
which case they are capitalized as part of the cost of that asset. 
These criteria are that the borrowing costs incurred for the con-
struction of a major investment. However, incremental transac-
tion costs directly related to acquiring a loan are included in the 

initial cost and are amortised as an interest expense using the 
effective interest rate method. The Group had no such capitalised 
transaction costs in its balance sheet at the end of the reporting 
period. 

iNteRest aNd diVideNd iNcoMe
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. 
Dividend income is recognised when the right to the dividend has 
established.

iNcoMe taxes
The income taxes in the consolidated income statement consist 
of current tax and the change in the deferred tax assets and lia-
bilities. Current tax includes taxes of the Group companies calcu-
lated on the taxable profit for the period determined in accord-
ance with local tax rules, as well as the tax adjustments related 
to previous years. Deferred tax relating to items charged or cred-
ited directly to comprehensive income  is itself charged or cred-
ited directly to comprehensisive income and equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are provided in the consoli-
dated financial statements using the balance sheet liability 
method, providing for all temporary differences between the car-
rying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting pur-
poses and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The main 
temporary differences arise from the treatment of development 
costs, the depreciation difference on property, plant and equip-
ment and effects of consolidation and eliminations. Deferred 
taxes are not provided for impairment of goodwill, which is not 
deductible for tax purposes, nor for undistributed profits of sub-
sidiaries to the extent that is it probable that the temporary dif-
ference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax 
liabilities are recognised at their full amounts in the balance sheet, 
and deferred tax assets are recognised at estimated realisable 
amounts. The enacted or substantially enacted tax rate at the 
balance sheet date is used as the tax rate.

accoUNtiNg poLicies ReQUiRiNg MaNageMeNt’s 
JUdgeMeNt aNd keY soURces of estiMatioN 
UNceRtaiNtY
Management’s estimates regarding obsolete inventories, bad 
debts and warranties are based on approved financial models and 
case-specific judgments. Both historical experience and manage-
ment’s current view on the market situation have been employed 
when using the financial models. Management has used the best 
information available during the process of preparing the financial 
statements when making case-specific judgements. Impairment 
tests reflect assumptions made by management and underlying 
sensitivity analyses of the future cash flows. 

By the issuance of the consolidated financial statements tel-
este is not aware of any significant uncertainties regarding esti-
mates made at the balance sheet date, nor of such future key 
assumptions that might have a significant risk of causing a mate-
rial adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year.

adoption of new and amended standards and interpretations 
applicable in future financial years
teleste has not yet adopted the following new and amended 
standards and interpretations already issued by the IASB. The 
Group will adopt them as of the effective date or, if the date is 
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other than the first day of the financial year, from the beginning 
of the subsequent financial year.

* = not yet endorsed for use by the european Union as of 31 
December 2013.

•	 IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and subsequent 
amendments (in the eU effective for financial years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2014): IFRS 10 builds on existing 
principles by identifying the concept of control as the deter-
mining factor when deciding whether an entity should be 
incorporated within the consolidated financial statements. 
The standard also provides additional guidance to assist in 
the determination of control where this is difficult to assess. 
The new standard is not assessed to have a material impact 
on teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements and subsequent amendments 
(in the eU effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 
January 2014): In the accounting of joint arrangements IFRS 
11 focuses on the rights and obligations of the arrangement 
rather than its legal form. There are two types of joint 
arrangements: joint operations and joint ventures. In future 
jointly controlled entities are to be accounted for using only 
one method, equity method, and the other alternative, pro-
portional consolidation is no longer allowed. The new stand-
ard is not assessed to have a material impact on teleste’s 
consolidated financial statements.

•	 IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in other entities and subse-
quent amendments (in the eU effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 January 2014): IFRS 12 includes the 
disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other 
entities, including associates, joint arrangements, structured 
entities and other off-balance sheet vehicles. The new stand-
ard will expand the notes the Group provides for its interests 
in other entities. The new standard is not assessed to have 
a material impact on teleste’s consolidated financial state-
ments.

•	 IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (revised 2011) and 
subsequent amendments (in the eU effective for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 January 2014): The revised 
standard includes the provisions on separate IFRS financial 
statements that were left after the control provisions were 
included in the new IFRS 10. The revised standard will not 
have an impact on teleste’s consolidated financial state-
ments.

•	 IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 
(revised 2011) (in the eU effective for financial years begin-
ning on or after 1 January 2014): Following the issue of IFRS 
11 the revised IAS 28 includes the requirements for joint 
ventures, as well as associates, to be equity accounted. The 
revised standard is not assessed to have a significant impact 
on teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation 
(effective for financial years beginning on or after 1 January 
2014): The amendments provide clarifications on the applica-
tion of presentation requirements for offsetting financial 
assets and financial liabilities on the statement of financial 
position and give more related application guidance. The 
amendments are not assessed to have a significant impact 
on teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (effective for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 January 2014): The 
objective of the amendments is to clarify that the scope of 
the disclosures of information about the recoverable amount 
of assets, where that amount is based on fair value less 
costs of disposal, is limited to impaired assets. The amended 
standard is not assessed to have a significant impact on 
teleste’s consolidated financial statements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 
and Measurement (effective for financial years beginning on 
or after 1 January 2014): The amendments made to IAS 39 
provide an exception to the requirement to discontinue 
hedge accounting in certain circumstances where a deriva-
tive, which has been designated as a hedging instrument, is 
novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty as 
a consequence of laws or regulations. The amendments are 
not assessed to have an impact on teleste’s consolidated 
financial statements.

•	 Amendments to IAS 19 employee Benefits - Defined Benefit 
Plans: employee Contributions* (effective for financial years 
beginning on or after 1 July 2014): The amendments clarify 
the accounting treatment under IAS 19 in respect of defined 
benefit plans that involve contributions from employees or 
third parties towards the cost of benefits. The amendments 
are not assessed to have an impact on teleste’s consoli-
dated financial statements.

•	 Annual Improvements to IFRSs (2011-2013 cycle* and 
2011–2012 cycle*, December 2013) (effective for financial 
years beginning on or after 1 July 2014): The annual 
improvements process provides a mechanism for minor and 
non-urgent amendments to IFRSs to be grouped together 
and issued in one package annually. The amendments cover 
in total four (2011–2013 cycle) and seven (2010-2012 cycle) 
standards. Their impacts vary standard by standard but are 
not significant.

•	 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments* and subsequent amendments 
(the effective date (previously 1 January 2015) has been 
postponed and will be determined in due course): IFRS 9 is 
the first step of the IASB’s originally three-phase project to 
replace the current IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recogni-
tion and Measurement. The amendments resulting from the 
first phase (published in November 2009) address the clas-
sification and measurement of financial assets. Based on 
measurement, financial assets are classified into two main 
groups: financial assets at amortised cost and financial 
assets at fair value. Classification depends on a company’s 
business model and the characteristics of contractual cash 
flows. The amendments published in october 2010 deal 
with the classification and measurement of financial liabilities 
and the standard retains most of the related IAS 39 require-
ments. Amendments dealing with general hedge accounting 
were issued in November 2013. The unfinished part of IFRS 
9, impairment of financial assets, is still a work in progress. 
Furthermore, the IASB is also considering limited amend-
ments regarding the classification and measurement of 
financial assets. The macro hedge accounting phase has 
been taken apart from the IFRS 9 project as a separate 
project. As the IFRS 9 project is incomplete, the impacts of 
the standard on the consolidated financial statements can-
not yet be assessed.
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

teleste Group is organised in two reporting segments. These seg-
ments are based on the Group’s organisational and internal 
reporting structure. The Group has adopted IFRS 8 since 1 Janu-
ary 2009 and it havn’t had any impact on the reporting of operat-
ing segments.

bUsiNess segMeNts
The Group comprises two business segments that are Networks 
Services and Video and Broadband Solutions. 

Video and Broadband Solutions business segment has the 
emphasis on product solutions for broadband access networks, 
video service platforms and video surveillance applications. 

Network Services segment deliver comprehensive network 
service solutions including new construction, rebuilding, upgrad-
ing, planning and maintenance services of cable networks. 

geogRaphicaL diVisioN
The two segments operates in four geographical areas:
•	 Finland
•	 other Nordic countries
•	 other europe
•	 others (North America, Asia and other countries)

The main market area of Video and Broadband Solutions is 
europe where the business unit is present with its 23 dedicated 
offices supported by several support and integration partners. 
Apart from europe, offices have been established in Australia, 
China, India and USA. 

The geographical division od sales  are shown based on cus-
tomer location. Assets and investments are presented by geo-
graphical location of assets.

There are no major inter-segment sales in the Group.

UNaLLocated iteMs
Unallocated income statement items include costs and incomes 
which follow earnings after depreciations. Assets not allocated to 
the segments represent cash. Unallocated liabilities are interest 
bearing liabilities and tax liabilities.

SeGMeNt RePoRtING
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bUsiNess segMeNts 

2013 1,000 €

Video and 
Broadband 

Solutions Network Services Group

external sales 

Services 4,017 91,060 95,077

Goods 97,698 0 97,698

total external sales 101,715 91,060 192,775

operating profit of segments 9,460 1,587 11,047

operating profit 11,047

Financial items -386

Profit before taxes 10,660

  
Non-current assets of segment 37,551 12,943 50,494

2012 1,000 €

Video and 
Broadband 

Solutions Network Services Group

external sales 

Services 5,862 92,645 98,507

Goods 95,368 0 95,368

total external sales 101,230 92,645 193,875

operating profit of segments 8,497 2,439 10,936

operating profit 10,936

Financial items -821

Profit before taxes 10,115

Non-current assets of segment 34,706 13,324 48,031

geographical division 

2013 1,000 € Finland Nordic countries other europe others Group

Sales by origin 13,164 15,630 151,545 12,436 192,775

Assets 24,265 8,528 88,980 2,556 124,329

Capital expenditure 2,059 4 4,227 24 6,314

2012 1,000 € Finland Nordic countries other europe others Group

Sales by origin 12,776 17,358 150,936 12,805 193,875

Assets 26,162 8,800 83,634 1,621 120,217

Capital expenditure 1,940 15 1,350 20 3,325

MaJoR cUstoMeR 
Revenues from one customer of the Group’s Video and Broadband Solution and Network Services segment represents approximately 
64.2 Meur in 2013 (64.4 Meur in 2012), which is 33.3% (33.2%) of Group net sales.
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

At 8 April 2013 Video and Broadband solution segment was 
strengthened by acquiring 100% of share capital of Asheridge 
Communications Ltd, the english provider of access network 
equipment for cable operators. Asheridge has a particularly 
strong offering in HFC network passives products and custom-
ized solutions.

The acquisitions resulted in 1,263 thousand euro of intangible 
assets, which was allocated to customer relationships and tech-
nology. The goodwill, amounted 2,257 thousand euro, is mainly 
due to future revenue expectation. The goodwill include esti-
mated amount of the conditional supplementary contract price 
for Asheridge. total consideration was estimated to be 3,553 
thousand euro depending on the profitability development during 
next two years. The total unpaid contract price of 2,408 thou-
sand euro was booked in non current other liabilities and are clas-
sified as fair value level 3. The fair value of Asheridges trade 
receivables 1,126 thousand euro were 100 thousand euro less 
than the total value based on agreements. The difference is 
expected to realize as credit losses. teleste personnel increased 
with 20 persons. All costs related to the acquisitions, 100 thou-
sand euro, are expensed in other operating expenses. 

The impact of the acquisition on teleste’s net sales during the 
period 8 April 2013 – 31 December 2013 was 5,575 thousand 
euro and on the net profit 163 thousand euro. If Asheridge had 
been consolidated since 1 January 2013, the Group net sales 
would have been 1,827 thousand euro higher and the Group net 
profit would have increased 7 thousand euro.

The fair values determined in the business combination are based 
on the following estimates:
•	 The fair value of acquired trade marks is determined to 

equate with the discounted royalties, which have been man-
aged to be avoidable by owing the trademarks in question.  
A reasonable royalty per cent, that an external party would 
pay for a licensing agreement, has been estimated when 
determining the fair values.

•	 The fair value of acquired technology is determined to 
equate with the discounted product development costs, 
which have been managed to be avoidable by owing the 
technology in question.

•	 Determination of fair value of the customer relationships is 
based on the estimated life time of the customer relation-
ships and the discounted cash flows to be derived from the 
existing customerships.

During 2012 there were no acquisitions. A conditional supple-
mentary contract price of 600 thousand euro was de-recognised 
in other operating expenses during 2012. 

BUSINeSS CoMBINAtIoNS  
acQUiRed dURiNg 2013 AND 2012

tHe FoLLoWING ASSetS ARe LIABILItIeS WeRe 
ReCoGNISeD IN tHe ACQUISItIoN oF ASHeRIDGe:

1,000 €

Recognised fair 
values on 

acquisition

fair values used in consolidation

trade marks (inc. in intangible assets) 0

Customer relationship  (inc. in intangible assets) 730

technology  (inc. in intangible assets) 533

Inventories 727

trade receivables 1,126

book values used in consolidation

tangible asstes 731

other receivables 81

Cash and cash equivalents 219

total assets 4,147

book values used in consolidation

Interest-bearing liabilities 1,209

trade payables 1,084

Deferred tax liabilites 315

other liabilities 242

total liabilities 2,850

Net identifiable assets and liabilities 1,297

total consideration 3,553

Goodwill on acquisition 2,257

Consideration paid in cash -1,184

Cash and cash equivalents in acquired subsidiary 219

total net cash outflow on the acquisition -965
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL 

stateMeNts

1 CoNStRUCtIoN CoNtRACtS  

Amount of preoject revenue recognised during the period 
2,260 thousand euro ( 2,318 thousand euro in 2012).
 
Cumulative expenses and income reconised by the end of the 
period 10,691 thousand euro (8,441 thousand euro in 2012).

2 otHeR oPeRAtING INCoMe 

1,000 € 2013 2012

Government grants related to development 
costs 276 443

Rental income 5 10

other income 558 697

total 840 1,150

3 eMPLoYee BeNeFItS eXPeNSe

Wages and salaries -44,339 -45,247

Pension expenses

Defined contribution plans -9,080 -8,486

other post employment benefits -4,556 -5,065

Activated R&D salaries and social costs -1,295 697

Cash & equity-settled share-based 
transactions -186 -170

equity-settled share-based transactions -83 -240

total -56,949 -58,511

Information on the remuneration of (and loans to) the Group 
management is presented in the note Related party transactions.

The average number of employees during 
the financial year  1,306 1,326

4 DePReCIAtIoN, AMoRtISAtIoN 
AND IMPAIRMeNt 

1,000 € 2013 2012

Depreciation and amortisation by asset type:

tangible assets 

Buildings -395 -308

Machinery and equipment -1,304 -1,283

other tangible assets -468 -408

total -2,168 -1,999

Intangible assets 

Capitalised development expenses -1,785 -1,948

other intangible assets -675 -1,131

total -2,460 -3,079

total -4,628 -5 078

5 otHeR oPeRAtING eXPeNSeS

Rental expenses -7,125 -6,874

external services -2,986 -2,497

other variable costs -6,645 -5,952

travel and It costs -3,507 -3,854

other R&D costs -1,935 -2,572

other expenses -4,338 -4,002

total -26,536 -25,751

R&D costs are included also in employee benefits expense, travel and 
It costs and other costs.     
  

audit expenses

kpMg

Auditing assignments -140 -180

tax consultancy -60 -62

other assignments -30 -13

other auditors

Auditing assignments -64 -60

other assignments -43 -41

6 FINANCIAL INCoMe 

Interest and other financial income 160 326

Dividend income 2 2

total 162 328
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

7 FINANCIAL eXPeNSeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

Interest expenses -414 -633

exchange losses -20 0

Impairment on shares 0 -424

other financial expenses -114 -93

total -548 -1,150

other financial expenses includes interests from financial leasing 
expenses during the period 16 thousand euro (15 thousand euro in 
2012).  

Losses from forward exchange contratcs are included in operating 
profit.

8 INCoMe tAXeS

Current tax expense 

Current year -2,861 -3,913

Adjustments for prior years 70 -468

Change in deferred tax liabilities and tax 
assets 279 969

total -2,513 -3,412

Reconciliation of the tax expense,  -2,513 thousand euro, cal-
culated using the teleste Group’s domestic corporation 24.5% 
tax rate. The change of domesitic tax rate has been used in 
deferred taxes.

Profit before tax 10,660 10,115

Income tax using the domestic corporation 
tax rate (24.5 %)  -2,612 -2,478

effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 67 -350

tax debt increase related to balance sheet 
items -29 0

Not recognized deferred tax assets from tax 
losses 27 0

Change in deferred taxes due to decrease of 
the domestic corporation tax rate 46 0

Non-deductible expenses -81 -115

taxes from prevoius year 70 -469

income tax income/expense reported  
in the consolidated income statement -2,513 -3,412

9 eARNINGS PeR SHARe

The basic earnings per share is calculated as follows:

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year

The number of ordinary shares outstanding excludes the treasury 
shares.

The diluted earnings per share is calculated as follows:

Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the parent (diluted)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 
financial year (diluted)

The changes in the number of the shares are presented in the note 17 
Capital and reserves.

2013 2012

Profit for the year attributable to equity 
holders of the parent, (1,000 €) 8,147 6,703

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year (1,000) 17,516 17,425

Basic earnings per share (€) 0.47 0.38

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year (1,000) 17,516 17,425

effect of share options on issue (1,000) 282 284

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year (diluted) 
(1,000) 17,798 17,709

Diluted earnings per share (€) 0.46 0.38

The share options granted by the Group have a dilutive effect, i.e. 
they increase the number of the ordinary shares when their sub-
scription price is below the fair value of the share. The dilutive 
effect equals the number of the shares gratuitously issued; this 
difference arises when the Group can not issue the same number 
of shares at their fair value using the proceeds received on the 
exercise of the options.  
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10 PRoPeRtY, PLANt AND eQUIPMeNt

1,000 € Land areas Buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

 other 
tangible 

assets
Advance 

payments total

Balance at 1 January 2013 54 9,881 8,553 1,604 611 20,704

translation difference +- 0 -72 -143 -31 0 -246

Additions 0 147 1,909 270 0 2,326

Disposlals 0 0 -235 0 0 -235

Acquisitions through business combinations 0 666 65 0 0 731

transfers between classes 0 0 0 60 -98 -38

Balance at 31 December 2013  54 10,622 10,149 1,903 513 23,242

Depreciation and impairment losses   

Balance at 1 January 2013  0 -4,490 -4,854 -1,233 0 -10,577

Depreciation charge for the year  0 -394 -1,304 -468 0 -2,166

Balance at 31 December 2013 0 -4,884 -6,158 -1,701 0 -12,743

Carrying amounts at 1 January 2013 54 5,391 3,699 371 611 10,127

Carrying amounts at 31 December 2013 54 5,738 3,991 202 513 10,499

1,000 € Land areas Buildings

Machinery 
and  

equipment

 other 
tangible 

assets
Advance 

payments total

Balance at 1 January 2012 48 9,635 6,612 1,241 398 17,934

translation difference +- 6 -11 0 -7 1 -11

Additions 0 0 1,908 360 212 2,480

transfers between classes 0 257 33 10 0 301

Balance at 31 December 2012 54 9,881 8,553 1,604 611 20,704

Depreciation and impairment losses

Balance at 1 January 2012 0 -4,181 -3,564 -825 0 -8,570

Depreciation charge for the year 0 -309 -1,290 -408 0 -2,007

Balance at 31 December 2012 0 -4,490 -4,854 -1,233 0 -10,577

Carrying amounts at 1 January 2012 48 5,454 3,048 416 398 9,364

Carrying amounts at 31 December 2012 54 5,391 3,699 371 611 10,127

Carrying amount of production machinery and 
equipment at 31 December 2013 4,183

Carrying amount of production machinery and 
equipment at 31 December 2012 2,429

Property, plant and equipment include assets leased under financial leases as follows:

1,000 €

Machinery 
and  

equipment

31.12.2013

Balance at 1 January 2013 2,967

Additions 148

Disposals -163

Balance at 31 December 2013 2,952

Cumulative depreciation on disposals 114

Cumulative depreciation -1,930

Depreciation charge for the year -353

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 783

1,000 €

Machinery 
and  

equipment

31.12.2012

Balance at 1 January 2012 2,216

Additions 751

Disposals 0

Balance at 31 December 2012 2,967

Cumulative depreciation on disposals 0

Cumulative depreciation -1625

Depreciation charge for the year -305

Carrying amounts at 31 December 2012 1,037
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

11 INtANGIBLe ASSetS

1,000 € Goodwill
Development 

costs
other intangible 

assets total

Balance at 1 January 2013 32,150 12,307 7,169 51,626
translations differences -355 -35 -390
Additions 2,257 1,442 1,328 5,027

Balance at 31 December 2013 34,052 13,749 8,462 56,263

Balance at 1 January 2013 -800 -9,407 -5,895 -16,102
Amortisation for the year 0 -1,785 -676 -2,461

Balance at 31 December 2013 -800 -11,192 -6,571 -18,563

Carrying amounts at 1 January 2013 31,350 2,900 1,274 35,524
Carrying amounts at 31 December 2013 33,252 2,557 1,891 37,700
 

1,000 € Goodwill
Development 

costs
other intangible 

assets total

Balance at 1 January 2012 32,077 11,492 7,069 50,638
translations differences 73 100 173
Additions 0 815 0 815

Balance at 31 December 2012 32,150 12,307 7,169 51,626

Balance at 1 January 2012  -800 -7,459 -4,764 -13,023
Amortisation for the year 0 -1,948 -1,131 -3,079

Balance at 31 December 2012 -800 -9,407 -5,895 -16,102

Carrying amounts at 1 January 2012 31,277 4,033 2,305 37,615
Carrying amounts at 31 December 2012 31,350 2,900 1,274 35,524

For the purposes of impairment testing goodwill items of the Group have been allocated to the segments, each of which represents a 
separate cash-generating unit. The aggregate goodwill amount totalled 33.3 million euro at 31 December 2013. Goodwill has been 
allocated to the following cash-generating unit:

 Million euro 
Video and Broadband Solutions 25.2
Network Services 8.1

The recoverable amount of the segments is based upon value-in-
use calculations. Those calculations use cash flow projections 
based upon the strategy and budgets approved by the manage-
ment.  Calculations are prepared covering a 10 years’ period. The 
cash flow for Video and Broadband Solutions segment covers the 
five first years with 5% (5%) annual growth rate   and for Network 
Services segment over 5% (30%) annual growth for the 3 first 
years, cash flow decrease year 4 by -26%, year 5 growth is 5%.  
Cash flow decrease the fourth year because the recognized tax 
losses are used in year 1 to 3 in the calculations  The expected 
future cash flows for a further 5 year period are extrapolated 
using a 2 % (2%) growth rate for both segments.  Management’s 
view on the cash flows is cautious as the changes of the industry 
are difficult to foresee. A discount rate of 13,76% is used in VBS 
and 10.78% in NS segment (11.87% in both segments) has been 
used in discounting the projected cash flows. The terminal value 
of the segments is calculated by using a growth rate of 2 per 
cent. The impairment test process included the sensitivity analysis 
of the segment or a cash generating unit (CGU) in the segment. If 
the cashflow’s yearly growth rate would stay at 2 per cent for NS 
segment for the period, an impairment loss of 1.2 million euro 
should be recognised. 

Assumption used in 2013 and 2012 impairment tests
   

2013 2012

% VBS NS VBS NS

Yearly growth in cash flow  
years 1–5 5 5* 5 5**
Yearly growth in cash flow  
years 6 –10 2 2 2 2 

WACC (after tax) 13.76 10.78 11.87 11.87 

*NS years 1–3 average growth 5%, year 4–26% year 5 growth 5% 

**NS years 1–3 average growth 30% , years 4–5 yearly growth 5%

The table below shows the amount by which the segments’ 
recoverably amount exceeds its carrying amount.

Impairment test

Meur 2013 2012

VBS 19.3 17.9

NS 2.0 13.7
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13 DeFeRReD tAX ASSetS AND LIABILItIeS

1,000 €
Balance  

1 Jan. 2013
Recognised in the 
income statement

Business  
combinations

Balance  
31 Dec. 2013

Movements in temporary differences during 2013

Deferred tax assets

effects of consolidation and eliminations 511 19 530

Unused tax losses 1,123 -72 1,051

Provisions 290 24 314

Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition 162 -56 106

total 2,086 -84 2,002

Deferred tax liabilities  

Capitalisation of intangible assets -721 210 -511

Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition -312 145 -435 -602

Cumulative depreciation difference -264 84 -180

total -1,297 439 -435 -1,293

The change in liabilities doesn’t match the deferred tax recognised the income statement due to recognition of deferred tax liabilities 
for other intangible assets, foreign exchange rates and group internal eliminations.   

1,000 €
Balance 

1. Jan. 2012
Recognised in the 
income statement

Balance            
31 Dec. 2012

Movements in temporary differences during 2012   

Deferred tax assets 
effects of consolidation and eliminations 709 -198 511
Unused tax losses 432 691 1,123
Provisions 273 17 290
Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition 228 -66 162
other items 72 -72 0

total 1,714 372 2,086

Deferred tax liabilities  
Capitalisation of intangible assets -930 210 -721
Fair value adjustments to intangible and tangible assets on acquisition -551 239 -312
Cumulative depreciation difference -228 -36 -264
other items  -237 237 0

total -1,946 650 -1,297

At 31 December 2013 the Group had unused tax losses in subsidiaries amounting  5,836 thousand euro. A tax asset has been booked from 1,051 
thousand euro as this loss will not expire (31 Dec.  2012: 1,123 thousand euro). A tax asset has not been booked from 2,305 thousand euro due to 
the uncertainty if the Group can utilize them.
No deferred tax liability has been provided for the undistributed profits of the foreign subsidiaries amounting to 18,705 thousand euro at 31 Dec. 
2013 (31 Dec. 2012: 15,077 thousand euro). This is because the realization of this tax liability is unlikely in the near future.

The tables below show the required decline in free cash flow and 
the increase in discount rate per segment which would cause the 
recoverable amount of a segment to be equal to the carrying 
amount.

Decline of free cash flow

2013 2012

VBS -27% -32%

NS -7% -44%

Increase in discount rate

2013 2012

VBS 4.49% 3.33%

NS 0.72% 4.36%

The Group received a grant amounting to 0.3 million euro from 
tekes (National technology Agency of Finland) towards develop-
ment costs in 2013 (2012: 0.4 million euro). From the grant 
received 0,04 million euro (2012: 0.04 million euro) has been 
recognised to deduct the carrying amount of the asset. 

The grant has the condition, according to which 10 % of the 
total costs of the project have to be incurred through subcon-
tracting work in Finnish small and medium-sized companies.

12 AVAILABLe-FoR-SALe INVeStMeNtS  
 

1,000 € 2013 2012

Unlisted shares 294 294

total 294 294
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15 tRADe AND otHeR CURReNt ReCeIVABLeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

trade receivables 35,238 35,453

Accrued income and prepayments 1,857 235

other receivables 1,442 2,837

total 38,537 38,524

16 CASH AND CASH eQUIVALeNtS

Cash at bank and in hand 15,229 13,880

total 15,229 13,880

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 15,229 13,880

17 CAPItAL AND ReSeRVeS

1,000 €
Number of 

shares, 1,000
Number of own 

shares, 1,000
Number of shares, 

total 1,000
Share capital, 

1,000 €
Reserve fund, 

1,000 €

At 1 January 2012 17,426 1,302 18,728 6,967 1,504

Share options exercised by employees 0 0 0 0 0

own shares purchased 0 0 0 0 0

own shares sold 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 December 2012 17,426 1,302 18,728 6,967 1,504

Share options exercised by employees 89 0 89 0 0

own shares purchased 0 0 0 0 0

own shares sold/changed 112 -112 0 0 0

At 31 December 2013 17,627 1,190 18,817 6,967 1,504

14 INVeNtoRIeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

Raw materials and consumables  4,065 3,847

Work in progress 10,307 7,809

Finished goods 5,390 7,839

total 19,762 19,495

The amount of the impairment losses of inventories to the net 
realisable value recognised as an expense during the financial 
period is 1,450 thousand euro. At the end of the financial year 
4,966 thousand euro was deducted from the inventory value to 
the net realisable value (31 Dec. 2012: 5,150 thousand euro). 
 

The number of teleste oyj shares was 18,816,691 at 31 Decem-
ber 2013 (31 Dec. 2012 18,728,590 shares). All shares issued 
have been fully paid.

The Annual General Meeting of teleste oyj held on 12th of 
April 2013 decided to authorize the Board of Directors to decide 
on repurchasing the Company’s own shares in accordance with 
the proposal of the Board of Directors. Based on the authoriza-
tion, the Board of Directors may repurchase a maximum of 
1,400,000 own shares of the Company otherwise than in propor-
tion to the holdings of the shareholders by using the non-
restricted equity through public trading on NASDAQ oMX Hel-
sinki Ltd at the market price prevailing at the time of acquisition.

At the end of December 2013, the Group held 1,189,654 of 
its own shares, of which the parent company teleste Corporation 
had 266,654 shares and the controlled companies had 923,000 
shares, respectively. 

The Annual General Meeting of teleste oyj held on 3rd of April  
2012 decided to authorize the Board of Directors to decide on 
repurchasing the Company’s own shares in accordance with the 
proposal of the Board of Directors. Based on the authorization, 
the Board of Directors may repurchase a maximum of 1,400,000 
own shares of the Company otherwise than in proportion to the 

holdings of the shareholders by using the non-restricted equity 
through public trading on NASDAQ oMX Helsinki Ltd at the mar-
ket price prevailing at the time of acquisition.

At the end of December 2012, the Group held 1,302,985 of 
its own shares, of which the parent company teleste Corporation 
had 379,985 shares and the controlled companies had 923,000 
shares, respectively. 

Shares subscribed for pursuant to the share option plans will 
entitle to dividend when the increase of the share capital is regis-
tered with the Finnish trade register. Voting and other share-
holder rights will commence on the date on which the increase of 
the share capital is registered with the Finnish trade register.

translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differ-
ences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries. 

dividends
After the balance sheet date the dividend of 0.19 euro per share 
(2012 0.17 euro per share) was proposed by the Board of Direc-
tors. 
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17 SHARe BASeD INCeNtIVeS
teleste Corporation had one option scheme in operation during 
the period: Stock options 2007. The scheme was approved by 
teleste annual general shareholders’ meetings in 2007. The stock 
options have an average maturity of 6 years from the plan launch 
including a waiting period and a two-year share subscription 
period. Under the schemes outstanding at the end of the period 
the annual general meeting of shareholders has authorized 

SHARe BASeD INCeNtIVeS - StoCK oPtIoNS DURING tHe RePoRtING PeRIoD 1.1.2013–31.12.2013

Plan option Rights 2007 total.

Instrument 2007B 2007C tot/WA

Annual General Shareholders` Meeting date 03 April 2007 03 April 2007

Initial amount, pcs   280,000   280,000 560,000

The subscription ratio for underlying shares, 
pcs 1 1

Initial excercise price, € * 6.94 3.57

Dividend adjustment Yes Yes

Current excercise price, € ** 6.07 3.06

Initial allocation date 15 october 2008 21 September 2009

Vesting date 01 April 2011 01 April 2012

Maturity date 30 April 2013 30 April 2014

Maximum contractual life, yrs 6.1 7.1 7.1

Remaining contractual life, yrs 0.0 0.3 0.3

Number of persons at the end of the 
reporting year 0 12

Payment method equity equity

*  Share subscription price for stock options is the volume weighted average price plus 10% of Teleste share in NASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd during 
April 2008 and April 2009 for the stock options 2007B and 2007C, respectively.

**  Share subscription price at the expiration if the stock options expired during the period.

teleste board of directors to grant up to 840,000 options to the 
Group key employees or to teleste subsidiary, which may be 
authorized to grant options further to the Group key personnel. 
The options are forfeited if the employee leaves the Group before 
the options vest. The options expire unless not distributed or 
exercised by the end of the share subscribtion period. Key 
characteristics and terms of the teleste option schemes in 
operation at the end of the period are listed in the table below.
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Changes during the period 2013 2007B 2007C total
Weighted average 
exercise price in €

1 January 2013

outstanding at the beginning of the 
reporting period, pcs 236,000 261,000 497,000 4,66

Changes during the period

Granted 0 0 0

Forfeited 0 0 0

Invalidated during the period 0 0 0

excercised 0 88,101 88,101 3,06

Weighted average price of shares, € *** 4.18 4.17 4.17

expired 280,000 0 280,000 6,07

31 december 2013

excercised at the end of the period 0 88,101 88,101 3,06

outstanding at the end of the period 0 172,899 172,899 3,06

Reserve at the end of the period 0 19,000 19,000 3,06

*** weighted average price for Teleste share during the time that particular option could have been exerciced in 2013.

Weighted average 
exercise price in €Changes during the period 2012 2007A 2007B 2007C total

1 January 2012

outstanding at the beginning of the 
reporting period, pcs   224,000   240,000   268,000 732,000 7.04

Changes during the period

Granted    0    0   17,000

Forfeited    0   0   24,000 28,000 3.66

Invalidated during the period    0    0    0

excercised    0    0    0

Weighted average price of shares, € *** 4.02 3.99 3.99

expired   280,000    0    0 280,000 11.99

31 december 2012

excercised at the end of the period    0    0    0

outstanding at the end of the period    0   236,000   261,000 497,000 3.23

Reserve at the end of the period    0   40,000   19,000 59,000 7.00

*** weighted average price for teleste share during the time that particular option could have been exerciced in 2012.

fair value determination
The fair value of options have been determined at grant date and
the fair value is expensed until vesting. The fair value of stock
options have been determined by using Black–Scholes valuation
model.

 24   teLeste, eNabLiNg digitaL eVoLUtioN fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   25 



shaRe based iNceNtiVes – shaRe pLaNs dURiNg the 
RepoRtiNg peRiod 1.1.2013–31.12.2013
The Board of Directors of teleste Corporation has at its meeting 
on 2 December 2011 resolved to implement a long-term Perfor-
mance share plan 2012 (the Plan). The Plan offers the key employ-
ees a possibility to earn the Company shares on the basis of per-
formance (Performance-Based Reward) as well as on the basis of 
share ownership and employment (Restricted Reward). The pre-
requisite for the Plan participation is that the key employee holds 
shares in teleste. If the key employee holds the company shares 
and remains employed in the Group during the Plan, i.e. until the 
end of March 2015, one share as a net reward (after taxes) 
against each share owned by the key employee is earned. In addi-
tion, based on an annually set performance target for the three 
performance periods 2012, 2013 and 2014, the key employee 
has an opportunity to earn performance shares from each of the 
performance period. Both Restricted shares and Performance-
based shares are paid to the participants at the end of March 
2015. If the plan participant’s employment or service ends before 
the reward payment in the manner determined in the terms and 
Conditions for the Plan, he or she will lose the right to the reward. 
In addition to net shares corresponding to approximately 50% of 
the total reward, there will be cash portion (appr. 50%) in the 
reward, which will be withheld for taxes arising from the reward 
to the key employee. 

plan
Performance Share 

Plan 2012

type Share

Initial amount, pcs *   250,000

Initial allocation date 31.1.2012

Vesting date 31.3.2015

Maximum contractual life, yrs 3.2

Remaining contractual life, yrs 1.2

Number of persons at the end of the 
reporting year 30

Payment method Cash & equity

*  In addition to shares, there will be a cash payment intended for taxes 
and tax-related charges arising to the key employee from the reward.

changes during the period 
2013

Performance 
Share Plan 2012

Weighted remain-
ing contractual 

life in years

type Share

1 January 2013

outstanding at the beginning 
of the reporting period, pcs   229,000

Reserve at the beginning of 
the reporting period   21,000

Changes during the period

Granted   6,000

Forfeited   8,000

Invalidated during the period    0

excercised    0

expired   35,669

31 December 2013

excercised at the end of the 
period   191,331

outstanding at the end of the 
period   191,331 1.2

faiR VaLUe deteRMiNatioN
The fair value of share based incentives have been determined at 
grant date and the fair value is expensed until vesting. The pricing 
of the share based incentives granted during the period was 
determined by the following inputs and had the following effect.

Valuation parameters for instruments granted during period

Share price at grant, € 4.17

Share price at reporting period end, € 4.25

Maturity, years 2

Dividends per year, € 0.17

Fair value 31 Dec 2013, € 867,594

effect of share-based incentives on the result and financial 
position during the period 2013, €
expenses for the financial year, share-based 
payments 185,359

expenses for the financial year, share-based 
payments, equity-settled 82,840

Liabilities arising from share-based payments 
31 December 2013 272,582

effect of share-based incentives on the result and financial 
position during the period 2012, €
expenses for the financial year, share-based 
payments 336,303

expenses for the financial year, share-based 
payments, equity-settled 166,240

Liabilities arising from share-based payments 
31 December 2012 170,063

changes during the period  
2012

Performance 
Share Plan 2012

Weighted remain-
ing contractual 

life in years

type Share

1 January 2012

outstanding at the beginning 
of the reporting period, pcs    0

Reserve at the beginning of 
the reporting period   250,000

Changes during the period

Granted   236,000

Forfeited   0

Invalidated during the period    0

excercised    0

expired    0

31 December 2012

excercised at the end of the 
period   236,000

outstanding at the end of the 
period   236,000 2.2
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18 INteReSt-BeARING LIABILItIeS   

1,000 € 2013 2012

Non-current 

Loans from financial institutions  16 99

Finance lease liabilities  454 689

total 470 788

Current

Loans from financial institutions    23,458 21,000

Finance lease liabilities, current portion    342 360

total 23,799 21,360

Interest-bearing loans from financial institutions are carried at amortised cost and    
finance lease liabilities are carried at fair value.     

Konsernin korollisten pitkäaikaisten velkojen valuuttajakauma on seuraava:

1,000 € 31.12.2013 31.12.2012

eUR 470 788

470 788

The currency mix of the Group long-term interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:   
    

Bank loans 1.3% 1.6%

Finance lease liabilities  2.1% 2.2%

The currency mix of the Group short-term interest-bearing liabilities:    
  

eUR 100% 100%

Group short-term interest-bearing liabilities - interest rates are as follows:    
  

Bank loans 1.3% 1.6%

Finance lease liabilities  2.1% 2.2%

Finance lease liabilities of the Group are payable as follows:    

Minimum lease payments  

Less than one year  352 377

Between one and five years   462 709

total 814 1,086

Present value of minimum lease payments     

Less than one year  342 360

Between one and five years   454 689

total 796 1,049

Future finance charges  18 37

total finance lease liabilities  814 1,086
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19 PRoVISIoNS

1,000 € Warraties total

Balance at 1 January 2013 1,507 1,507

Provisions made during the year -41 -41

Balance at 31 December 2013 1,466 1,466

2013

Non-current 634

Current 832

total 1,466

warranties

The Group grants average 18 months guarantees for its certain 
products. If defects are detected during the warranty period, the 
Group either repairs the product or delivers a comparable new 
product. The amount of the warranty provision is based on the 
past experience on defective products and an estimate of related 
expenses. 

20 tRADe AND otHeR CURReNt LIABILItIeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

Current 

trade payables 9,951 11,190

Personnel, social security and pensions 6,059 6,073

Accrued interest expenses and other 
financial items   9 24

other accrued expenses and deferred 
income   11,856 12,178

Advances 145 101

other liabilities 110 3,046

total 28,130 32,612

Non current 

other liabilties 2,414 22

21 INCoMe tAX PAYABLe FoR tHe PeRIoD  

At the end of the period there was income tax receivable 307 
thousand euro and tax payable 1,206 thousand euro on the 
profit for the period (31 Dec. 2012 there was 287 thousand euro 
tax receivables and 2,075 thousand euro tax payables).
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Assets and liabilities in foreign currency translated at closing rate 

2013 2012

USD SeK NoK GBP PLN USD SeK NoK GBP PLN

Current assets 989 851 878 2,056 2,327 2,256 1,643 1,975 3,993 4,244

Current liabilities 1,186 1,057 519 1,413 1,649 1,020 1,301 945 966 1,221

The objective of the Group’s financial risk management is to iden-
tify, evaluate and hedge financial risks to reduce the impacts of 
price fluctuations in financial markets and of other factors on 
earnings, balance sheet and cash flows as well as to guarantee 
cost-efficient funding for the Group at all times.

The Board has approved financial risk management guidelines 
and the allocation of responsibilities defined in the Group risk 
management policy and related operating policies covering spe-
cific areas. The Board oversees the Group’s risk management 
framework. The Group’s administration is responsible for the 
coordination and control of the Group’s total financial risk position 
and external hedging transactions with banks in the name of the 
parent company. teleste is risk averse in its treasury activities. 
The identification of the exposure is a common task of the busi-
ness units and the Group administration.

The hedge accounting principles as defined in IAS 39 are 
applied in teleste only for hedging the interest risk for specific 
long term loans. 

Financial risks comprise market, credit, liquidity and cash flow 
interest rate risk, which are discussed more in detail below. The 
Group’s exposure to price risk is low.

MaRket Risk 
Market risk includes three types of risk: currency risk, price risk 
and fair value interest rate risk. Fluctuations of foreign exchange 
rates, market prices or market interest rates may cause a change 
in the value of a financial instrument. These changes may have an 
effect on the consolidated earnings, balance sheet and cash 
flows.

cURReNcY Risk 
transaction risk
The Group’s currency position is divided into the transaction posi-
tion and net investments in foreign operations. Foreign exchange 
exposures of the Group’s units arise from receivables and 
accounts payables denominated in foreign currency, sales and 
purchase contracts and from forecast sales and purchases. Major 
part of the Group’s sales is in euro. The most significant non-euro 
sales currencies are PLN (accounts for 6 per cent of the net sales), 
Swedish and Norwegian crowns (5 per cent), US dollars (4 per 
cent) and UK pound sterling (7 per cent). Significant part of 
expenses, 54 per cent, arise in euro and in US dollar almost 23 
per cent and Chinese CNY 16 per cent. The hedging decisions are 
based on the expected net cash flow for the following six months.

Cash flow hedges at 31 Dec 2013  

currency position

Currency exposure Hedge Net
Hedge 

Instrument Hedge%

USD 4,012 3,313 699

Forward 
exchange 
contract 83%

CNY 2,040 1,748 292

Forward 
exchange 
contract 86%

Cash flow hedges at 31 Dec 2012  

currency position

Currency exposure Hedge Net
Hedge 

Instrument Hedge%

USD 3,663 3,106 557

Forward 
exchange 
contract 85%

SeK 0 0 0

Forward 
exchange 
contract 0%

NoK 1,239 890 349

Forward 
exchange 
contract 72%

GBP 1,351 1,116 235

Forward 
exchange 
contract 83%

FINANCIAL  
Risk MaNageMeNt
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In principle teleste hedges forecast and probable cash flows. The 
Group only uses forward exchange agreements. According to the 
Group’s currency risk management policy all material currency 
risks are hedged at least six months ahead and the Group’s trans-
action position shall at all times be hedged 80–100% by currency. 
The level of hedges is monitored on a monthly basis. Currency risk 
is also managed through, among others, operational planning, 
pricing and offer terms. Reprising interval varies between 3 and 
24 months. 

At the year-end 2012 the fair value of currency derivatives 
amounted to 7.6   million euro (31. Dec 2012: 5.9 million euro).

sensitivity to market risk

2013 2012

Sensitivity to market risks arising from financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 Profit or Loss Profit or Loss

+-10% change in eUR/USD exchange rate +-70 +-56

+-10% change in eUR/CNY exchange rate +-29 0

tRaNsLatioN Risk
Since the Group’s currency risk exposure regarding net invest-
ments in foreign operations is relatively low, the equity position, 
i.e. differences in the calculatory euro values of these amounts 
(translation risk) is not actively hedged. At 31 December 2013 
the total non-euro-denominated equity of the Group’s foreign 
subsidiaries amounted to 12.8  million euro (31 Dec. 2012: 6.8 
million euro).

faiR VaLUe iNteRest Rate Risk aNd cash fLow 
iNteRest Rate Risk 
teleste’s interest rate risk mainly comprises cash flow interest 
rate risk that arises from the interest-bearing liabilities. The Group 
can have floating or fixed interest loans and use interest swap 
contracts to achieve financial objectives. At the end of the report-
ing period 23,458 thousand euro have short-term interest as a 
reference rate. The interest period is of less than one year.  Hedge 
accounting is applied for interest swap contracts hedging the 
interest risk for 11,000 thousand euro of the loans. The change in 
the fair value of this hedging  instrument, 16 thousand euro, is 
recognised in profit and loss as other comprehensive income. The 

fair value of the interest swap contract is -6 thousand euro. All 
Group loans are denominated in euro. In 2013, the average inter-
est rate of the loan portfolio was 1,45% per cent. All finance 
lease agreements are fixed-rate. 

The Group does not hedge the risk position resulting from the 
fair value interest rate risk as the position is small. The average 
balances of the variable rate loans realized during the period have 
been used in calculating the sensitivity analysis required by IFRS 
7. At the closing date 31 December 2012, the effect on variable 
rate interest-bearing liabilities on profit before taxes would have 
been +-120 thousand euro had the interest rate increased or 
decreased by 1 percentage point

Period in which repricing occurs Within 1 year 1 year –5 years over 5 years total

Financial instruments with floating interest rate

Financial liabilities

Loan from financial institutions 12,458 12,458

Financial instruments with fixed interest rate

Financial liabilities

Loan from financial institutions 11,000 11,000

cRedit Risk 
The Group’s accounts receivables are dispersed to a number of 
customers worldwide. Thus the primary responsibility for com-
mercial credit risks lies with the Group’s geographical areas. Com-
mercial credit risks are managed in accordance with the Group’s 
credit policy and are reduced for example with collaterals. Some 
accounts receivables are covered by a credit insurance. Credit 
risks are approved and monitored by the Group management 
team.

The credit risk related to financial instruments, i.e. counter-
party risk is managed in the Group administration. Counterparty 
risk realises if a counterparty is unable to meet its obligations. In 
order to minimise counterparty risks, teleste seeks to limit the 
counterparties, such as banks and other financial institutions, to 
those which have good credit rating. Liquid funds are invested in 
liquid instruments with low credit risk, e.g. in short-term bank 
deposits and commercial papers.
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All receivables are without collaterals. There are no significant concentrations of risk with respect to the receivables of the Group. 
Impairment losses on trade receivables are shown in note 5 other operating expenses.

2013 2012

Analysis of trade receivables by age Gross
Impair-

ment loss Net Gross
Impair-

ment loss Net

Undue trade receivables 27,662 27,622 26,377 26,377

1–30 days 5,400 5,400 7,416 7,416

31–60 days 1,460 1,460 715 715

   over 60 days 1,333 -616 717 2,109 -1,164 945

total 35,238 35,453

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was: 2013 2012

Loans and receivables 38,537 38,524

Available for sale financial assets 294 287

As of 31 December 2013, the contractual maturity of interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Loans from financial institutions 23,467

trade payables 9,951

Finance lease liabilities 352 272 129 47 13

Forward exchange contracts

outflow -7,842

Inflow 7,633

other 2,414

As of 31 December 2012, the contractual maturity of interest-bearing liabilities was as follows:

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Loans from financial institutions 21,024

trade payables 11,190

Finance lease liabilities 377 319 255 135

Forward exchange contracts

outflow -5,936

Inflow 5,827

other 22

LiQUiditY Risk 
Liquidity risk is monitored through Group’s cash flow forecasts. 
The Group seeks to reduce liquidity risk through sufficient cash 
reserves and credit facility arrangements as well as with balanced 
maturity profile of loans. efficient cash and liquidity management 
also reduces liquidity risk. At the year-end 2013 the Group’s cash 
reserves totaled 15.2 million euro and its interest-bearing net 
debt 24.3 million euro. The Group administration raises the 
Group’s interest-bearing debt centrally. At 31 December 2013 

teleste had committed and available credit facilities as well as 
other agreed and undrawn loans amounting to 17.0 million euro. 
Group’s loan agreements and committed loan facilities include 
profitability and cash flow covenants.

The recognition and measurement principles applied to deriva-
tives are described in the accounting principles for the consoli-
dated financial statements. The nominal and fair values of deriva-
tives at the balance sheet date are presented in the note Commit-
ments and contingencies to the consolidated financial statements.
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capitaL Risk MaNageMeNt
The Group’s objective when managing capital is to secure the con-
tinuity of the business and to make investments possible with 
optimal capital structure. The capital structure of the Group is 
reviewed by the Board of Directors on a regular basis.

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of leverage ratio, 
the ratio of interest-bearing net debt to interest-bearing net debt, 
plus total equity. Interest-bearing net debt is calculated as bor-
rowings less cash and cash equivalents. The Group’s objective to 
maintain the leverage less than 50%. The leverage ratio as of 31 
December 2013 and 2012 was as follows:

2013 2012

total borrowings 24,269 22,147

Cash and cash equivalents 15,229 13,880

Interest-bearing net debt 9,040 8,267

total equity 65,552 60,557

Interest-bearing net debt and total equity 74,592 68,824

Leverage ratio 12.1% 12.0%

22 FAIR VALUeS oF FINANCIAL ASSetS AND LIABILItIeS

All other financial assets and liabilities are measured at their fair 
values in the consolidated balance sheet except for the long-term 
bank loan, which is measured at amortised cost.

deRiVatiVe iNstRUMeNts
teleste uses forward exchage contracts to hedge its balance 
sheet items against transaction risk. The changes in the fair val-
ues of forward exchage contracts designated as hedging instru-
ments are fully recognised through profit and loss. The fair value 
changes of forward exchange contracts amounted to -209 thou-

sand euro in 2013 (2012: -109 thousand euro) and they are rec-
ognised as adjustements to sales. Long term bank loans are 
hedged by a interest swap contract. For this interest swap con-
tract teleste apply hedge accounting. The fair value changes of 
interest swap contracts amounted to -6 thousand euro. The 
change in fair value 16 thousand euro is entered in the total com-
prehensive income. The currency exchange contracts and interest 
swap contracts are in level 2. 

aVaiLabLe-foR-saLe fiNaNciaL assets
Available-for-sale financial assets comprise unlisted shares that 
are measured at cost. They are in level 3.  The fair value of these 
investments could not be determined reliably and the estimate 
fluctuates significantly or the probabilities within the range of dif-
ferent estimates are not reasonably determinable to be used to 
estimate the fair value. 

fiNaNce Lease LiabiLities  
The fair values of finance lease liabilities are based on the dis-
counted future cash flows. The discount rate used is the market 
interest rates for homogeneous lease agreements.   

tRade aNd otheR paYabLes oR ReceiVabLes
For trade payables and other receivables than those arising from 
derivative instruments the notional amount equals their fair value 
as the discounting has no material effect considering the short 
maturity of these items.

Following discount rates were used for determining fair value:

2013 2012

Finance lease liabilities  2.1% 2.2%
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Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by measurment categories 

Note

Financial 
assets and 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 
income 

statement
Loans and 

receivables

Available for 
sale financial 

assets

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized 

cost 

Carrying 
amount by 

balance 
sheet item Fair Value

2013 balance item

Non current financial assets 

other financial assets 12 294 294 294

current financial assets 

trade and other receivables 15 35,238 35,238 35,238

carrying amount by category 0 35,238 294 0 35,532 35,532

Non-current financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 454 16 470 470

current financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 342 23,458 23,799 23,799

Forward exchange contracts 25 209 209 209

Interest swap contracts 25 6 6 6

trade and other payables  20 9,951 9,951 9,951

other current liabilities 20 9 9 9

carrying amount by category 1,011 0 0 33,434 34,445 34,445

Note

Financial 
assets and 
liabilities at 

fair value 
through 
income 

statement
Loans and 

receivables

Available for 
sale financial 

assets

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized 

cost 

Carrying 
amount by 

balance 
sheet item Fair Value

2012 balance item

Non current financial assets 

other financial assets  12 294 294 294

current financial assets 

trade and other receivables 15 35,453 35,453 35,453

carrying amount by category 0 35,453 294 0 35,747 35,747

Non-current financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities  18 689 99 788 788

current financial liabilities 

Interest-bearing liabilities 18 360 21,024 21,384 21,384

Forward exchange contracts 25 109 109 109

Interest swap contracts 25 22 22 22

trade and other payables  20 11,190 11,190 11,190

other current liabilities 20 24 24 24

carrying amount by category 1,180 0 0 32,337 33,517 33,517

 32   teLeste, eNabLiNg digitaL eVoLUtioN fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   33 



23 ADJUStMeNtS to CASH FLoWS FRoM oPeRAtING 
ACtIVItIeS     

1,000 € 2013 2012

Non-cash transactions:  

Depreciation and amortisation  4,628 5,078

employee benefits 83 241

Gains of disposals of fixed  assets 0 -441

total 4,711 4,877

24 oPeRAtING LeASeS  

Group as lessee 

Minimum lease payments on non-cancellable operating leases are 
payable as follows:

Less than one year  650 614

Between one and five years  619 1,075

More than five years  1,357 967

total 2,626 2,656

The Group leases factory and office facilities outside Finland 
under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of 
2–5 years, normally with an option to renew the lease after that 
date. According to the index clauses of the leases lease pay-
ments are increased every two years. 
 

25 CoMMItMeNtS AND CoNtINGeNCIeS  

1,000 € 2013 2012

Rental and leasing liabilities  

Rental liabilities 2,626 2,656

Lease liabilities 4,122 5,872

Currency derivatives 

Value of the underlying forward 
contracts   7,633 5,936

Market value of the forward contracts -209 -109

Interest swap contracts  

Value of the underlying interest swap 
contracts   11,000 9,000

Market value of intersest swap 
contracts   -6 -22

 34   teLeste, eNabLiNg digitaL eVoLUtioN fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   35 



Notes to the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

26 ReLAteD PARtY tRANSACtIoNS   

teleste Group has related party relationships with its Board members and Ceo. 

Companies owned by the Group and parent company    Group holding, % Group voting, %

Parent company teleste oyj, turku, Finland

Asheridge Communications Ltd, Chesham, UK 100 100

Asheridge Communications espana S.L, Alcobendas, Spain 100 100

Asheridge Communications Poland Sp z.o.o, Wroclaw, Poland 100 100

Asheridge Investments Ltd, Chesham, UK 100 100

Cableway Management GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100

Cableway AG, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100

Cableway Nord GmbH, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany 100 100

Cableway Süd GmbH & Co. KG , München, Germany 100 100

Dinh teleCom S.A., Herstaal, Belgium 100 100

Flomatik A/S, Porsgrun, Norway 100 100

Flomatik Network Services Ltd. Fareham, UK 100 100

Kaavisio oy, turku, Finland 100 100

Satlan S.p.zoo, Wroclaw, Poland 100 100

teleste Belgium SPRL, Brussels, Belgium 100 100

teleste d.o.o.,Ljutomer, Slovenia 100 100

teleste electronics (SIP) Co., Ltd, Shuzhou, China 100 100

teleste France SAS, Paris, France 100 100

teleste FZ LLC, Fujairah, UAe 100 100

teleste GmbH, Hildesheim, Germany 100 100

teleste India Ptv. Mumbai, India 100 100

teleste LLC, Georgetown texas, USA 100 100

teleste Networks Services S.A. Yverdon, Switzerland 100 100

teleste Services GmbH, Hildesheim, Germany 100 100

teleste Sweden AB, Stockholm, Sweden 100 100

teleste UK Ltd, Cambridge, UK 100 100

teleste Video Networks Sp z.o.o, Krakov, Poland 100 100

The key management personnel compensations

1,000 € 2013 2012

Ceo

Salaries and other short-term benefits 533 496

During 2013 no options were granted to the management of 
teleste (2012: 0 options). The terms of the management share 
option plans are similar to those of other employees’ share option 
plans, except for the terms of 2007 options. According to the 
2007 option terms the recipient has to subscribe teleste shares 
to the amount that equals his net annual salary. At 31 December 
2013 management did not have any options (2012: 80,000 

options of which 80,000 were exercisable). Management of the 
parent company has 0,59 % or 111,079 of the parent company’s 
shares (2012: 0,38% or 71,637 shares) Ceo holding in teleste 
Management II Ltd 31.25%.

A voluntary pension fee for Ceo amounted 49 thousand euro 
(47 thousand euro in 2012), which amount is not included in the 
paid salary and remuneration. 
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1,000 € 2013 2012

The key management personnel 
compensations

Marjo Miettinen, Chairman of the Board 41 44

Pertti ervi, Member of the Board 29 29

Jannica Fagerholm, Member of the Board 28 0

esa Harju, Member of the Board 29 28

tero Laaksonen, Member of the Board until 
3 April 2012 0 1

Pentti Raatikainen, Member of the Board 
until 12 April 2013 1 29

Kai telanne, Member of the Board 29 29

Petteri Walldén, Member of the Board 29 29

Jukka Rinnevaara, Ceo 533 496

total 719 685

The contractual age of retirement of Ceo of the parent company, 
Jukka Rinnevaara, is 60. As to the contract, his term of notice has 
been specified as six (6) months in case the President and Ceo 
decides to withdraw, and eighteen (18) months should the con-
tract be terminated by the company. A fixed remuneration for the 
Board is paid as shares of the company in accordance with the 
decision of the Annual General Meeting. Remuneration of Board 
Meetings are paid in cash.

No cash loans were granted to nor commitments assumed or 
collaterals given regarding Ceo or the members of the Board of 
Directors in 2013 and 2012

The Board of Directors of teleste decided 5 December 2011 
on a share issue against payment directed to teleste Manage-
ment II. In the share issue, a maximum total of 542,000 new 
shares in teleste will be offered for subscription by teleste Man-
agement II, in derogation from the shareholders’ pre-emptive sub-
scription rights. There are weighty financial reasons for the dero-
gation from the shareholders’ pre-emptive subscription rights as 
the shares to be issued in the share issue will be used for the 
implementation of the incentive and commitment plan of the 
members of the teleste Management Group. 

For the purpose of the share ownership, some of the mem-
bers of the Management Group have established a limited liability 
company named teleste Management II oy (“teleste Manage-
ment II”), whose entire capital stock they or corporations over 
which they exercise control own. Upon establishment of the Plan, 
the intention of teleste Management II is to acquire teleste 
shares for a maximum of eUR 1,600,000, in total. The share 
acquisition was financed by capital investments in teleste Man-
agement II by members of the Management Group, in the maxi-
mum total amount of eUR 320,000, as well as by a loan provided 
by teleste. Some of the members of the Management Group did 
finance their capital investments in teleste Management II by sell-
ing the teleste shares they currently hold. 

When the plan is implemented in full, the members of the 
Management Group will hold 2.88% of the teleste’s shares 
through teleste Management II.

27 SUBSeQUeNt eVeNtS  
The Group management is not aware of any significant events 
occurred after the balance sheet date, which would have had an 
impact on the financial statements.
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paReNt coMpaNY fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

iNcoMe stateMeNt of paReNt coMpaNY 1.1. – 31.12.2013

1,000 € Note 2013 2012

Net sales 1 63,807 67,254

Change in inventories of finished goods 856 -1,156

other operating income 2 2,244 3,780

Material and services 3 -29,414 -27,947

Personnel expenses 4 -20,285 -21,435

Depreciation and amortisation 5 -799 -587

other operating expenses -14,173 -15,967

operating profit 2,237 3,943

Financial income and expenses 6 6,148 5,369

profit before extraordinary items 8,385 9,312

 

extra ordinary items 7 0 -222

profit before taxes 8,385 9,089

 

Appropriations 8 143 -575

Direct taxes 9 -772 -1,691

profit for the financial period 7,757 6,823

 36   teLeste, eNabLiNg digitaL eVoLUtioN fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 2013   37 



baLaNce sheet 31.12.2013

1,000 € Note 2013 2012

Non-current assets

Intangible assets 10 2,053 24

Property, plant and equipment 10 5,282 5,471

Long-term receivables 11 30,013 27,552

Investments 12 24,572 23,372

61,920 56,420

current assets

Inventories 13 6,349 6,220

trade and other receivables 14 20,717 20,863

Cash and cash equivalents 15 3,761 5,463

30,827 32,546

total assets 92,747 88,966

shareholders' equity

Share capital 16 6,967 6,967

Share premium 16 1,504 1,504

Invested non-restricted equity 16 6,516 5,784

Retained earnings 16 32,138 28,435

Profit for the financial period 16 7,757 6,823

54,881 49,512

appropriations 8 843 986

provisions 17 1,249 949

Liabilities

Long-term liabilities 18 0 0

Short-term liabilities 19 35,774 37,519

35,774 37,519

total equity and liabilities 92,747 88,966
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paReNt coMpaNY fiNaNciaL stateMeNts

cash fLow stateMeNt

1,000 € 2013 2012

cash flow from operations

Profit before extraordinary items 8,385 9,312

Adjustments

Depreciations according plan 799 587

Financial income and expenses -6,148 -5,369

other items 300 -441

Cashflow before changes in working capital 3,336 4,089

Changes in working capital

Increase (-) /decrease (+) in trade and other receivables 146 1,721

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in inventories -129 823

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in trade payables -2,987 -440

Cashflow before financial items 366 6,193

Paid interest -479 -751

Dividends received 6,125 6,544

Income taxes paid -1,458 -1,572

cash flow from operations 4,554 10,414

investments

Payment of other tangible assets -436 -469

Investments in subsidiary shares -2,585 -828

Proceeds from sale of tangible and intangible assets 82 499

Loans granted -2,468 1,938

cash flow from investments -5,407 1,140

financing

Short-term liabilities 5,000 0

Long-term liabilities -3,000 -11,500

Paid dividends and other profit distribution -3,119 -2,569

Proceed from issue of new shares 270 0

Group contribution received and paid 0 -222

cash flows from financing activities -849 -14,291

change in liquid funds -1,702 -2,738

Liquid funds 1.1. 5,463 8,201

Liquid funds 31.12. 3,761 5,463
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ACCoUNtING pRiNcipLes

accoUNtiNg pRiNcipLes of teLeste coRpoRatioN
teleste Corporation is the parent company of the teleste Group. 
Business ID of teleste Corporation is 1102267-8 with registered 
office in turku. The company registered address is telestenkatu 1, 
20660 Littoinen.

foReigN cURReNcY tRaNsactioNs
transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of 
the accounting period, unsettled foreign currency balances are 
translated into the accounting currency at the closing rate on the 
balance sheet date. Foreign exchange gains and losses on trade 
accounts receivable and payable are adjusted to revenues and 
operating expenses, respectively. other foreign exchange gains 
and losses are recorded as financial income and expenses.

deRiVatiVes
The company has  currency forward exchange agreements. 
exchange agreements are designed to eliminate the effect of cur-
rency exposures on the company performance and financial 
standing. The interest swap agreements are taken for specicig 
long term floating interest loans to eliminate the interest risk.

our corporate hedging policy is to cover all material currency 
risks at least six months ahead. The effect on company perfor-
mance of the exchange rate agreements is recorded on their 
exercise day. 

VaLUatioN of fixed assets
The balance sheet values for fixed assets are stated as historical 
cost, less the accumulated depreciation and amortisation. Depre-
ciation and amortisation is calculated on straight-line basis over 
the expected useful lives of the assets. estimated useful lives for 
various assets are:
Intangible assets  3 years
Goodwill  8 years
other capitalised expenditure 3 years
Buildings 25 to 33 years
Machinery 3 to 5 years
Computers 0 to 3 years

Write-downs on permanent impairment of the assets are recorded 
when it becomes evident that the carrying amount is not recover-
able.

Companies acquired or established during the financial period 
are included in the subsidiary shares as of date of acquisition or 
formation. Companies disposed of in the financial period have 
been included in the subsidiary shares up to the date of disposal.

Long-term investments and receivables include financial 
assets, which are intended to be held for over one year. 

Leased assets
Purchases made under operating leases and capital leases are 
entered into income statement as renting expenses. 

iNVeNtoRies
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Acquisition cost is determined using the first-in-first-out (FIFo) 
method. In addition to variable expenditure, value of inventory 
includes their share of the fixed expenditure under purchases and 
manufacturing.

cash
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and in bank. 
Short-term investments include other funds equivalent to cash, 
such as commercial papers.

Net saLes
Net sales include revenue from services rendered and goods sold, 
adjusted for discounts granted, sales-related taxes and effects of 
the translation differences. Revenue is recognised when services 
are rendered, or when the goods are delivered to the customer. 

Percentage of completion method: sales and anticipated prof-
its under significant long-term engineering and construction con-
tracts are recorded on a percentage-of-completion basis, using 
units of delivery (based on predetermined milestones) or the cost-
to-cost method of accounting as the measurement basis. esti-
mated contract profits are recorded in earnings in proportion to 
recorded sales. In the cost-to-cost method, sales and profits are 
recorded after considering the ratio of accumulated costs to esti-
mated total costs to complete each contract. In the event that 
the company can be held as the main contractor of a long-term 
delivery contract, various product expenses, including raw materi-
als and labour costs, will be accounted for in the calculation of the 
completion percentage. Possible changes in the anticipated total 
expenses or loss related to a long-term delivery contract are 
expensed as incurred.

ReseaRch aNd deVeLopMeNt
R&D expenses are recorded as revenue expenditure. 

peNsioN aRRaNgeMeNts
The statutory pension liabilities of Finnish companies are funded 
through pension insurance.

iNcoMe taxes
Income tax includes tax on profit for the current financial period 
and the accrual adjustment for the preceding financial period.

tReasURY shaRes 
treasury shares acquired by the Group are not included in bal-
ance. As to this, final accounts for the year of comparison have 
been adjusted by eliminating the value of treasury shares from 
the company fixed assets and the equity. This adjustment is 
based on an amendment of the Finnish accounting legislation. 
Use of own shares are recognised in invested non-restricted 
equity since 3 April 2007.
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Notes to the paReNt coMpaNY

Year-end personnel 373 378

Average personnel 376 385

personnel by function at the year-end

Research and Development 101 103

Production and Material Management 215 218

Sales and marketing 30 30

Administration 27 27

total 373 378

5 DePReCIAtIoN ACCoRDING to PLAN

1,000 € 2013 2012

other capitalized expenditure -203 -188

Buildings -283 -278

Machinery and equipment -145 -113

Goodwill -160 0

other intangible rights -8 -8

total -799 -587

6 FINANCIAL INCoMe AND 
eXPeNSeS

Interest income -16 59

Interest income from Group companies 1,384 1,598

Interest expenses -329 -557

Interest expenses to Group companies -81 -113

Currency differences 75 0

other financial income and expenses 433 486

Dividend income from Group companies 4,680 3,895

Dividend income 2 2

total 6,148 5,369

7 eXtRAoRDINARY IteMS

Paid group contribution 0 -222

8 APPRoPRIAtIoNS AND DeFeRReD 
tAX ASSetS AND LIABILItIeS IN tHe 
PAReNt CoMPANY

change in accumulated depreciation 
difference

Buildings -11 -515

other capitalized expenditure 154 -60

total 143 -575

Accumulated depreciation in excess of plan 843 986

9  INCoMe tAXeS

Direct taxes -808 -1,331

taxes from previous years 36 -360

total -772 -1,691

1 Net SALeS 

1,000 € 2013 2012

Net sales by segments

Video and Broadband Solutions 62,638 66,330

Network Services 1,169 924

total 63,807 67,254

Net sales by market area

Finland 11,963 11,963

Nordic countries 9,615 7,503

other europe 35,011 35,577

others 7,218 12,212

total 63,807 67,254

2 otHeR oPeRAtING INCoMe

R&D subvention and others 2,244 3,780

total 2,244 3,780

3 MAteRIAL AND SeRVICeS

Purchases -28,092 -26,583

Change in inventories -727 333

-28,819 -26,250

Purchased services -595 -1,697

total -29,414 -27,947

4 PeRSoNNeL eXPeNSeS 

Wages and salaries -16,492 -17,427

Pension costs -2,886 -3,050

other personnel costs -907 -958

total -20,285 -21,435

Remuneration to Board members and 
Managing Directors

Marjo Miettinen, Chairman of the Board -41 -44

Pertti ervi, Member of the Board -29 -29

Jannica Fagerholm, Member of the Board -28 0

esa Harju, Member of the Board -29 -28

tero Laaksonen,  
Member of the Board until 3 April 2012 0 -1

Pentti Raatikainen,  
Member of the Board until 12 April 2013 -1 -29

Kai telanne, Member of the Board -29 -29

Petteri Walldén, Member of the Board -29 -29

Jukka Rinnevaara, Ceo -533 -496

total -719 -685

Cash loans, securities or contingent liabilities were not granted to the 
President or to the members of the Board of Directors.

Notes to the coNsoLidated iNcoMe stateMeNt aNd baLaNce sheet of paReNt coMpaNY  

31.12.2013
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10 tANGIBLe AND INtANGIBLe ASSetS

Intangible 
assets Goodwill total Buildings Machinery

other capi-
talized

expenditure total

Acquisition cost 1.1.                                      7,619 0 7,619 8,739 8,288 4,228 21,255

Increases 0 2,197 2,197 108 200 134 442

Acquisition cost 31.12. 7,619 2,197 9,816 8,847 8,488 4,362 21,697

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. -7,595 0 -7,595 -3,834 -8,035 -3,915 -15,784

Depreciation -8 -160 -168 -283 -145 -203 -631

Accumulated depreciation 31.12. -7,603 -160 -7,763 -4,117 -8,180 -4,118 -16,415

book value 31.12.2013 16 2,037 2,053 4,730 308 244 5,282

The increase in goodwill is a result of merging 
Suomen turvakamera to teleste oyj

Book value of machinery and equipment 
31.12.2013 308

Book value of machinery and equipment 
31.12.2012 245

11 LoNG teRM ReCeIVABLeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

Subordinated loan from group 
company 448 456

other long term receivables 29,565 27,097

total 30,013 27,552

12 INVeStMeNtS

Parent company

Shares in
group

companies
Shares 
others total

Acquisition cost 1.1. 26,359 714 27,073

Increases 3,550 0 3,550

acquisition cost 31.12. 29,909 714 30,623

Accumulated depreciation 1.1. -3,273 -428 -3,701

Disposals -2,351 0 -2,351

accumulated depreciation 
31.12. -5,624 -428 -6,052

book value 31.12.2013 24,285 286 24,572

13 INVeNtoRIeS

1,000 € 2013 2012

Raw materials and 
consumables 1,859 2,586

Work in progress 2,771 2,649

Finished goods 1,719 985

total 6,349 6,220

14 CURReNt ASSetS

Accounts receivables 7,889 8,779

Accounts receivables from 
Group companies 11,570 11,276

Avoir fiscal 0 85

Accrued income 1,258 723

total 20,717 20,863

15 LIQUID FUNDS 

cash and cash equivalents 3,761 5,463

16 CHANGeS IN SHAReHoLDeRS’ eQUItY

1,000 € 2013 2012

Share issue 6,967 6,967

Share capital 31.12. 6,967 6,967

Use of own shares 1,504 1,504

Share premium fund 31.12. 1,504 1,504

Purchases of own shares 5,784 5,784

Share issues 732 0

Invested non-restricted equity 31.12 6,516 5,784

Retained earnings 1.1. 35,258 30,993

Dividends -3,119 -2,569

Merger profit 0 12

Retained earnings 31.12. 32,138 28,435

Profit for the financial period 7,757 6,823

Accumulated profit 31.12. 39,895 35,258

total 54,881 49,512

Companys distributable equity 31.12. 46,411 41,041

Company’s registered share capital consists of one serie and is 
divided into 18,816,691 shares at 1 vote each.
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY

17 ObligatOry prOvisiOns

1,000 € 2013 2012

provision for pension commitments 1,249 949

18 lOng term liabilities

bank loan 0 0

19 shOrt term liabilities

bank loans 23,000 21,000

advance payments from group companies 0 0

accounts payables 2,912 2,881

accounts payables from group companies 680 1,557

Other current liabilities 523 1,193

Other current liabilities from group 
companies 2,927 4,679

accrued liabilities 5,722 6,152

Total 35,774 37,519

22 COmpanies Owned by the grOup and parent COmpany
group holding 

share %
parent company’s

share %

asheridge Communications espana s.l, alcobendas, spain 100  0

asheridge Communications ltd, Chesham, uK 100   0

asheridge Communications poland sp z.o.o, wroclaw, poland 100   0

asheridge investments ltd, Chesham, uK 100   0

Cableway management gmbh, bergisch gladbach, germany 100 0

Cableway ag, bergisch gladbach, germany 100   0

Cableway nord gmbh, bergisch gladbach, germany 100   0

Cableway süd gmbh & Co. Kg , münchen, germany 100   0

dinh teleCom s.a., herstal, belgium 100   1

Flomatik a/s, porsgrun, norway 100   100

Flomatik network services ltd., Fareham, uK 100   100

Kaavisio Oy, turku, Finland 100   100

satlan s.p.zoo,wroclaw, poland 100   100

teleste belgium sprl, brussels, belgium 100   100

teleste d.o.o., ljutomer, slovenia 100   100

teleste electronics (sip), shuzhou, China 100   100

teleste France sas, paris, France 100   100

teleste FZ llC, Fujairah, uae 100   100

teleste gmbh, hildesheim, germany 100   0

teleste india ptv., mumbai, india 100   100

teleste llC, georgetown texas, usa 100   100

teleste network services s.a., yverdon, switzerland 100   100

teleste services gmbh, hildesheim, germany 100   100

teleste sweden ab, stockholm, sweden 100   100

teleste uK ltd, Cambridge, uK 100   100

teleste video networks sp zoo , Krakov, poland 100   100

asheridge Communications limited (02704083) and asheridge investments limited (05418313) have taken advantage of the audit exemption 
provisions under section 479a of the Companies act 2006 in the uK relating to subsidiary companies.

20 COntingent liabilities and 
pledged assets

2013 2012

Leasing liabilities

For next year 782 654

For later years 870 1,074

For later years 1,652 1,728

Rental liabilities

less than one year 112 112

between one and five years 128 128

more than five years 1,269 1,305

1,509 1,545

Liabilities on own behalf

bank guarantees 0 0

guarantees given on behalf of subsidiaries 0 0

21 CurrenCy derivates

value of underlying forward contracts 7,198 4,117

market value of forward contracts -159 -74

interest rate swap 11,000 9,000

market value of interest rate swap -6 -22
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23 oWN SHAReS

Number 
of shares

Percentage of 
share capital and 

votes %

teleste oyj owns own shares 31.12.2013 266,654 1.42

24 SHAReS AND oWNeRS

Management interest

Number of shares
Percentage of 

share capital, %
Percentage of and 

votes, %

Ceo and Board Members 111,079 0.59 0.59

option programs

Number of shares entitled to subscribe with options

Number of shares

Percentage of 
shares and votes, 

%

Ceo 0 0.00

other option holders 242,000 1.25

2007 program warrants hold by the group 19,000 0.10

total 261,000 1.35

Audit expenses 2013 2012

Auditing assignments -41 -49

tax consultancy -43 -42

other assignments -43 -13
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Notes to the paReNt coMpaNY

25 SHAReS AND SHAReHoLDeRS

Major shareholders 31.12.2013 Number of shares %

eM Group oy 4,409,712 23.44

Mandatum Life Insurance Company Limited 1,679,200 8.92

Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 953,854 5.07

Kaleva Mutual Insurance Company 824,641 4.38

oP-Finland Small Firms Fund 630,712 3.35

teleste Management II oy 542,000 2.88

Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 521,150 2.77

The State Pension Fund 500,000 2.66

teleste Management oy 381,000 2.02

FIM Fenno equity fund 271,242 1.44

teleste oyj 266,654 1.42

Danske Fund Finnish Small Cap 250,000 1.33

total (12) 11,230,165 59.68

sector dispersion 31 december 2013 Shareholders % Shares %

Corporations 283 5.56 7,326,868 38.9

Financial and insurance institutions 13 0.26 3,418,717 18.2

Public sector institutions 4 0.08 2,000,004 10.6

Non-profit institutions 32 0.63 376,067 2.0

Households 4,716 92.71 4,730,405 25.1

Foreign and nominee registered owners 39 0.77 964,630 5.1

total 5,087 100.00 18,816,691 100.0

holding dispersion 31 december 2013 Shareholders % Shares %

1–100 1,116 21.9 76,028 0.4

101–500 2,192 43.1 602,910 3.2

501–1,000 787 15.5 649,796 3.5

1,001–5,000 802 15.8 1,781,323 9.5

5,001–10,000 91 1.8 650,230 3.5

10,001–50,000 72 1.4 1,420,206 7.5

50,001–100,000 5 0.1 461,558 2.5

100,001–500,000 15 0.3 3,613,371 19.2

500,001– 7 0.1 9,561,269 50.8

total 5,087 100.0 18,816,691 100.0

of which nominee registered   798,417 4.2
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pRoposaL foR the distRibUtioN of eaRNiNgs

The parent company’s distributable equity as of 31 December 2013 stood at eUR 46,410,554.44. 

As to the Annual General Meeting scheduled for 1 April 2014, the Board proposes that a dividend of eUR 0.19 (0.17) per share be paid 
for the outstanding shares for the year 2013.

signatories to the annual Report and financial statements

5 February 2014

Marjo Miettinen    Pertti ervi  Jannica Fagerholm
Chairperson of the Board  Member of the Board Member of the Board

esa Harju    Kai telanne   Petteri Walldén
Member of the Board  Member of the Board Member of the Board

Jukka Rinnevaara
Ceo

The auditor’s note
our auditors report has been issued today

5 February 2014 

KPMG oY AB

esa Kailiala
Authorised Public Accountant

PRoPoSAL FoR tHe 
DIStRIBUtIoN oF eARNINGS
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to the aNNUaL geNeRaL MeetiNg of teLeste 
coRpoRatioN
We have audited the accounting records, the financial state-
ments, the report of the Board of Directors, and the administra-
tion of teleste Corporation for the year ended 31 December 
2013. The financial statements comprise the consolidated state-
ment of financial position, income statement, statement of com-
prehensive income, statement of changes in equity and state-
ment of cash flows, and notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments, as well as the parent company’s balance sheet, income 
statement, cash flow statement and notes to the financial state-
ments. 

RespoNsibiLitY of the boaRd of diRectoRs aNd 
the pResideNt aNd ceo
The Board of Directors and the President and Ceo are responsi-
ble for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eU, as well as for 
the preparation of financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance 
with the laws and regulations governing the preparation of the 
financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors in 
Finland. The Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate 
arrangement of the control of the company’s accounts and 
finances, and the President and Ceo shall see to it that the 
accounts of the company are in compliance with the law and that 
its financial affairs have been arranged in a reliable manner. 

aUditoR’s RespoNsibiLitY
our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the 
report of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing 
Act requires that we comply with the requirements of profes-
sional ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good 
auditing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that 
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors are free from material misstatement, and 
whether the members of the Board of Directors of the parent 
company or the President and Ceo are guilty of an act or negli-
gence which may result in liability in damages towards the com-
pany or have violated the Limited Liability Companies Act or the 
articles of association of the company. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial 
statements and report of the Board of Directors that give a true 

AUDItoR’S RePoRt

and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appro-
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. 
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presenta-
tion of the financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

opiNioN oN the coNsoLidated fiNaNciaL 
stateMeNts
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eU. 

opiNioN oN the coMpaNY’s fiNaNciaL stateMeNts 
aNd the RepoRt of the boaRd of diRectoRs
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the 
Board of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consoli-
dated and the parent company’s financial performance and finan-
cial position in accordance with the laws and regulations govern-
ing the preparation of the financial statements and the report of 
the Board of Directors in Finland. The information in the report of 
the Board of Directors is consistent with the information in the 
financial statements. 

Helsinki, 5 February 2014
KPMG oY AB

esa Kailiala
Authorized Public Accountant
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This Corporate Governance Statement report has been drawn up 
on the basis of Chapter 7 Section 7 of the Securities Markets Act 
and of the recommendation 54 specified in the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code 2010 available in the Securities Market Asso-
ciation website at www.cgfinland.fi. The Corporate Governance 
Statement will be issued separate from the Board of Directors’ 
report, and the provided data is based on situation dated on 
December 31, 2013. 

coRpoRate goVeRNaNce
teleste Corporation aims at organizing its management in a con-
sistent and functional manner. The governance is based on the 
Finnish Companies Act and teleste Corporation’s Articles of Asso-
ciation. teleste shares are listed on the NASDAQ oMX Helsinki 
oy (hereafter Stock exchange). The company abides by the Secu-
rities Markets Act, rules and regulations for the listed companies 
issued by the Stock exchange, including the Finnish Corporate 
Governance Code, and rules and regulations issued by the Finan-
cial Supervisory Authority. Since 1 March 2000, teleste complies 
with the insider guidelines issued by the Board of Directors of the 
Stock exchange in their valid form at any given time. These insider 
guidelines are complemented by teleste’s internal guidelines. The 
company has confirmed the set of applied values.

geNeRaL MeetiNg
The General Meeting of teleste Corporation is the highest deci-
sion-making body of the company. It is held at least once a year 
by the end of June as specified in the Articles of Association. The 
Annual General Meeting (hereafter AGM) is held in Helsinki in the 
customary manner. 

The General Meeting decides matters specified for it to decide  
in the Finnish Companies Act. Issues decided by the AGM include 
approval of the financial statement, allocation of profit shown in 
the balance sheet, discharge from liability of the Board of Direc-
tors and the Ceo, and the election of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the auditor. Responsibilities of the General Meet-
ing also include e.g. making amendments to the Articles of Asso-
ciation, decision-making concerning share issues, granting of enti-
tlements to options and other special rights, procurement and 
redeeming of company’s own shares and reduction of share capi-
tal. teleste Corporation’s General Meeting shall be convened by 
the Board of Directors.

boaRd of diRectoRs
Rules of procedure
It is the function of teleste Corporation’s Board of Directors to 
manage the company in accordance with the law, statutory regu-
lations, Articles of Association and decisions taken by the General 
Meeting. The operating procedures and main duties of the Board 
of Directors have been specified in the Board’s Rules of Proce-
dure. The Board shall resolve any matters of great importance in 

CoRPoRAte GoVeRNANCe   
stateMeNt 2013

terms of scope and magnitude to the Group’s operation. The 
Board oversees and assesses the operation of the Ceo and the 
Management Group. The Board decides on the criteria of the 
company’s compensation system and makes decisions on any 
other far-reaching issues related to personnel. 

In line with the view adopted by the Board of teleste Corpora-
tion, the proceedings of the Board will be carried out in an opti-
mum way without formation of separate committees but by 
involving the entire Board in the so-called committee proceed-
ings. The Board is also carrying out the duties of the Audit Com-
mittee.

The Board shall conduct an annual evaluation of its perfor-
mance and working methods. The Board of teleste Corporation 
has laid down rules of procedure according to which the essential 
duties of the Board include the following:
•	 Provision for the company business strategy and its revision 

at regular intervals,
•	 Approval of annual budgets and supervision of their imple-

mentation,
•	 Decisions concerning major investments and divestments,
•	 Handling and approval of annual financial statements and 

interim reports,
•	 Appointment of the Ceo and discharging him from his duties 

and specification of his responsibilities and conditions of 
work,

•	 Decisions concerning incentive and bonus systems involving 
management as well as personnel and presentation of any 
related proposals to the AGM as required,

•	 Annual revision of any essential risks related to the company 
operation and management thereof,

•	 Laying down the company values and policies.

election and term of office of the board of directors  
According to the Articles of Association, the Board consisting of a 
minimum of three and a maximum of eight members will be 
elected annually at the Annual General Meeting. Members shall 
hold office until the end of the next Annual General Meeting. The 
Board shall elect Chairman of the Board from amongst its mem-
bers. 

In its meeting held on April 12, 2013, the AGM elected the six 
persons specified below to the Board of Directors of teleste Cor-
poration. Marjo Miettinen was elected Chairperson by the mem-
bers of the Board. 

 
•	 Marjo Miettinen, Chairperson, b. 1957, M.Sc. (ed.), eM Group 

oy, Ceo, Board Member since 2009
•	 Pertti ervi, Member of the Board, b. 1957, B.Sc. (eng.), 

Independent Consultant, Board Member since 2009
•	 Jannica Fagerholm, Member of the Board, b. 1961, M.Sc. 

(econ.), Signe and Ane Gyllenberg Foundation, Managing 
Director, Board Member since 2013
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coRpoRate goVeRNaNce 

•	 esa Harju, Member of the Board, b. 1967, M.Sc. (eng.), 
Ixonos Plc, President and Ceo, Board Member since 2012

•	 Kai telanne, Member of the Board, b. 1964, M.Sc. (econ.), 
Alma Media Corporation, Ceo, Board Member since 2008

•	 Petteri Walldén, Member of the Board, b. 1948, M.Sc. (eng.), 
Board Member since 2009

The Members of the Board are not employed by the company, 
and are in line with the issued Finnish recommendations inde-
pendent of the company and any significant shareholders of it 
with the exception of Chairperson Marjo Miettinen, who is the 
Ceo of eM Group oy, a significant shareholder. 

In 2013, the Board of Directors of teleste Corporation had 9 
meetings. The attendance of the Directors at the Board meetings 
was 98%. In addition to the Members of the Board the meetings 
were attended by the Ceo, the Deputy Ceo and concerning 
interim reports also the CFo and persons invited separately as 
required.

Remuneration for the Members of the board
The remuneration of the Members of the Board of Directors is 
decided on by the Annual General Meeting. on April 12, 2013, the 
AGM decided that the Chairman of the Board be paid until the 
next AGM eUR 40 000 per year and each Member eUR 28 000 
per year. Remuneration for the Members of the Board will be paid 
so that 40% of the specified annual amount will be used to pur-
chase teleste’s shares or alternatively the shares may be con-
veyed by using the own shares held by the company, and the rest 
will be paid in cash. 

Salaries, remuneration and other benefits paid in 2013 to the 
Board of Directors were as follows:
•	 Marjo Miettinen, eUR 41 000 including 3 912 teleste shares
•	 Pertti ervi, eUR 29 000 including 2 739 teleste shares
•	 Jannica Fagerholm, eUR 28 000 including 2 739 teleste 

shares
•	 esa Harju, eUR 29 000 including 2 739 teleste shares
•	 Pertti Raatikainen, eUR 1 000 including 0 teleste shares
•	 Kai telanne, eUR 29 000 including 2 739 teleste shares
•	 Petteri Walldén, eUR 28 500 including 2 739 teleste shares

pResideNt aNd ceo
The company’s Ceo is in charge of the Group’s business opera-
tions and corporate governance in line with the law, teleste Cor-
poration’s Articles of Association as well as instructions and regu-
lations issued by the Board. 

Detailed terms of employment of the Ceo are specified in a 
separate contract subject to the Board approval. Ceo is not a 
member of teleste’s Board of Directors. The current President 
and Ceo of teleste, Jukka Rinnevaara, b. 1961, M.Sc. (econ.), 
assumed his present responsibilities on November 1, 2002. The 
Ceo is assisted by the Corporate Management Group.

The company Board of Directors decides on the salary, remu-
neration and other benefits received by the Ceo. Salary, remu-
neration and other fringe benefits paid in 2013 to the Ceo of 
teleste Corporation totaled eUR 488 632,20. In addition, there 
were share based benefits in the financial year in the amount of 
44 100,00 eUR and an additional pension payment of 48 645,85 
eUR.

The contractual age of retirement of Ceo Jukka Rinnevaara is 
60. Charges resulting from additional voluntary pension scheme 

are included in the post-employment benefits. Pension liability of 
eUR 70 000 related to this additional pension plan is included in 
teleste Corporation’s balance sheet. 

As to the contract of Ceo Rinnevaara, his term of notice has 
been specified as six (6) months in case the Ceo decides to with-
draw. Upon termination of contract of the Ceo by the company, 
the Ceo will be paid a compensation corresponding to eighteen 
(18) months without benefits.

MaNageMeNt gRoUp  
The teleste Corporation Management Group is chaired by the 
Ceo who reports to the Board of Directors. on December 31, 
2013, the Group’s Management Group consisted of nine mem-
bers including Ceo, to whom the Management Group members 
report. Members of the Management Group are the directors of 
teleste’s business areas and the Group Management. Subsidiar-
ies are operating as parts of the business areas. 

The Management Group handles the main issues that concern 
managing the company, such as issues related to strategy, 
budget, interim reports and acquisitions, and prepares invest-
ments for approval by the Board of Directors. The Management 
Group meets, as a rule, once a month and at other times, when 
necessary. 

Decisions concerning incentive and remuneration systems for 
the management are made by the Board of Directors based on 
proposal made by the Ceo. 

Salary for all members of the Management Group consists of 
a fixed basic salary and a results-based bonus. The amount of 
results-based bonus is determined by the company performance, 
the business area in question and other key operative objectives.

The Management Group including the Ceo have a group pen-
sion plan in which the members’ retirement age is 60 years. The 
planned amount of pension is 60% of the regular annual earnings 
paid in the four years preceding the occurrence of retirement. In 
this calculation, pensions to be paid in line with the employees’ 
Pensions Act (tyeL) will be taken into account.

iNceNtiVe scheMes aNd owNeRship bY the 
MaNageMeNt

shaRe owNeRship aNd optioNs of the 
MaNageMeNt gRoUp
on December 31, 2013, teleste Corporation’s Ceo owned 
44 436 teleste Corporation’s shares. other members of the Man-
agement Group owned 23 242 teleste Corporation’s shares.

on 31 December, 2013, teleste had one stock option pro-
gram running “Stock options 2007”. This stock option plan was 
issued by decision made by the AGM in 2007. 

on 31 December, 2013, Ceo did not have any teleste 2007 
options. on 31 December, 2013, members of teleste Corpora-
tion’s Management Group did not hold any teleste 2007 options. 

For details related to option specifics see teleste’s Annual 
Report 2013, Notes section: Share-based payments. For hold-
ings and stock options held by the Ceo and the Management 
Group, see Notes section: Related party transactions.
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teLeste MaNageMeNt ii oY
on 5 December, 2011, teleste Corporation’s Board of Directors 
decided on two new share-based incentive schemes for the mem-
bers of the Management Group and for the key personnel. The 
new systems are designed to unify the objectives of the owners, 
members of the Management Group, and the key personnel to 
increase the company’s value, as well as to commit the members 
of the Management Group and the key employees by encourag-
ing them to acquire and hold shares of the company and to offer 
them competitive compensation systems based on the long-term 
ownership of the company’s shares. For such shareholding, some 
members of the Management Group established a company by 
the name of teleste Management II oy, the entire share capital of 
which they or their controlled corporations own. 

This system is valid until the summer of 2015, when the sys-
tem is intended to be dissolved in a manner decided later. trans-
fer of shares owned by teleste Management II oy is restricted 
during the system’s period of validity. Holdings in teleste Man-
agement II oy by the members of the Management Group will be, 
as a rule, valid until the dissolution. 

on 31 December, 2013, teleste Management II oy was in 
possession of 542 000 teleste Corporation’s shares. Ceo’s hold-
ing in the teleste Management II oy shares stands at 31.25% 
while the ownership by other members equals 68.75%. 

teLeste MaNageMeNt oY 
In March 2010, the Board of Directors of teleste Corporation 
decided on a new incentive plan directed to the members of the 
teleste Management Group. The purpose of the plan was to com-
mit the members of the Management Group to teleste Corpora-
tion by encouraging them to acquire and hold teleste’s shares 
and, this way, to increase teleste’s shareholder value in the long 
run. For such ownership of shares, the members of the Manage-
ment Group established a company under the name of teleste 
Management oy. on May 7, 2013, the shareholders of teleste 
Management oy and teleste Corporation agreed on a share swap 
where the management´s ownership became a direct ownership 
in teleste Corporation. 

aUditiNg, ReVisioNs, aNd aUdit expeNses
The term of office of teleste Corporation auditor expires at the 
closing of the first Annual General Meeting following the election. 
on April 12, 2013, teleste AGM selected Authorized Public 
Accountants KPMG oy Ab for the company auditor. The compa-
ny’s Chief Auditor is esa Kailiala, KHt auditor (authorised public 
accountant). In addition to their statutory duties the auditors 
report to the teleste Corporation Board of Directors and attend 
the Board meeting at least once a year. 

In 2013, teleste Group’s auditing expenses totaled eUR   
204 000 in which the share of KPMG was eUR 140 000. Moreo-
ver, auditing units of KPMG have supplied teleste Group compa-
nies with other consultation worth total eUR 90 000 and other 
than KPMG auditors for eUR 43 000.

iNsideRs
Since 1 March 2000, teleste complies with the insider guidelines 
issued by the Board of Directors of NASDAQ oMX Helsinki oy in 
their valid form at any given time. These insider guidelines are 
complemented by teleste’s internal guidelines.

Membership in teleste’s permanent public insider circle is 
based on position. Thus, the group consists of Members of the 
Board of Directors, Ceo and the auditors. Furthermore, the 
extended permanent public insider register includes members of 
the Management Group and the Ceo’s assistant. teleste has also 
permanent company-specific insiders. 

Moreover, insider rules and regulations include provisions 
concerning temporary commercial activities. Project-specific 
insider register includes personnel who, based on their position, 
have access to company’s project-specific information, which 
upon publication may affect the value formation of the company’s 
share. The Ceo will assess, on a case-by-case basis, whether an 
issue or arrangement under preparation will be defined as a 
project. 

It is recommendable for an insider to time any intended 
trading involving company shares and derivatives in such a 
manner that optimum information affecting the value of the 
shares is available in the market at the time. The permanent 
members of teleste’s insider register are obliged by the so-called 
Silent Period during which trading on company shares is banned 
completely for 14 days preceding publication of interim reports 
and the financial statements. During the specified period teleste 
will not engage in any meetings with investors or analysts and no 
teleste Group representative is allowed to comment upon 
company results. 

The company insider administration is included in the SIRe 
system of euroclear Finland oy.

iNteRNaL sUpeRVisioN, Risk MaNageMeNt aNd 
iNteRNaL aUditiNg  

iNteRNaL sUpeRVisioN
teleste’s internal supervision is designed to support the imple-
mentation of the strategy and to ensure the achievement of the 
specified goals, compliance with the regulations as well as reliabil-
ity and correctness of the conducted financial reporting. Internal 
supervision is based on teleste’s values and corporate culture as 
well as on mutually supporting structures and processes within 
the Group and operational levels. Management of the Group and 
the business units monitor the internal supervision as part of 
their normal managerial duties while the Board evaluates and 
ensures its correctness and efficiency. Supported by teleste’s 
centralised controller function, management of the relevant busi-
ness area in both of our business areas answers for the compli-
ance with the internal supervision principles on every level of the 
area in question.
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Risk MaNageMeNt
Group risk policy with the relevant principles and objectives are 
subject to approval by the teleste Board of Directors. Risk man-
agement is based on the specified strategic and business objec-
tives of the teleste Group. Risk management aims to ensure 
achievement of operational goals so that essential risks affecting 
the business operation and posing a threat to its objectives are 
identified and these will be monitored and evaluated at all times. 
The risk management methods are specified and the implementa-
tion of risk prevention is attempted through the same. Moreover, 
any risks that for economic or other reasons are reasonable to 
insure, are aimed to be covered by insurance. In risk management, 
the regular evaluation of most significant risks and exercising con-
trol thereof in a cost-effective manner are emphasized. Risk man-
agement supports the business activity and generates added 
value, assisting decision-making and goal-setting for the manage-
ment in charge of business. A part of the risk management sys-
tem is monthly reporting by which the development of the orders 
received, turnover, order backlog, deliveries, trade receivables and 
cash flow is monitored and, through the same, the profit develop-
ment of the entire teleste Group.  

teleste’s risk management system covers, for instance, the fol-
lowing classes of risk:
•	 strategic risks
•	 operational risks
•	 economic risks
•	 interest groups risks
•	 personnel risks
•	 property and business interruption risks

iNteRNaL aUditiNg
Internal auditing unit is in charge of the internal auditing of te-
leste Corporation and its subsidiaries. The results are reported to 
the appointed Member of the Board. The internal auditing evalu-
ates business operations, any related processes, their involved 
risks and efficiency of the conducted supervision, and makes sug-
gestions for their developmental measures. These activities are 
performed in cooperation with the company’s controllers and 
other relevant bodies as needed. Furthermore, the internal audit-
ing carries out any special assignments issued by the Manage-
ment. The internal auditing covers all levels of the organisation. 
Internal auditing is reported to the teleste Corporation Board of 
Directors twice a year. external auditor participates in the selec-
tion of the priorities for the internal auditing and assessment of 
results.

keY featURes of the iNteRNaL aUditiNg aNd Risk 
MaNageMeNt sYsteMs ReLated to the fiNaNciaL 
RepoRtiNg pRocess
Internal supervision and risk management involved in the financial 
reporting process are based on the general principles of internal 
supervision and risk management described above. CFo answers 
for the systems involved in the internal supervision and risk man-
agement related to the financial reporting process.  

Internal supervision related to the financial reporting process 
has been created by describing the reporting process, surveying 
its relevant risks and by defining the control points on the basis of 
the conducted risk assessment. Results from the risk and control 
assessment have been reported to the Board. The entire report-
ing process from the accounting by the subsidiaries to monthly, 
quarterly and annual reporting is covered by these controls. There 
are inbuilt controls in the reporting systems, or they can involve, 
for instance, matching, inspections conducted by the Manage-
ment or specified procedures or policies. CFo is responsible for 
each control to have a separately defined person in charge who 
answers for the implementation and efficiency of the control in 
question. Standards for the financial reporting are specified in the 
Group Accounting Manual. Financial reports due for publishing will 
be processed by the Management Group and the Board prior to 
their publication. Correctness of the external annual financial 
reporting is verified by the external auditor.
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keY figURes 2009–2013

IFRS 2013 IFRS 2012 IFRS 2011 IFRS 2010 IFRS 2009

profit and loss account, balance sheet

Net sales, Meur 192.8 193.9 183.6 167.8 141.7

Change % -0.6 5.6 8.6 18.5 30.3

Sales outside Finland, % 93.2 93.4 94.1 93.3 91.8

operating profit, Meur 11.0 10.9 9.4 7.4 2.5

% of net sales 5.7 5.6 5.1 4.4 1.8

Profit after financial items, Meur 10.7 10.1 8.8 6.7 1.4

% of net sales 5.5 5.2 4.8 4.0 1.0

Profit before taxes, Meur 10.7 10.1 8.8 6.7 1.4

% of net sales 5.5 5.2 4.8 4.0 1.0

Profit for the financial period, Meur 8.1 6.7 6.3 4.8 0.4

 % of net sales 4.2 3.5 3.4 2.9 0.3

R&D expenditure, Meur 10.0 11.2 11.6 10.3 10.8

% of net sales 5.2 5.8 6.3 6.1 7.6

Gross investments, Meur 6.3 3.3 5.2 3.8 25.2

% of net sales 3.3 1.7 2.9 2.2 17.8

Interest bearing liabilities, Meur 24.3 22.1 33.2 28.1 22.8

Shareholder's equity, Meur 65.6 60.6 55.3 50.4 46.7

total assets, Meur 124.3 120.2 133.2 116.2 110.1

personnel and orders

Average personnel 1,306 1,326 1,297 1,215 1,103

order backlog at year end, Meur 13.1 17.0 21.2 17.0 33.1

orders received, Meur 188.9 189.7 188.1 167.2 151.0

key metrics

Return on equity, % 12.9 11.6 11.9 9.9 0.9

Return on capital employed, % 13.0 13.0 11.5 10.2 3.3

equity ratio, % 52.7 50.5 41.6 43.6 43.6

Gearing, % 13.8 13.7 32.2 25.5 22.0

earnings per share, euro 0.47 0.38 0.36 0.27 0.02

earnings per share fully diluted, euro 0.46 0.38 0.36 0.27 0.02

Shareholders equity per share, euro 3.73 3.48 3.17 2.90 2.68

teleste share

Highest price, euro 4.47 4.44 4.82 5.33 4.30

Lowest price, euro 3.78 3.04 2.50 3.64 2.25

Closing price, euro 4.25 4.17 3.00 4.41 3.72

Average price, euro 4.17 3.98 3.64 4.49 3.62

Price per earnings 9.1 10.8 8.3 16.3 154.1

Market capitalization, Meur 79.6 78.1 56.2 80.2 66.2

Stock turnover, Meur 9.2 10.8 6.2 14.2 28.5

turnover, number in millions 2.2 2.7 1.7 3.2 7.8

turnover, % of capital stock 11.7 14.4 9.1 17.4 44.0

Average number of shares 18,743,507 18,728,590 18,189,560 18,093,689 17,805,590

Number of shares at the year-end 18,816,691 18,728,590 18,728,590 18,186,590 17,805,590

Average number of shares, diluted w/o own shares 17,513,799 17,688,527 17,425,605 17,693,605 17,229,154

Number of shares at the year-end, diluted w/o own shares 17,838,599 17,709,672 17,425,605 17,693,605 17,425,605

Paid dividend, Meur       *3.3 3.0 2.4 2.1 1.4

Dividend per share, euro *0.19 0.17 0.14 0.12 0 08

Dividend per net result, % 40.8 44.5 38.9 43.7 331.3

effective dividend yield, % 4.5 4.1 4.7 2.7 2.2

* The Board’s proposal to the AGM
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keY figURes

CALCULAtIoN oF KeY FIGUReS
 

Return on equity Profit/loss for the financial period
x 100

Shareholders’ equity (average)

 

Return on capital employed: Profit/loss for the period after financial items + financing charges
x 100

total assets – non-interest-bearing liabilities (average during the financial year)

 

equity ratio: Shareholders’ equity
x 100

total assets – advances received

 

Gearing Interest bearing liabilities – cash in hand and in bank – interest bearing assets
x 100

Shareholders’ equity

 

earnings per share: Profit for the period attributable to equity holder of the parent

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period

 

earnings per share, diluted: Profit for the period attributable to equity holder of the parent (diluted)

Average number of shares – own shares + number of options at the period-end

 

equity per share: Shareholders’ equity  

Number of shares – number of own shares at year-end

 

Price per earnings (P/e): Share price at year-end

earnings per share

 

effective dividend yield: Dividend per share

Share price at year-end
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iNVestoR ReLatioNs
Ceo, Mr. Jukka Rinnevaara is in charge of investor relations. In 
addition to the Ceo, the top management of the company is com-
mitted to serving various participants of the capital market.

obJectiVes aNd pRiNcipLes
our communication aims at providing all the market participants 
with equally correct and relevant information, which supports the 
value formation of the company share. The principles guiding  
teleste’s disclosure policy include up-to-dateness, truthfulness 
and simultaneity. Cornerstones of our regular financial communi-
cations also include coherence of the released information and 
continuity. For all meetings, any specified information involving 
corporate strategy and development is based on previously pub-
lished data.

teleste has formulated a Disclosure Policy, approved by the 
Board of Directors, which defines the principles and procedures 
by which teleste communicates with the capital market.

coNtact iNfoRMatioN
Jukka Rinnevaara, Ceo 
Phone +358 2 2605 611

tiina Vuorinen, Investor Relations and Press office 
Phone +358 2 2605 611, fax +358 2 2605 812
email: investor.relations@teleste.com

shaRe basics
teleste Corporation is listed on the NASDAQ oMX Helsinki oy in 
the technology sector. In 2013, the company was included in the 
small cap segment. The company shares are included in the book-
entry securities system.

facts about the share:
Listed on ................................................................................ 30.3.1999
ISIN code ...................................................................... FI0009007728
trading code .................................................................................. tLt1V
Reuter’s ticker symbol ........................................................... tLt1VHe
Bloomberg ticker symbol ...................................................... tLt1V FH
12 months high ............................................................................... 4.47
12 months low ................................................................................ 3.78
All-time high (7.9.2000) ...............................................................39.00
All-time low (12.12.2008) ............................................................. 1.90

fiNaNciaL iNfoRMatioN
Annually, teleste releases the Financial Statement bulletin, 
Annual Report and three Interim Reports. teleste meets inves-
tors, analysts and representatives of the media in news confer-
ences set up in connection with releases of financial reports.

teleste exercises a Silent Period of two weeks preceding pub-
lication of financial statements and interim reports. During these 
periods teleste will not participate in any meetings with investors 
or analysts and Group representatives are not allowed to com-
ment upon company results.

financial Releases in 2014:
Interim Report, January–March ......................................... 24.4.2014
Interim Report, January–June ...............................................7.8.2014
Interim Report, January–September ..............................30.10.2014
Financial Statement Release ................................................5.2.2015

These publications including the stock exchange releases are 
available in Finnish and english at the company website.

Moreover, you can use the online news release service on the 
website to subscribe to the company’s stock exchange releases 
and have them sent directly to your e-mail.

chaNges iN shaRehoLdeRs’ coNtact iNfoRMatioN
The shareholder register is maintained by euroclear Finland oy. 
Shareholders are kindly requested to inform the custodian of their 
book-entry account of any changes in contact details.

In the event euroclear Finland oy acts as the account operator, 
any changes should be notified to the address:
euroclear Finland oy
PL 1110
00101Helsinki
Street address: Urho Kekkosen katu 5c
Phone: +358 20 7706000
email: info.finland@euroclear.eu

SHAReS AND  
shaRehoLdeRs 
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shaRes aNd shaRehoLdeRs 2013

aNNUaL geNeRaL MeetiNg
teleste Corporation’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) will be held 
on tuesday, 1 April 2014, commencing at 3 p.m., in Helsinki Hall 
at Finlandia Hall in Helsinki, Mannerheimintie13 e. Registration 
and distribution of voting tickets begins at 2 p.m.

Right to paRticipate aNd RegistRatioN
Shareholders registered on the list of shareholders with euroclear 
Finland oy on Thursday, 20 March 2014 are entitled to participate 
in the Annual General Meeting. A shareholder whose shares have 
been registered on his/her personal Finnish book-entry securities 
account has been entered into the list of company shareholders. 
Shareholders wishing to attend the Annual General Meeting must 
sign up with the company no later than by 10:00 a.m. on tuesday, 
25 March 2014.

sigN Up to the agM bY oNe of the foLLowiNg:
•	 by email at investor.relations@teleste.com,
•	 by telephone +358 2 2605 611 Monday–Friday between 

09:00–16:00 eet;
•	 by telefax +358 2 2605 812; or
•	 by regular mail to the address teleste Corporation,  

tiina Vuorinen, P.o. Box 323, FI-20101 turku, Finland.
The registration notice must be delivered before the deadline 
stated above. Please specify your name, person ID, address, tel-
ephone number and the name and person ID of assistant or rep-
resentative, if any. Personal information provided by the share-
holder to teleste Corporation will be used only for the AGM and 
the related necessary registration purposes.

Use of RepReseNtatiVe aNd pRoxies
A shareholder is entitled to attend the AGM and exercise his/her 
rights at it through a representative. The appointed representa-
tive of this shareholder must produce a dated proxy, or by other 
reliable means confirm his/her authorization for the representa-
tion of the shareholder. Should a shareholder participate in the 
meeting by means of several authorized representatives repre-
senting the shareholder with shares in different book-entry 
accounts, the shares by which each authorized representative 
represents the shareholder shall be identified in connection with 
the registration.

Possible powers of attorney should be delivered in originals to 
the address teleste Corporation, tiina Vuorinen, P.o. Box 323, 
FI-20101 turku, Finland by by tuesday 25 March at 16:00 a.m. at 
the latest.

hoLdeR of NoMiNee-RegisteRed shaRes
The owner of nominee-registered shares is entitled to attend the 
meeting by virtue of the shares pursuant to which he would be 
entitled to be registered with euroclear Finland oy’s shareholder 
register on 20 March 2014. Participation also requires that the 
shareholder of the relevant shares has been entered temporarily 
in the shareholder register maintained by euroclear Finland oy no 
later than 27 March 2014 at 10:00 a.m. For nominee registered 
shares, this shall be deemed as registration for the meeting.

A holder of nominee-registered shares is advised to request 
the necessary instructions regarding temporary registration in the 
company’s shareholder register, the issuing of proxy documents 
and registration for the General Meeting from his/her custodian 
bank well in advance. The account management organization of 
the custodian bank must have the holder of a nominee-registered 
share who wishes to participate in the AGM to be temporarily 
entered in the shareholder register no later than the deadline 
specified above.

otheR iNfoRMatioN
Shareholders attending the AGM are entitled, as specified under 
the Companies Act section 5 paragraph 25, to put forth questions 
regarding issues dealt with in the Meeting.  

diVideNd poLicY
teleste wishes to be an attractive investee corporation in which 
the investment’s increase in value and the dividend yield form a 
competitive combination. The annual proposal for the dividend is 
validated by the Board in consideration of profitability, financial 
situation and needs for investment necessitated by profitable 
growth.

pRoposaL foR distRibUtioN of diVideNd 2013
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting 
that, based on the adopted balance sheet, a dividend of eUR 0.19 
per share be paid for shares other than those in company posses-
sion for the fiscal year that ended on 31 December 2013. The 
dividend will be paid to shareholders who on the record date,  
4 April 2014, have been entered in the Company’s Shareholder 
List, which is kept by euroclear Finland oy. This dividend will be 
paid on 11 April 2014.

paYMeNt of diVideNd iN 2014
Annual General Meeting ....................................................... 1.4.2014
Dividend ex date .................................................................... 2.4.2014
Dividend record date ............................................................. 4.4.2014
Payment of dividend ...........................................................11.4.2014

1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
0.10 0.12 0.16 0.08 0.08 0.12 0.16 0.20 0.24  0.12 0.08 0.12 0.14 0.17 0.19*

* Proposal by the Board

For proposals by the Board for the General Meeting and other 
additional information about the AGM is available at teleste’s 
website: www.teleste.com/Annual General Meeting.

Minutes of the Annual General Meeting will be available at 
teleste’s website no later than 15 April 2014.
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KeY FIGUReS PeR SHARe
2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

earnings per share, euro 0.47 0.38 0.36 0.27 0.02

earnings per share fully diluted, euro 0.46 0.38 0.36 0.27 0.02

Shareholders equity per share, euro 3.73 3.48 3.17 2.90 2.68

Paid dividend, Meur 3.3* 3.0  2.4 2.1 1.4

Dividend per share, euro 0.19* 0.17  0.14 0.12 0.08

Dividend per net result, % 40.8 44.5 38.9 43.7 331.3 

effective dividend yield, % 4.5 4.1 4.7 2.7 2.2 

Closing price, euro 4.25 4.17 3.00 4.41 3.72

Price per earnings 9.1 10.8 8.3 16.3 154.1

Market capitalization, Meur 79.6 78.1 56.2 80.2 66.2

Stock turnover, Meur 9.2 10.8 6.2 14.2 28.5

turnover, number in millions 2.2 2.7 1.7 3.2 7.8

turnover, % of capital stock 11.7 14.4 9.1 17.4 44.0 

Average number of shares 18,743,507 18,728,590 18,189,560 18,093,689 17,805,590

Number of shares at the year-end 18,816,691 18,728,590 18,728,590 18,186,590 17,805,590

* The Board’s proposal to the AGM
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TelesTe cOrPOrATION
Postal address
P.o. Box 323, FI-20101 Turku, Finland
Visiting address Telestenkatu 1, 20660 Littoinen
Telephone (switchboard) +358 2 2605 611
Telefax +358 2 2605 812
www.teleste.com
Business ID 1102267-8
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